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Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited 
(“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”)  
is pleased to present its 2018 
integrated annual report.  

MATERIALITY PROCESS
The information in this report has been selected to 
provide stakeholders with an overview of our business 
model, performance, governance practices, our 
strategy, as well as our risks and opportunities. 
The selection of issues to be covered in this report 
was determined based on whether the issue could 
substantially affect our ability to create value. It was 
informed by inputs from our stakeholders, including 
capital providers and regulators, and was further 
refined through engagement with the executive 
management and the board of directors of 
Atlantic Leaf (“the Board”).

SCOPE AND BOUNDARY
The report covers all the operations of Atlantic Leaf. 
There has been no change in the scope and boundary 
of this report relative to the 2017 report. Readers 
should note that there have been changes in the size, 
structure and shareholder base of the Company during 
the current reporting period. These changes are due  
to ongoing capital raises and property acquisitions 
during the year, which are discussed in more detail  
throughout this report.

There has been no material restatement of information 
provided in earlier reports. The information in this 
report has been selected to cater for the interests  
of stakeholders who require a broad overview of 
Atlantic Leaf, but with specific emphasis on investors 
and funders.

SUITE OF REPORTS
The integrated report forms part of, and should be read 
in conjunction with a suite of reports available online on 
our website.

>  Annual Financial Statements 
(http://www.atlanticleaf.mu/investors/financials/)

>  King Governance compliance register 
(http://www.atlanticleaf.mu/investors/ 
corporate-governance)
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Paul Leaf-Wright  
Chief Executive Officer

Peter Bacon 
Chairman 

HOW TO 
NAVIGATE OUR 

REPORT
This icon signifies 
related information 
elsewhere in this 

report

This icon signifies 
related information 
available online at: 

www.atlanticleaf.mu 

FRAMEWORKS AND ASSURANCE
The information included in the integrated report has 
been provided in accordance with the International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), Mauritian 
Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, 
Mauritian Securities Act 2005, SEM Listing Rules, 
JSE Listings Requirements, International Integrated 
Reporting Council’s (“IIRC”) framework 
(“the Framework”), The King Code of Corporate 
Governance (“King IV”) and the National Code of 
Corporate Governance for Mauritius (“the Code”).

No external assurance has been sought, other than  
with regards to the annual financial statements.

FORWARD-LOOKING
STATEMENTS
This report may contain forward-looking statements 
with respect to Atlantic Leaf’s future performance and 
prospects. While these statements represent our 
judgements and future expectations, several factors 
may cause actual results to differ materially from our 
expectations.

For further information, please  
contact ITL on +230 430 0800 or  
visit www.atlanticleaf.mu

APPROVAL OF THE 
INTEGRATED REPORT
The Board acknowledges its responsibility to ensure 
the integrity of this report and confirm that this 
integrated annual report addresses all material matters 
and provides a balanced overview of the Company and 
its prospects. The Board has therefore approved the 
2018 Integrated Report for publication.

On behalf of the Board

REFER       TO PAGES 

REFER         TO ONLINE REPORT 

FORWARD LOOKING DISCLAIMER

Certain statements made in this document constitute forward-looking statements. Forward-looking statements can be identified by the use 
of words such as “may”, “will”, “should”, “predict”, “assurance”, “aim”, “hope”, “risk”, “expect”, “intend”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, 
“believe”, “plan”, “seek”, “continue”, or other similar expressions that are predictive or indicative of future events. All statements other 
than statements of historical facts included in this document, including, without limitation, those regarding Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited’s 
(“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) expectations, intentions and beliefs concerning, amongst other things, the Company’s results of 
operations, financial position, growth strategy, prospects, dividend policy and the industries in which the Company operates, are forward-
looking statements. 

By their nature, forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors, many of which are outside of 
the control of the Company and its Directors, which may cause the actual results, performance, achievements, cash flows, dividends of the 
Company or industry results to be materially different from any future results, performance or achievements expressed or implied by such 
forward-looking statements. As such, forward-looking statements are no guarantee of future performance. 

Such forward-looking statements are based on numerous assumptions regarding the Company’s present and future business strategies and 
the environment in which the Company will operate in the future, and are subject to a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause 
actual results and performance to differ materially from any expected future results or performance, expressed or implied, by the forward-
looking statement. 

Among the important factors that could cause the Company’s actual results, performance or achievements to differ materially from those in 
the forward-looking statements include, among others, economic conditions in the relevant markets of the world, market position of the 
Company or its subsidiaries, earnings, financial position, cash flows, return on capital and operating margins, political uncertainty, the actions 
of competitors, activities by governmental authorities such as changes in taxation or regulation, changing business or other market 
conditions and general economic conditions. 

Forward-looking statements should, therefore, be construed in light of such risk factors and undue reliance should not be placed on 
forward-looking statements. These forward-looking statements speak only as of the date of this document and are not intended to give 
assurance as to future results. The information and opinions contained in this document are subject to change without notice and, subject to 
compliance with applicable law, the company assumes no responsibility or obligation to update publicly or review any of the forward-looking 
statements contained herein.

Atlantic Leaf accepts no responsibility for any loss, of whatever nature, that may arise from use of the information in this presentation or 
your reliance on any of the information contained this report, including without limitation the forecast financial information provided in this 
report, and in no event will Atlantic Leaf be liable for any loss or damage including without limitation, indirect or consequential loss or 
damage, or any loss or damage whatsoever arising from loss of profits arising out of or in connection with the use of this presentation or the 
information contained herein. Atlantic Leaf cannot accept any responsibility for any damages or loss arising directly or indirectly from the use 
of this presentation and the information contained herein.
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66% 21%

OUR INVESTMENT CRITERIA
The following criteria are considered in evaluating 
each new investment opportunity:

•  Location and durability of assets;

•   Core sustainable income flows, existing and projected 
occupancy rates and tenant covenant strength;

•   Opportunities for asset enhancement through active 
management, including new lettings, refurbishment 
and development;

•   Rental yield spread relative to fixed rate borrowing 
costs and financing metrics; and

•   Proper evaluation of a multitude of risk factors, 
including security of income, tenant covenants, 
residual values, the physical condition of properties, 
loan-to-value and interest covenants and debt maturity 
profiles in respect of leveraged purchases.

Our business is led by a team of individuals with significant experience in 
real estate and fund management. We strive to maintain a structure that 
promotes a clear and simple business model and accounting principles, 
and maintain a continuous focus on strong governance and ethical 
operations.

Retail  
warehouse

Industrial

Office

13%

Atlantic Leaf is a Mauritian-
incorporated real estate 
company, listed on the 
Official List of the Stock 
Exchange of Mauritius (SEM) 
and the Johannesburg Stock 
Exchange (JSE). 

Our primary objective is to provide attractive returns to investors. 
We aim to achieve this through long-term investments in quality 
real estate assets in the United Kingdom, primarily in the industrial 
and distribution warehouse sector, with sound property 
fundamentals and stable contracted income. 

S C O T L A N D

North West

East Midlands

East
Anglia

South West South East

North East

Yorkshire & The HumberU N I T E D 
K I N G D O M

WALES

West 
Midlands
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GROWTH IN ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT 
(GBP MILLION)
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OUR PROPERTIES

* This includes a proportionate look through to JV investment.
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AUM*

 GBP 371 m
E Q U I T Y 

GBP 204  m
P R O P E RT I E S *

59
T E N A N T S * 

15
WA LT  ( y e a r s ) *

10.66

W E I G H T E D  AV E R A G E
A S S E T  Y I E L D *

7.1%
VA C A N C Y * 

2.6%
L O A N - T O - VA L U E * 

46%
AV G  C O S T  O F  D E B T *

3.2%
D I S T R I B U T I O N  TA R G E T 
F O R  2 0 1 9
 9.55 pence

OUR PORTFOLIO COMPOSITION 

QUALITY TENANTS

DISTRIBUTION PROFILE 
(PENCE)

2018

2017

2016

9.1

8.5

7.0

¢ Interim           ¢ Final

3.0 4.0

4.2 4.3

4.5 4.6
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OUR TENANTS
We actively manage our 
properties, building strong 
tenant relationships.

With our diversified commercial property portfolio, 
we deliver attractive Pound-based returns and 
sustainable value to stakeholders over the long term.

H O W  W E

FOR EMPLOYEES IN 
OUR MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY
We invest time, effort and 
resources in developing 
our staff and creating a 
productive environment to 
thrive in.

COMMUNITIES
We provide a valuable 
manufacturing and 
distribution infrastructure 
for the UK economy. 

OUR SERVICE 
PROVIDERS
We partner with well-established 
and reputable service providers 
to source and maintain our 
properties. We maintain strong 
relationships and reward them 
timeously for their services.

SHAREHOLDERS  
AND FUNDERS
We provide low risk, attractive 
returns through regular 
distributions, capital growth  
and interest payments.

REGULATORS
We maintain strong regulatory 
compliance across all jurisdictions 
and contribute to the economy 
through taxes and levies.

We offer attractive 
returns to our 

investors through 
quality real estate  

ATTRACTIVE 
REGULAR 

DISTRIBUTIONS
• Three consecutive 

years of growth

EXPERIENCED  
TEAM

• Founders still with  
the company

• Growing team 

GEARED 
PORTFOLIO 

benefitting from low UK 
interest environment

STRONG 
STRATEGIC 

RELATIONSHIPS 
• Relationship with  

LondonMetric
• Strategic 

shareholders
STRONG 

PROPERTY 
FUNDAMENTALS

• UK focused

• Primarily industrial/distribution assets

• Long term leases 

• Good prospects for rental growth

• Strong tenants

• Attractive yields

LOW RISK 
PROPERTY 
PORTFOLIO

• High occupancy

• Strong tenant covenants

• Full service leases

KEY STRATEGIES
FOR 2019
CREATING 
SHAREHOLDER VALUE
• Converting to a REIT

•  Changing jurisdiction of 
incorporation to Jersey

ASSET MANAGEMENT
•  Focus to remain in UK

•  Sector focus remains industrial

•  Grow retail warehouse 
exposures through 
LondonMetric JV

•  Evaluate opportunistic  
corporate actions

•  Execute underlying asset 
strategies to enhance earnings

DISTRIBUTION
•  Deliver a minimum of 

9.55 pence per share for 2019

20152014 2016AUG  
M A I D E N 
D I V I D E N D  
A N N O U N C E D

AUG 
I N T E R I M 
D I V I D E N D : 
3 P/S

Y/E FEB 
A U M : 
GBP 50M  

Y/E FEB 
F I N A L 
D I V I D E N D : 
4 P/S
 A U M :

GBP 196M

AUG 
P R I M A R Y 
L I S T I N G 
O N  J S E

NOV 
M O V E D  T O 
T H E  J S E 
M A I N 
B O A R D

2017 Y/E FEB 
F I N A L  D I V I D E N D : 
4.3 P/S
A U M : GBP 304M

AUG  
I N T E R I M 
D I V I D E N D : 
4.5 P/S

Y/E FEB  
F I N A L 
D I V I D E N D : 
4.6 P/S
A U M : 

GBP 371M

SEP 
C A P I T A L  R A I S E 
GBP 47M

A C Q U I S I T I O N S 
O F  D F S 
P O R T F O L I O  W I T H  
LONDONMETRIC

AUG 
I N T E R I M 
D I V I D E N D : 
4.2 P/S

2018MAR 
L I S T E D  O N 
S E M  &  J S E

OCT 
V U K I L E 
S T R A T E G I C 
I N V E S T M E N T 
GBP 17.5M
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A DIVERSIFIED PORTFOLIO   |    H IGH QUALITY  TENANTS                         |    LONG TENURED LEASES    |    STRONG RENTAL EARNINGS

OUR
HISTORY



ASSETS UNDER MANAGEMENT 2016 2017 2018
TARGET GBP 150m GBP 300m 20% – 30% GROWTH

RESULT GBP 195m GBP 304m GBP 371m

DISTRIBUTIONS 2016 2017 2018
TARGET 7.0 pence 8.5 pence 9.0 pence 

RESULT 7.0 pence 8.5 pence 9.1 pence 

BU
SIN

ES
S 

HIG
HL

IGH
TS 

FO
R T

HE
 YE

AR AUM*  
GBP 371 MILLION

22%
( 2 0 1 7 :  G B P  3 0 4  M I L L I O N )

DIVIDEND
9.1 PENCE 
 

 7.06%
      ( 2 0 1 7 :  8 . 5  P E N C E )

FURTHER 
DIVERSIFICATION 
OF THE PORTFOLIO

CAPITAL RAISED 
(NET OF COSTS) 

GBP 46 million
( 2 0 1 7 :  G B P  1 9 . 9  M I L L I O N )

RENTAL REVENUE*
GBP 23.8 MILLION
 

 23% 
( 2 0 1 7 :  G B P  1 9 . 4  M I L L I O N )

ADJUSTED EARNINGS 
GBP 14.8 MILLION
 

 28%
( 2 0 1 7 :  G B P  1 1 . 6  M I L L I O N )

ACQUISITION 

CREWE
GBP 11.9 million

DFS JV
GBP 25 MILLION FORGES 
RELATIONSHIP WITH 
LONDONMETRIC

POST YEAR-END ACQUISITION 

KNOWSLEY
GBP 15.7 MILLION

GROWING THE COMPANY
STRONG PERFORMANCE AGAINST OBJECTIVES

*  This includes a proportionate 
look through to JV investment

BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS, CREWE

BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS, CREWE

BOOKER, NUNEATON

HALFORDS, REDDITCH
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Human and 
intellectual capital  
Knowledge in property 
investment and 
experience in fund 
management and 
deal execution

Manufactured 
capital  
Our property portfolio

Societal and 
relationship capital  
Growing networks 
which allows us to 
source deals and 
financing and improve 
relationships with local 
communities. 

Financial capital  
Funding from 
shareholders  
and debt providers

INVESTING IN QUALITY,      INVESTMENT GRADE REAL ESTATE

Identify quality properties 
in attractive growth nodes

Effective deal execution

Efficient financial 
structuring

Redevelopment and 
expansion of properties

Asset enhancements and 
energy saving initiatives

Partnering with service 
providers to manage 
properties

Stakeholder engagement 
within local communities 
to enhance relationships

WE ARE  
PROPERTY 
SPECIALISTS

S
ta

ke
ho

ld
er

 r
el

at
io

ns

A  
DIVERSIFIED 

QUALITY  
PROPERTY 
PORTFOLIO

OUR  
OUTPUTS

•  Motivated and  
engaged people

•  Strong Atlantic Leaf 
brand and reputation

•  Sustainable and 
consistent earnings

•  Capital growth

•    Semi-annual 
dividend distribution

•  Ethical corporate 
citizenship

OUR  
RISKS OUR  

RESOURCES

G
overnance

Funding

Property 
specific

Operational

Market/
valuation

Regulatory  
& legal

Strategic

Credit

OU
R 
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VALUE ADDED

28
/0

2/
20

16

28
/0

2/
20

17

28
/0

2/
20

18

8.1

19.0

23.0

(GBP MILLION)

 21% LONG TERM
DEBT PROVIDERS 

IN 2018
GBP 23 MILLION

8%  MANAGEMENT CO/
          EMPLOYEES

 7% GOVERNMENT  

SHAREHOLDERS 64% 

Environmental 
capital  
Land where properties 
are situated TE

N
A

N
T 
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N
A
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PILLARS OF 
PROPERTY 

SELECTION

OUR  
OUTCOMES

M O D E L
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FINANCIAL YEAR-END 28  FEBRUARY 

ISIN  MU0422N00009 
SEM SHARE CODE  ALPL .N0000 

JSE SHARE CODE   ALP

JSE SECTOR   REAL  ESTATE 
HOLDINGS  AND 
DEVELOPMENT 

SHARES IN ISSUE  188  976  628 

SHARES IN ISSUE/NEW SHARES ADDED
ALP SHARES (M)

124
19 143

46 189

29 Feb
2016

Added in
FY 2017

28 Feb
2017

Added in
FY 2018

28 Feb
2018

AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES TRADED PER DAY

21 597 30 600
17 134

69 089
51 952

31 Aug
2016

30 Nov
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 May
2017

31 Aug
2017

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS
AS AT

216
290 324

395
487

29 Feb
2016

31 Aug
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 Aug
2017

28 Feb
2018

119 974

26 640

30 Nov
2017

28 Feb
2018

SHAREHOLDERS

TRADE AND LIQUIDITY

I N F O R M A T I O N
LISTINGS INFORMATION

FREE FLOAT  34%

66%  TIGHTLY HELD

FREE FLOAT 
LIQUIDITY AND

 ATLANTIC PROPERTY INVESTMENTS  5.00%

34.90%  VUKILE PROPERTY FUND LIMITED

SENTINEL RETIREMENT FUND  25.97%

TRUFFLE ASSET MANAGEMENT  2.65%
CORONATION FUND MANAGERS  2.78%

MAZI CAPITAL  3.04%

OTHER  11.74%

VISIO CAPITAL MANAGEMENT  7.38%

ABSA ASSET MANAGEMENT  3.86%

LCIP (PTY)  2.68%

ANALYSIS OF KEY SHAREHOLDERS/FUND MANAGERS* SHAREHOLDER

RANGE
NUMBER OF

HOLDERS
% OF

HOLDERS
NUMBER OF

SHARES
% OF

SHARES

1 – 999 112 23.0% 24 442 0.01%

1 000 – 9 999 145 29.8% 525 060 0.28%

10 000 – 99 999 102 20.9% 4 123 798 2.18%

100 000 – more 128 26.3% 184 303 328 97.53%

Total 487 100.0% 188 976 628 100.0%

 

NUMBER OF HOLDERS
NUMBER OF

HOLDERS
% OF

HOLDERS
NUMBER OF

SHARES
% OF

SHARES

Public 472 96.9% 58 771 923 31.10%

Non-public 15 3.1% 130 204 705 68.90%

 Directors and associates 13 2.7% 15 177 694 8.03%

 Material shareholders (>10%) 2 0.4% 115 027 011 60.87%

Total 487 100.0% 188 976 628 100.0%

SHAREHOLDER SPREAD

SHAREHOLDER TYPE

— ALP (JSE)
— GBP (ZAR)
— ALP (SEM)

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

28 Feb
2017

21.00

20.00

19.00

18.00

17.00

16.00

15.00

1.11
1.10
1.09
1.08
1.07
1.06
1.05
1.04
1.03
1.02

28 Feb
2018

31 Jan
2018

31 Dec
2017

30 Nov
2017

31 Oct
2017

30 Sep
2017

31 Aug
2017

31 July
2017

30 June
2017

31 May
2017

30 Apr
2017

31 Mar
2017

— ALP (JSE)
— GBP (ZAR)
— ALP (SEM)

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

28 Feb
2017

21.00

20.00

19.00

18.00

17.00

16.00

15.00

1.11
1.10
1.09
1.08
1.07
1.06
1.05
1.04
1.03
1.02

28 Feb
2018

31 Jan
2018

31 Dec
2017

30 Nov
2017

31 Oct
2017

30 Sep
2017

31 Aug
2017

31 July
2017

30 June
2017

31 May
2017

30 Apr
2017

31 Mar
2017

— ALP (JSE)
— GBP (ZAR)
— ALP (SEM)

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

28 Feb
2017

21.00

20.00

19.00

18.00

17.00

16.00

15.00

1.11
1.10
1.09
1.08
1.07
1.06
1.05
1.04
1.03
1.02

28 Feb
2018

31 Jan
2018

31 Dec
2017

30 Nov
2017

31 Oct
2017

30 Sep
2017

31 Aug
2017

31 July
2017

30 June
2017

31 May
2017

30 Apr
2017

31 Mar
2017

— ALP (JSE)
— GBP (ZAR)
— ALP (SEM)

SHARE PRICE PERFORMANCE

28 Feb
2017

21.00

20.00

19.00

18.00

17.00

16.00

15.00

1.11
1.10
1.09
1.08
1.07
1.06
1.05
1.04
1.03
1.02

28 Feb
2018

31 Jan
2018

31 Dec
2017

30 Nov
2017

31 Oct
2017

30 Sep
2017

31 Aug
2017

31 July
2017

30 June
2017

31 May
2017

30 Apr
2017

31 Mar
2017

SHAREHOLDER
DIARY

I N F O R M A T I O N SHARES IN ISSUE/NEW SHARES ADDED
ALP SHARES (M)

124
19 143

46 189

29 Feb
2016

Added in
FY 2017

28 Feb
2017

Added in
FY 2018

28 Feb
2018

AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES TRADED PER DAY

21 597 30 600
17 134

69 089
51 952

31 Aug
2016

30 Nov
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 May
2017

31 Aug
2017

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS
AS AT

216
290 324

395
487

29 Feb
2016

31 Aug
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 Aug
2017

28 Feb
2018

119 974

26 640

30 Nov
2017

28 Feb
2018

SHARES IN ISSUE/NEW SHARES ADDED
ALP SHARES (M)

124
19 143

46 189

29 Feb
2016

Added in
FY 2017

28 Feb
2017

Added in
FY 2018

28 Feb
2018

AVERAGE NUMBER OF SHARES TRADED PER DAY

21 597 30 600
17 134

69 089
51 952

31 Aug
2016

30 Nov
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 May
2017

31 Aug
2017

TOTAL NUMBER OF SHAREHOLDERS
AS AT

216
290 324

395
487

29 Feb
2016

31 Aug
2016

28 Feb
2017

31 Aug
2017

28 Feb
2018

119 974

26 640

30 Nov
2017

28 Feb
2018

* To the best of the Company’s knowledge as at 26 March 2018

FINANCIAL 
YEAR END
28 February 

ANNUAL GENERAL 
MEETING  
25 June 2018

31 MAY 2018  
FIRST QUARTER 
RESULTS
11 July 2018*

31 AUGUST 2018 
INTERIM RESULTS
11 October 2018*

30 NOVEMBER 2018 
THIRD QUARTER 
RESULTS
11 January 2019*

INTERIM DIVIDEND
5 November 2018*

28 FEBRUARY 2019 
ANNUAL RESULTS
18 April 2019*

FINAL DIVIDEND
13 May 2019*

* Tentative date
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E N G A G E M E N T
ATLANTIC LEAF ENGAGES WITH 
VARIOUS STAKEHOLDERS IN THE 
ORDINARY COURSE OF ITS 
BUSINESS. DEVELOPING AND 
STRENGTHENING THESE 
STAKEHOLDER RELATIONSHIPS  
IS FUNDAMENTAL TO ACHIEVING  
ITS BUSINESS STRATEGY. 
Positive and constructive relationships with all 
stakeholders is crucial in supporting the Company’s 
ability to create long term value. Good communication 
allows the Company to better align the interests 
and expectations of stakeholders with the practices 
and outputs of the business, ensuring an operating 
model that provides for sustainable value creation 
for both Atlantic Leaf and its stakeholders.

The Company’s approach to enhancing stakeholder 
engagement begins by establishing the areas and 
extent that the business relies on the inputs and 
contributions provided by stakeholders, and the 
outputs that the business provides and stakeholders 
rely on in return. The Company then determines the 
key stakeholder relationships based on the extent to 
which each stakeholder affects, or is affected by, 
the activities and outputs of the business. Taking 
the level of reliance and quality of each relationship 
into consideration, the manner and level of 
stakeholder engagement is then tailored to meet 
the needs and expectations of each interested party 
as detailed below to ensure the effectiveness of 
this process. 

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

DISTRIBUTION GROWTH SHARE TRADE-ABILITY 

Share liquidity continues to 
steadily improve.  
One of our goals is to be 
included in a JSE property 
index which would further 
improve share liquidity.

PORTFOLIO DIVERSIFICATION 

Portfolio diversification in 
terms of both number of 
properties and number of 
tenants continues to improve 
as the size of the portfolio 
increases. 

The Company’s cost of capital is high. 
A re-rating of the share prices will reduce the 
cost of capital to a level where we can more 
readily source yield accretive transactions.

The Company’s proposal to convert to a  
UK REIT will require clear communication with 
shareholders in terms of managing 
expectations around timeframes, progress, 
and any changes in distribution profile/ 
requirements.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

EXPECTED OUTPUT   
Sustainable and growing distributions together 
with capital preservation and growth

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Equity capital

COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT
Interim and annual financial reporting, SENS, 
investor roadshow presentations, webcasts 
and conference calls, integrated reporting, 
website, AGM
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SHAREHOLDERS 
1 2 3 4 5

ESTABLISHMENT OF CONSTRUCTIVE 
JV RELATIONSHIP WITH 
LONDONMETRIC

CONTINUED TO DEVELOP 
RELATIONSHIPS WITH OUR KEY 
LENDERS AS WELL AS THE BROADER 
DEBT MARKET

MET SHAREHOLDERS’ DISTRIBUTION 
EXPECTATIONS FOR A THIRD 
CONSECUTIVE YEAR

SUCCESSFUL CAPITAL RAISE WELL 
SUPPORTED BY EXISTING KEY 
SHAREHOLDERS

KEY ENGAGEMENT INITIATIVES 
DURING THE YEAR

COMPREHENSIVE DIALOGUE WITH 
TENANTS ON A NUMBER OF 
PROPERTY IMPROVEMENT 
INITIATIVES

ASSESSMENT OF 
STAKEHOLDER 
RELATIONSHIP

NO EXISTING 
RELATIONSHIP OR 
NEGATIVE RELATIONSHIP

RELATIONSHIP EXISTS 
BUT NEEDS SUBSTANTIAL 
WORK FOR 
IMPROVEMENT

RELATIONSHIP EXISTS AT 
AN ACCEPTABLE LEVEL 
BUT WOULD BENEFIT 
FROM FURTHER 
IMPROVEMENT 

GOOD QUALITY 
RELATIONSHIP 
EXISTS

HIGH QUALITY 
RELATIONSHIP

2 3
4

1 5

STAKEHOLDER

We believe that our 
distribution guidance is 
achievable, representing 
growth in distributions of 
approximately 5%. 
Management’s distribution 
forecasting has been accurate 
to date, building investor 
confidence.
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KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 
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EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Timely compliance with all applicable laws and 
regulations

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Regulatory frameworks to provide legal certainty, 
assistance in applying relevant legislation. 

COMMUNICATION  AND ENGAGEMENT
Interim and annual financial reporting, SENS, regular 
updates through sponsors, tax and regulatory returns.REGULATORS

1 2 3 4 5

KING IV 
IMPLEMENTATION

TAX 
COMPLIANCE

ONGOING COMPLIANCE WITH REGULATORY FRAMEWORKS  
IN MAURITIUS, SOUTH AFRICA AND THE UK

In addition to ongoing compliance, management’s focus in the coming year will be on meeting 
the various regulatory and legal requirements of the proposed redomicile of the Company to 

Jersey, and the conversion to a UK REIT.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

The Company has a strong focus on ensuring it complies with all applicable regulatory requirements.  
This features extensively in its risk management framework and is included in quarterly risk reports to  

the Board. Of particular importance during the year was the implementation of King IV principles, being the  
first applicable reporting period.

The key issues raised also represent opportunities for Atlantic Leaf to meet the tenants’ 
expectations and improve on property and income fundamentals. Our team has a strong focus 

on these initiatives over the coming year.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

EXPANSION 
OPPORTUNITIES

REFURBISHMENTS 
AND 
IMPROVEMENTS

RENT 
REVIEWS

“GREEN” 
INITIATIVES

COST OF 
OCCUPATION

CREDIT RISK AND 
UNEXPECTED 
VACANCIES

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Quality properties, high level of support when required

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Rental payments, compliance with lease obligations

COMMUNICATION AND ENGAGEMENT
Site visits and inspections, one-on-one meetings where 
required, proactive and helpful property management 
team.
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TENANTS
1 2 3 4 5

Our property managers and asset management team conduct regular site visits and maintain strong 
relationships with tenants to ensure that we understand their requirements and growth strategies. Strong 

communication and open dialogue ensures the tenants’ and Company’s strategies align on these initiatives.

EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Professional and ethical organisation, quality 
employment and service opportunities, fair remuneration.

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Human capital, knowledge and expertise

COMMUNICATION  AND ENGAGEMENT
Regular interaction, training and development,  
performance reviews.

O
U

R 
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O

N
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N

D
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S 

O
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MANAGEMENT 
COMPANY AND 
OUR PEOPLE

1 2 3 4 5

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

INTERNALISATION CAREER DEVELOPMENT  
AND GROWTH

KEY MAN 
RISK

ENSURE HUMAN RESOURCES KEEPS  
PACE WITH COMPANY GROWTH

The external management structure and the performance of Martial Eagle and its employees are reviewed 
at least annually. We maintain regular and consistent interactions with our team to ensure that they are 

adequately challenged, continue to grow and develop and are rewarded based on key performance 
measures. The human resources within the management company continues to grow and develop.

Future areas of focus for the Company include revising its Remuneration Policy to include 
coverage of employee and executive remuneration when applicable. Management intends to 
focus on further career development and training, skills retention and succession planning. 

Continuous assessment of the most appropriate time to internalise the management company.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Loan security, strong financial covenants 

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Debt financing

COMMUNICATION  AND ENGAGEMENT
Interim and annual financial reporting, quarterly 
covenant reporting, regular updates with relationship 
managers, integrated reporting.

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

DEBT AND HEDGING LEVELS DEBT MATURITY PROFILE

It is expected that a substantial portion of the group’s debt will be refinanced in  the 2019 year 
with a targeted maturity of 3-4 years. 

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

O
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O
F 
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S

LENDERS
1 2 3 4 5

Management remains comfortable with the level of debt and hedging given its strong cash flow, interest cover, 
LTV covenants, long term leases and attractive gap between asset yields and interest rates in the UK.
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MANAGEMENT OF TENANT RELATIONSHIPS INFORMATION QUALITY AND TIMELINESS

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

PROPERTY 
MANAGERS AND 
OTHER SERVICE 
PROVIDERS 

EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Mutually beneficial business relationship 

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Property management expertise, reliable provision of 
services to meet business objectives

COMMUNICATION  AND ENGAGEMENT
Regular interactions, formal and informal team meetings, 
business and property updates, performance reviews 
against service level agreements
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1 2 3 4 5

Atlantic Leaf continues to work with its service providers to refine operations. Its property 
managers will be extensively involved in assisting with the tenant initiatives listed above. They 

will also help to develop our frameworks to ensure strong tenant and service provider 
relationships are maintained in a multi-let environment such as the recent Knowsley business 

park acquisition.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

Atlantic Leaf has a very strong relationship with its property managers and ensures that our strategies are clearly 
communicated and acted upon. The Company also has very strong relationships with the majority of its key 

service providers; these close dealings provide for a very effective mechanism for quickly identifying and 
remedying any operational concerns.

KEY ISSUES AND RISKS RAISED 

JV PARTNERS 

EXPECTED OUTPUT 
Professional and ethical conduct, mutually beneficial 
business relationship

STAKEHOLDER CONTRIBUTION 
Financial capital, knowledge and expertise 

COMMUNICATION  AND ENGAGEMENT
Board meetings, regular business and portfolio  
strategy updates
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N
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1 2 3 4 5

ALIGNMENT OF JV PARTNER 
STRATEGIES

INVESTMENT AND DIVESTMENT 
OPPORTUNITIES WITHIN JV

RELIABLE REPORTING  
FROM THE JV

There is a good relationship and open dialogue between JV partners. Atlantic Leaf and LondonMetric have similar 
investment strategies; there is alignment and good opportunity contributions from both parties.

The JV provides a good opportunity for the Company to develop its relationship with 
LondonMetric, as well as increase its sector exposure to retail warehousing. The JV is 

continuously looking for suitable opportunities to invest or realise value.

OPPORTUNITIES AND FUTURE AREA OF FOCUS

HALFORDS, REDDITCH
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97 .4% OCCUPANCY 
ACROSS  THE 
PORTFOLIO*

 PO
RT

FO
LIO

NO OF 
TENANTS*

15

ATLANTIC LEAF’S PORTFOLIO 
CONSISTS OF QUALITY ASSETS 
EACH HAVING LONG-TERM 
LEASES WITH QUALITY 
OCCUPIERS IN KEY 
REGIONAL NODES IN 
THE UNITED KINGDOM

  

KEY  
SECTORAL 
STATISTICS*

Gross lettable area (GLA)

4 682 309 ft²
INDUSTRIAL 4 169 061 ft2

OFFICE 388 526 ft2

RETAIL WAREHOUSE 124 722 ft2

Weighted average rental/ft²^

10.17 GBP/ft²
INDUSTRIAL 4.52 GBP/ft2

OFFICE 16.62 GBP/ft2

RETAIL WAREHOUSE 29.75 GBP/ft2

Weighted average lease term

1O.66 years
INDUSTRIAL 10.83 years
OFFICE 9.47 years
RETAIL WAREHOUSE 11.78 years

Average forward asset yield^

7.27%
INDUSTRIAL 7.05%
OFFICE 7.51%
RETAIL WAREHOUSE 8.17%

Annualised rental income^

GBP 26.4 million
INDUSTRIAL GBP 17.4 million
OFFICE GBP 5.7 million
RETAIL WAREHOUSE GBP 3.3 million

AUM*  
(GBP)

371m

WALT*1

10.66
years

NO OF  
PROPERTIES*
 59
GROSS 
LETTABLE 
AREA*  
(million ft²)

4.7

WEIGHTED 
AVERAGE  
ASSET YIELD*

7.1%

2.6%
VACANCY*

LTV*2

46%
AVERAGE 
COST  
OF DEBT*

3.2%

OVERVIEW
OUR ASSET MANAGEMENT 
FOCUS FOR 2019
Target market
• UK market

• Grow industrial asset portfolio

• Grow retail warehouse exposure 
with LondonMetric

Organic progress
• Sale of smaller non-strategic 

assets
• Redeploy sale proceeds to ensure 

we are fully invested

• Implement asset management 
opportunities

• Haydock property re-let

• Inspirepac lease re-gear

A WELL  DIVERSIF IED  PORTFOLIO

  

PRIMARY EXPOSURE  TO  HIGH  
GROWTH INDUSTRIAL  AND  
LOGIST ICS  PROPERTIES FIRST EXPIRY IN 5 YEARS

STRONG TENANT COVENANTS

WALT OF 10.66 YEARS TO 
EXPIRY AND 9.12 YEARS TO 
THE BREAK

INSPIREPAC  3%

33%  BOOKER

BY INCOME
TENANT COMPOSITION

3%  BUFFALOAD

7%  DHL
4% E.0N  

 3% EE GESTAMP  3%
HALFORDS  7%

HOMEBASE  2%

ROBERT MCBRIDE  2%

SANTANDER  8%

EPWIN  5%

 THOMAS COOK 5% 

BAUER  2%

DFS 13%

SCOTLAND  8%

21%  NORTH WEST
SPLIT BY VALUE
REGIONAL

EAST MIDLANDS  13%

SOUTH WEST  11%

YORK & THE HUMBER  8%
SOUTH EAST  4%

 2% EAST ANGLIA

17%  NORTH EAST

14%  WEST MIDLANDS

 2% WALES

LEASE EXPIRY PROFILE 
GROSS RENTAL INCOME

20
23

20
24

20
25

20
26

20
27

20
28

20
29

20
30

20
31

6% 7%
3%

0%

11%
8%

12%

43%

10%

A  84%

  B 8%

CLASSIFICATION
TENANT

  VACANT 3%  C 5%OFFICE  8%

89%  INDUSTRIAL

SPREAD BY GLA
SECTORAL SPREAD

3%  RETAIL WAREHOUSE

OFFICE  21%

66%  INDUSTRIAL

SECTORAL SPREAD
BY RENTAL INCOME

 13% RETAIL WAREHOUSE 

*  This includes a 
proportionate look 
through to JV 
investment.

1   WALT – Weighted   
average lease term

2 Loan-to-value

*  All measures include a 
proportionate look through  
to JV investment

^  Includes an implied market rent on the vacant Haydock property

REFER          TO PAGE 118 FOR FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON TENANT 
CLASSIFICATIONS
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UP

 P
lc NATIONWIDE, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

30

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 96.5M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 7.4M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.65%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

INDUSTRIAL

TOTAL GLA 1 746 074 SQ FT 
(162 216 SQ M)

TENANT GIANT BOOKER LIMITED/ 
BOOKER LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

2030 WITH TENANT BREAK 
OPTION IN 2025

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

 2.5% PER ANNUM 
COMPOUNDED FIVE-YEARLY

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

FEBRUARY 2020

WALT 12.01 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Booker Group Plc (“Booker”) is a leading food wholesaler in 
the UK, offering branded and private-label goods to independent 
convenience stores, grocers, pubs, restaurants and hotels and is 
listed on the London Stock Exchange. Booker has recently been 
purchased by Tesco Plc, one of the largest retailers in the UK. 
https://www.booker.co.uk

LOCATION

HA
LF

OR
DS

 LT
D REDDITCH, WEST 

MIDLANDS, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 29.7M 

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.9M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
6. 37%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

DISTRIBUTION WAREHOUSE 
WITH ANCILLARY OFFICES 

TOTAL GLA 361 407 SQ FT (33 576 SQ M)

TENANT HALFORDS LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

MARCH 2029

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

FIVE-YEARLY TO MARKET 
RENT

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

MARCH 2019

WALT 11.09 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Halfords Limited is part of Halfords Group Plc, a large British 
retailer established in the early 1900’s. Halfords manages its 
business in the UK and Republic of Ireland and is the UK’s 
leading retailer of motoring and cycling products and a leading 
independent operator in garage servicing and auto repair. 
http://www.halfordscompany.com

LOCATION

DH
L S

UP
PL

Y 
CH

AI
N 

LIM
ITE

D RUNCORN, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 29.5M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.8M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
6.19%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

DISTRIBUTION WAREHOUSE

TOTAL GLA 635 656 SQ FT (59 054 SQ M)

TENANT DHL SUPPLY CHAIN LTD

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

DECEMBER 2024

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

GBP 2 048 485 OR MARKET 
RENT (WHICHEVER IS 
HIGHER)

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

DECEMBER 2019

WALT 6.81 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
DHL Supply Chain is part of the world’s leading postal and logistics 
Group, Deutsche Post AG, providing international express mail 
services. Deutsche Post is the world’s largest logistics company 
operating around the world, particular in sea and air mail.  
https://www.logistics.dhl/gb-en/home/our-divisions/supply-chain.html
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M
ITE

D NEWCASTLE, TYNESIDE, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 26.4M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 2.1M PA 

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
8.01%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

OFFICE

TOTAL GLA 102 650 SQ FT (9 536 SQ M)

TENANT SANTANDER CARDS UK 
LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

MARCH 2028

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

FIVE-YEARLY TO MARKET RENT

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

MARCH 2018

WALT 10.01 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Santander Cards UK Limited provides loyalty card, reward card 
and credit card services to customers in the United Kingdom 
and internationally and is a subsidiary of Santander UK Plc. 
Santander UK Plc is one of the UK’s leading personal financial 
services companies and provider of mortgages and savings in 
the UK. Santander UK Plc is a subsidiary of Banco Santander, 
one of the largest financial services companies in the world. 
https://www.santander.co.uk

LOCATION

LY
NC

HW
OO

D 
HO

US
E PETERBOROUGH, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 25.2M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.8M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.73%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

OFFICE

TOTAL GLA 177 621 SQ FT (16 501 SQ M)

TENANTS
THOMAS COOK GROUP 
UK LTD AND BAUER 
CONSUMER MEDIA LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

MAY 2031 AND MARCH 2023

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

TO OMR IN 2021 AND FIXED 
INCREASE IN MARCH 2018

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

MAY 2021 AND MAR 2018

WALT 10.38 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANTS
Thomas Cook Group UK Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Thomas 
Cook Group Plc, a British global travel company listed on the London 
Stock Exchange on the FTSE 250 Index. The group owns several tour 
operators, as well as charter airlines based in the United Kingdom, 
Belgium and Scandinavia. https://www.thomascook.com

Bauer Media is a division of Bauer Media Group, a worldwide 
media company and Europe’s largest privately-owned publishing 
Group. Bauer Media joined the Bauer Media Group in January 2008 
following the acquisition of EMAP’s consumer and specialist 
magazines, radio, TV, online and digital businesses. 
http://www.bauermedia.com/

LOCATION

EP
W

IN
 G

RO
UP

 P
lc NATION WIDE, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

5 

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 18.8M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.4M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.20%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

MANUFACTURING AND 
DISTRIBUTION

TOTAL GLA 405 140 SQ FT (37 639 SQ M)

TENANT SPECIALIST BUILDING 
PRODUCTS LTD

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

OCTOBER 2031

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

FIVE-YEARLY TO MARKET 
RENT

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

OCTOBER 2021

WALT 13.64 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Specialist Building Products Limited is a wholly-owned subsidiary 
and the main trading entity of Epwin Group Plc, one of the UK’s 
leading manufacturers of extrusions, mouldings and fabricated 
low maintenance building products. Its principle activities 
include extrusion of PVC-U and roofline products as well as the 
manufacture of windows, doors, cladding, conservatories and 
sealed units. Epwin Group Plc provides a guarantee for the 
tenant’s lease obligations.  
http://www.epwin.co.uk

LOCATION

IN
SP

IR
EP

AC
 LI

M
ITE

D CHESTERFIELD & WETHERBY, 
UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

2

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 14.8M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 0.9M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
6.46%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

MANUFACTURING AND 
DISTRIBUTION

TOTAL GLA 216 527 SQ FT (20 116 SQ M)

TENANT INSPIREPAC LTD

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

JANUARY 2027

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

EVERY FIVE YEARS TO RPI OR 
MARKET RENTAL VALUE 

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

JANUARY 2022

WALT 8.93 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Inspirepac Ltd is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Smurfit Kappa 
Group Plc (“Smurfit”). Smurfit acquired Inspirepac in May 2015. 
Inspirepac are market leaders in high quality corrugated packaging 
solutions for national and international customers and are a 
leading supplier of flexography printing technology. Smurfit Kappa 
is one of the leading providers of paper-based packaging solutions 
in the world and is listed on the London Stock Exchange. 
https://www.smurfitkappa.com
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LOCATION

E.O
N 

UK
 P

lc COVENTRY, WEST 
MIDLANDS, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 13.8M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.1M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.74%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

OFFICE

TOTAL GLA 46 515 SQ FT (4 321 SQ M)

TENANT E.ON UK Plc

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

APRIL 2023

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

3% ANNUALLY  

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

APRIL 2018

WALT 5.13 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
E.on is one of the world’s leading power and gas companies 
generating and distributing electricity and retailing power and gas. 
It operates in over 30 countries worldwide and is owned by  
E.on SE of Germany. E.on SE is one of the major public utility 
companies in Europe and the world’s largest investor-owned 
energy service provider. It is one of the 30 members of the  
DAX index of major German companies and a member of  
the Global Titans 50 index.  
https://www.eonenergy.com

LOCATION

BU
FF

AL
OA

D 
LO

GI
ST

ICS
 LI

M
ITE

D CREWE, NORTHWEST, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 11.9M 

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 0.8M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.16%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

DISTRIBUTION

TOTAL GLA 204 128 SQ FT (18 964 SQ M)

TENANT BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS LTD

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

JUNE 2027

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

FIVE-YEARLY TO MARKET RENT

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

JUNE 2022

WALT 9.34 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
Buffaload Logistics has more than 17 years’ experience in the 
chilled distribution sector and has grown rapidly in recent years, 
investing heavily to build the largest independently owned 
double-deck trailer fleet in the UK. Their nationwide operation 
means they are well positioned to offer a diverse and market 
leading service to food producers, retailers and businesses 
throughout the UK. In 2017 the company acquired Davis 
Haulage Limited and cemented Buffaload’s leading position 
as a high-volume temperature controlled operator. 
http://www.buffaload.co.uk

LOCATION

DF
S 

PO
RT

FO
LIO

 (he
ld 

via
 jo

int
 ve

ntu
re) VARIOUS, UK

NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

10

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 98.4M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 7.8M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
7.93%

ATLANTIC 
LEAF 

HOLDING
45%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

RETAIL WAREHOUSE

TOTAL GLA 415 951 SQ FT (69 653 SQ M)

TENANT DFS TRADING LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

MARCH 2030

RENTAL 
ESCALATIONS

FIVE-YEARLY TO OPEN 
MARKET RENT

NEXT RENT 
REVIEW

MARCH 2020

WALT 12.1 YEARS

ABOUT THE TENANT
DFS is the leading upholstery retailer in the UK and has almost 
50 years of experience in designing, manufacturing, selling, 
delivering and installing an extensive range of sofas and 
other upholstered and general furniture products. 
http://www.dfscorporate.co.uk
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NUMBER OF 
PROPERTIES

1

GROSS ASSET 
VALUE

GBP 15.7M

NET RENTAL 
INCOME

GBP 1.4M PA

FORWARD 
INCOME 

YIELD
8.5%

PROPERTY 
TYPE

INDUSTRIAL WAREHOUSE 
AND OFFICE SPACE

TOTAL GLA 574 078 SQ FT 
(53 334 SQ M) 

KEY TENANTS B&M RETAIL LIMITED AND 
SERCO LIMITED

LEASE TERM 
EXPIRY

AUGUST 2022 AND BETWEEN 
2020 AND 2023

RENTAL 
ESCALATION

N/A

WALT 3.6 YEARS 

ABOUT THE KEY TENANTS
B&M is a leading discount retailer operating across the UK and 
is the primary operating entity of B&M European Value Retail S.A., 
a holding company listed on the London Stock Exchange and a 
constituent of the FTSE 250 index. https://www.bmstores.co.uk/

Serco Limited (“Serco”) is a large public services provider and a 
key operating entity of LSE-listed Serco Group Plc, also included 
in the FTSE 250 index. Serco Group Plc provides services to 
governments around the world, with Serco servicing the 
UK operations, the group’s largest market. 
https://www.serco.com/
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C O N T E X T

OUR TARGET MARKET 
CONTINUES TO OFFER A 
FAVOURABLE OPERATING 
ENVIRONMENT

STRATEGIC RISK 
• Property acquisitions fail to 

achieve the required rate of 
return

•  Inability to meet 
distribution targets

•  Increased competition for 
investment opportunities

•  ZAR volatility affecting 
investor sentiment

•  Inability to raise capital

Industrial logistics and 
warehousing remains in 
vogue with further yield 
compression and an upward 
rental growth trajectory

UK PROPERTY 
MARKET

UK industrial logistics 
properties remain attractive for 
local and foreign investors

Demand remains for secure, 
long term income

Certain alternative sectors 
such as retail warehousing 
also offer value

Investment volumes in the 
industrial sector are up on 
the previous year, highlighting 
the renewed strength post  
Brexit announcement

The market expectation is for 
rental increases in 2018 in 
particular within the industrial/
logistics sector driven by strong 
occupational demand

Yield compression is evident 
in the market and rental 
growth continues its upward 
trajectory due to strong 
occupier demand, exacerbated  
by limited supply of new 
accommodation

KEY RISKS
Atlantic Leaf is 
exposed to a variety  
of risks in the normal 
course of business, 
and aims to minimise 
adverse effects, while 
continually identifying 
opportunities to 
maximise value for 
shareholders. Our key 
risks incorporate the 
following:

MARKET RISK
•  Economic 

uncertainty  
from Brexit

STRONG RENTAL GROWTH
RENTAL VALUE GROWTH BY MAIN SECTOR (%Y/Y)

All property

2.0

0.6

1.95

All office

2.5

1.35 1.45

All retail

0.85

0
0.45

All industrial

3.85

1.15

5.00

¢ 2016 Return           ¢ 2017 (CE Nov 16 forecast)           ¢ 2017 Return

UK PROPERTY INVESTMENT VOLUMES
VALUE OF COMMERCIAL PROPERTY DEALS PER YEAR (£BN)

03 04 17161514131211100908070605
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76
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54

353337
2727

5457
49

OPERATIONAL RISK
•  Loss of key 

management

REGULATORY AND  
LEGAL RISK
•  Non-compliance with 

regulatory and legal 
requirements

•  Non-compliance  
with tax legislation FUNDING RISK

•  Increases in market 
interest rates

•  Inability to refinance debt 
at acceptable terms

PROPERTY 
SPECIFIC RISK
•  Insufficient 

maintenance of 
properties

CREDIT RISK
•  Tenant concentration risk

•  Increase in tenant credit risk

REFER     TO PAGES 54 – 57 FOR DETAILS REGARDING HOW WE 
DEAL WITH THESE RISKS.

Source: Property Archive

Sources: MSCI, Capital Economics

BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS, CREWE
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This has made it more challenging for the Company to 
identify acquisitions which meet our return criteria, and we 
have experienced increased competition for opportunities 
offered through the normal property market. We were 
nevertheless successful in growing our assets under 
management from GBP 304 million to GBP 371 million  
on a look through basis in the year under review and our 
distributable earnings by 7% to 9.1 GBP pence per share. 
The Company benefited from the good relationships we have 
established with commercial property agents able to 
introduce the Company’s asset management team to very 
good “off market” opportunities. 

There has been some recent negative sentiment towards the 
listed property sector in South Africa and as a consequence 
I consider it necessary to provide shareholders with an 
assurance that our properties are carried in the books at 
values which have been determined by independent valuers 
or the Company’s directors and have been reviewed by the 
auditors for year end reporting purposes. 

Of significance during the year under review was the off- 
market acquisition of a portfolio of DFS retail outlets in a joint 
venture with LondonMetric Property Plc; a prominent UK 
property company listed on the London Stock Exchange, with 
whom we have established a very good working relationship. 
This was financed by a highly successful “book build” 
underwritten by our largest shareholder, Vukile, which also 
provided the Company with additional cash resources to 
pursue the acquisition of two large commercial properties 
strategically located in Crewe and Knowsley, both with 
attractive “asset management” potential in the future.

I am very pleased with the progress we have made to date in 
becoming a successful listed commercial property company 
with a diversified portfolio of commercial properties which 
meet our investment criteria in terms of location, quality, 
tenant covenant and yield. 

We did experience one unfortunate and unexpected tenant default but this 
did not have a material impact on the results for the year under review and 
good progress is being made with securing a replacement tenant for the 
building in question. We have carried out a detailed review of the due 
diligence into the tenant at the time of the acquisition of the property and 
nothing of concern was identified. 

The transfer of our listing to the main board of the JSE in November 2016 
together with our continued progress in growing our assets under 
management have seen a higher level of liquidity and trading in the 
Company’s shares which is most encouraging.

We continue to benefit from a dedicated management team, which remains 
well placed to identify further acquisition opportunities in the United 
Kingdom. We have no plans to expand to other countries in the short to 
medium term and will continue to pursue commercial property acquisitions 
in the United Kingdom that meet our investment criteria and will deliver 
attractive sterling returns to the Company’s shareholders. 

In compliance with King IV we have restructured the committees of the 
Board and in addition to the Audit, Investment and Risk committees have 
established a Social and Ethics Committee, which has Remuneration and 
Nominations within its mandate. Rudolf Pretorius has been nominated Lead 
Independent Director. 

 

 

Peter Bacon
Chairman

Despite the ongoing uncertainty about the impact of 
Brexit on the economy of the United Kingdom, where 
all of the Company’s property assets are located, the 
commercial property sector has performed well with 
industrial logistics assets experiencing significant 
yield compression over the past year. 

DEAR SHAREHOLDERS

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my colleagues 
on the Board and the management of the Company for their 
collective contribution to the progress we have made as a 
young company with a clear vision to deliver superior 
returns to our shareholders from a well balanced and low 
risk portfolio of strategically located commercial properties 
in the United Kingdom. 

REPORT
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Our loan to value at year end was 46% and is in our target range. Our average 
debt maturity has dropped to below two years (which is below our target), 
however this has been part of our strategy so that we can refinance maturing 
debt into a large single pool and achieve a more attractive debt package. Once 
our debt has been refinanced, we are expecting a maturity term of three to four 
years and we will continue to hedge 75% of the debt. All debt covenants were 
met during the year under review.

Growing the portfolio and considering new assets is dependent on asset pricing 
for the quality of assets we aspire to as yields have contracted recently. The 
Company’s share price would need to re-rate in order for our cost of capital to 
be at a level where we can raise capital and afford to do accretive transactions.  
Our focus on the existing portfolio is to work more closely with our tenants and 
to reconfigure the portfolio by selling some of the smaller assets and to replace 
them with a larger complementary asset. 

As always there is much to be done but, I believe overall, we are moving in the 
right direction. One of the key strategies historically had been to rapidly grow 
our assets under management to achieve more scale, and to date we have 
mainly done this in an incremental manner backed by matched capital raises. 
Looking forward, we will focus on maximizing our current asset base and 
potentially seeking a transformational transaction or portfolio acquisition.  
To assist the Company to be more competitive and positioned for the future as 
a UK focused property company we have proposed that the Company convert to 
a UK REIT and will be seeking shareholder approval to implement this initiative. 

The conversion to a UK REIT will bring the Company in line with most other 
property companies, which will even the playing field in terms of comparability. 
We also believe the Company will be more competitive in attracting new 
investors and that REIT status gives long-term tax clarity to shareholders.  
The conversion to a REIT will also involve moving the Company’s jurisdiction  
of incorporation to Jersey, with which UK businesses and regulators are  
more familiar.

It is anticipated that the conversion to a REIT and the change in jurisdiction  
will take place in the second half of this financial year, subject to the requisite 
regulatory approvals. Once complete, UK REIT registration will align the 
Company and its operations all within the UK where its assets and borrowings 
are based.

Atlantic Leaf’s proposition is that it is a company with a solid asset base with 
strong property fundamentals that continues to benefit from borrowings in a low 
UK interest environment. Management is targeting that the Company will 
continue to grow its distribution to shareholders and has given guidance 
of a 5% increase for 2018/2019. 

 

Paul Leaf-Wright
Chief Executive Officer

I am pleased to report that the Company delivered on 
the strategic objectives set by the Board for the 2018 
year. The Company has grown and met its distribution 
target for the third consecutive year distributing  
9.1 GBP pence for 2018 up 7% from 2017. 

I would like to express my appreciation for the support and guidance 
from Peter, our Chairman, and all the other members of the Board over 
the past year. I am fortunate to have a strong, dedicated management 
team who are all passionate about the success of Atlantic Leaf. We as  
a team, look forward to continue growing the Company for the benefit  
of all stakeholders. 

We also grew our assets under management to GBP 371 million 
on a look through basis and now have a solid base from 
which to grow even further. The current year had limited 
contractual rental escalations on our existing leases and it  
is thus pleasing that we could still show a 7% increase in 
distributions. Looking forward there are good escalations for 
our Booker and DHL leases in 2019/2020 which will support 
our forward earnings. 

During the year we entered into a strategic partnership with 
LondonMetric Property Plc investing into a retail warehouse 
portfolio in which the Company owns a 45% stake. This 
portfolio consists of 10 properties all let to DFS and are 
valued at GBP 98 million (our share being GBP 44 million). 
We also purchased two assets being Buffaload and, post 
year end, the Deacon Park asset for GBP 15.8 million, 
increasing our assets under management to GBP 387 million 
at the date of this report. 

We have continued to develop our framework of corporate 
governance to improve reporting and disclosure of financial 
information. We have also focused on strengthening our risk 
management processes. 

REPORT
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NO OF 
SHAREHOLDERS

FIN
AN

CIA
L

OVERVIEW

ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE

9.1 pence
FY 2017: 9.0 PENCE

DISTRIBUTION PER SHARE

9.1 pence
FY 2017: 8.5 PENCE

REVENUE

GBP 24.1 million
FY 2017: GBP 21.3 mil l ion

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
FORWARD YIELD ON AUM*
 7.1%
FY 2017: 7.3%

HEDGE* 

66%
FY 2017: 74%

WEIGHTED AVERAGE  
DEBT MATURITY*

2.0 years
FY 2017: 2.9 YEARS

PROPERTY COST TO INCOME1

1.03%
FY 2017: 1.11%

TOTAL COST-TO- INCOME1

13.75%
FY 2017: 13.50%

T O TA L  P R O P E RT Y 
M A N A G E M E N T 
EXPENSE RAT IO2

0.26%
FY 2017: 0.31%

TOTAL OPERATING2 
EXPENSE RAT IO 

0.81%
FY 2017: 0.74%

GEARING* 46%
FY 2017 47%

WEIGHTED AVERAGE 
COST OF  DEBT*

3.2%
FY 2017: 3.2%

M
AR

KE
T 

CA
PI

TA
LI

SA
TI

ON

GBP 198 million
FY 2017: GBP 157 million

ZAR 3.2 billion
FY 2017: ZAR 2.4 billion

NO OF SHARES IN ISSUE AT 
REPORTING DATE

CO
ST

-T
O-

IN
CO

M
E 

RA
TI

OS
 (A

FS
)

TOTAL EXPENSE RAT IO

1.07%
FY 2017: 1.06%

487
FEB 2017: 324

188 976 628 
FEB 2017: 142 671 209

SHARE PRICE

GBP

1.05 
FEB 2017: GBP 1.10

 ZAR

17.00
FEB 2017: ZAR 16.92 GBP/ZAR

Exchange ra te
ZAR 16.23
FEB 2017: ZAR 16.26N

EW
 E

QU
IT

Y 
RA

IS
ED GBP 45.7 million

FY 2017: GBP 19.5 million

1  Head rents netted of against income.
2  Based on average assets under 

management throughout the year.

* On proportional look through basis to JV
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EARNINGS 
The weighted average adjusted headline earnings per share for the 
period is 9.1 GBP pence per share and in line with management’s 
expectations. The Company’s primary earnings is rental income from 
directly held properties. During the year, the Company entered into a 
joint venture with LondonMetric Properties Plc to purchase a portfolio 
of properties tenanted by DFS Trading Limited (“DFS JV”). The 
Company has a 45.02% interest in the joint venture and the earnings 
from the joint venture have been equity accounted. A summary of the 
adjusted earnings for Atlantic Leaf for the year is shown in the 
graph below:

ADJUSTED EARNINGS
(GBP MILLIONS)
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DIVIDENDS
Following the interim distribution paid to shareholders of 4.5 GBP pence 
per share, Atlantic Leaf announced a final dividend of 4.6 GBP pence per 
share for the six months ended 28 February 2018. This brings the annual 
distribution to 9.1 GBP pence per share, an increase of 7% over the 2017 
distribution of 8.5 GBP pence per share. 

DISTRIBUTION PROFILE 
(PENCE)

2018

2017

2016

9.1

8.5

7.0

¢ Interim           ¢ Final

3.0 4.0

4.2 4.3

4.5 4.6

 

CAPITAL RAISING ACTIVITIES 
During the year under review, the Company raised the  
following equity which has been fully deployed into income 
producing assets.

NUMBER OF 
SHARES PRICE

CAPITAL
RAISED NET OF 

COSTS

20 Sep 2017 46 305 419 GBP 1.015 GBP 45 694 938

INVESTMENT PROPERTY AND 
VALUATIONS
Including a proportional look through to the DFS JV, the 
Company has grown its portfolio of properties across the 
UK by 22% to GBP 371 million (2017: GBP 304 million). 
Direct property acquisitions during the period totalled 
GBP 12.3 million and there were no direct property disposals 
during the year. The equity in the DFS JV was purchased for 
GBP 24.8 million and the proportional share of the investment 
properties in the DFS JV at year end was valued at 
GBP 44.3 million. 

In line with the accounting policy of the Group, the assets in 
the portfolio are valued by independent valuers at least once 
every 3 years. These valuations are undertaken in accordance 
with the appropriate sections of the current Practice 
Statements contained in the Royal Institution of Chartered 
Surveyors Valuations – Professional Standards (Red Book).  
The valuations of all properties are reviewed by management 
on a quarterly basis, taking into account market forces such as 
yield movement, occupier and investor sentiment, supply and 
demand as well as other valuation principles to establish 
whether there is likely to be a material difference in asset 
value. The reviews are presented to the Board for approval. 
An external desktop valuation, in accordance with Royal 
Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) standards, is 
carried out every 12 months.

The property portfolio had a net upward revaluation of 
GBP 4 million for the current financial year. The net revaluation 
also included a write down of over GBP 3.5 million on the 
property in Haydock to vacant possession value. The property 
was formerly tenanted by Palmer & Harvey McLane Limited 
who went into administration in November 2017, however the 
value of this property would be expected to increase once this 
property is re-let.

Consistent with IFRS, acquisition costs are capitalised to the 
value of the property on acquisition. Since inception, the 
Company has capitalised costs of GBP 8.6 million in its 
portfolio, including approximately GBP 750,000 during the 
current year. The largest component of these costs is stamp 
duty on acquisitions which is calculated at 5% of the 
purchase price. IFRS requires investment properties to be 
held at fair value and thus most revaluations completed 
shortly after a property purchase would result in a 
revaluation loss, as values would have not increased 
sufficiently to absorb all acquisition costs.

NET ASSET VALUE (“NAV”)
As at 28 February 2018 the NAV per share of the Company 
was GBP 1.08 (2017: GBP 1.08). The revaluations of the 
investment properties had a positive effect on the NAV, 
however the capital that was raised at an effective price per 
share of GBP 0.99 had a corresponding negative impact and 
offset this increase.

DEBT AND HEDGING
Atlantic Leaf has a target loan-to-value (“LTV”) ratio of 50%  
and given the long-term nature of the leases it has in place 
and the relatively low overall cost of debt, management is 
comfortable with the current LTV level. Atlantic Leaf’s asset 
yield of 7.1% provides a positive carry above the weighted 
average cost of debt of 3.2% at year end.

It is the intention to refinance a large portion of the debt 
portfolio during the 2019 financial year which will extend 
the maturity profile. The debt maturity profile has been 
deliberately reduced over time to minimise the impact of any 
refinancing charges and early termination penalties. Indicative 
terms have been received from several funders and given 
market conditions at the date of this report, it is anticipated 
that the Company will be able to refinance the debt. 
 

The Group does not take speculative positions on interest 
rate contracts and will purchase interest rate swaps for a 
portion of its debt. At year end the fair value of the swap 
liability was GBP 0,6 million (2017: GBP 1,9 million). The 
market value of the swaps is market dependent and as the 
yield curve increased during the year, the swap liability 
decreased. 

All debt covenants were complied with during the year 
under review.

REFER     T O  NOTE 20 IN THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS ON PAGE 99 
FOR FURTHER INFORMATION.
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LOAN TO
VALUE RATIO* 
(%)
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COST OF DEBT* 
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DEBT MATURITY 
(YEARS)
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B 
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3.4

2.9

2.0

DEBT HEDGED* 
(%)
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B 
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16
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B 

20
17

FE
B 

20
18

63

74

66

EVENTS AFTER THE 
REPORTING DATE
On 23 March 2018, Atlantic Leaf completed 
the acquisition of a multi-let industrial and 
office property known as Deacon Park in 
Knowsley, UK. The net purchase 
consideration (excluding transaction related 
costs) for the transaction was GBP 14.9 
million, being GBP 15.4 million less the 
principal rent which would have been 
payable pursuant to the leases but for the 
unexpired rent free, concessionary or 
discounted rent period in these occupational 
leases.

The acquisition was financed through bank 
funding and existing cash reserves. 

TOTAL DEBT REPAYMENTS AT MATURITY**
(MILLIONS)
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38

6

19

13

47

15 16

2018 2019 2020 2021
 
**  The debt expiry profile includes the debt originated 

post year end

* On proportional and look through basis to JV
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PERIGEUM CAPITAL AND 
JAVA CAPITAL

STRUCTURE Debt 
providers

Property portfolio

THE B O A R D 
is responsible for the overall 
strategic direction of Atlantic 
Leaf and for ensuring a 
robust operational and 
control framework is in place 
for efficient and effective 
performance. 

SEM
Primary  
Listing

Mauritius

JSE
Primary Listing

South  
Africa

M A RT I A L  E A G L E ’ S 
management role and its provision 
of support and advisory services 
are covered under the Property 
Services Agreement (“PSA”) with 
Atlantic Leaf. Martial Eagle’s role 
and responsibilities primarily 
include:

•  Strategic Support Services 
which include developing and 
maintaining shareholder 
relationships, assisting the 
Company in raising capital from 
investors and third party 
financiers, and Board support. 

•  Property Portfolio 
Management Services which 
include investment 
identification and assistance 
with the execution of selected 
transactions, managing the 
property portfolio to maximise 
returns, and oversight of the 
Property Manager.

•  Operational Management 
Services  
including general financial and 
accounting responsibilities, in 
particular how they relate to 
internal and external reporting 
to regulators and shareholders, 
and assistance with the 
Company’s risk and compliance 
frameworks.

 Martial Eagle has offices in both 
Mauritius and the United Kingdom, 
providing Atlantic Leaf with a 
broad base of global experience 
and a valuable presence in each 
jurisdiction.

Wholly-owned subsidiaries

ATLANTIC LEAF 
PROPERTIES 

Incorporated in Mauritius 
GBCL1 Company

MARTIAL EAGLE

INTERCONTINENTAL TRUST

KEY SERVICE PROVIDERS

•  underlying sub-committees that have 
been established with clearly defined 
roles and responsibilities. The 
sub-committees provide targeted 
support with regards to the 
Company’s investment strategy, 
identifying and mitigating risks 
whilst promoting strong governance 
and compliance, overseeing the 
external audit function and system of 

internal controls, the remuneration 
and evaluation of directors and the 
Board, and oversight and promotion 
of the Company’s responsible 
corporate citizenship.

•  Martial Eagle in its capacity as the 
Company’s external management 
company. Martial Eagle provides a 
number of vital support and advisory 
services to the Board.

• Strategic support

•  Asset management and 
investment advisory

•  Operational management

•  Company secretarial 

• Administration

•  Regulatory compliance

ORBIT PROPERTY MANAGEMENT

•  Leading UK-based commercial 
property managers 

•  Manages Atlantic Leaf’s directly 
held property portfolio

•      Listing sponsors and advisors in 
relation to the SEM and the JSE

•      Guidance with ongoing listing 
obligations 

Board of Directors 
• RISK COMMITTEE

•  AUDIT COMMITTEE
• INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

•  REMUNERATION, NOMINATION,  
AND SOCIAL AND ETHICS  

COMMITTEE

CAPITAL

The success of the Board is underpinned by the support of:

REFER     TO NOTE 27 IN THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
FOR MORE DETAIL ON RELATED PARTIES.

39   Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 

INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  

2018



41   Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 

INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  

2018

40    Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 
INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018

AREA OF  EXPERT ISE

BO
AR

D
MEMBERS

OF THE

3 WARREN MORTON [48]
F INANCIAL  D IRECTOR
BCompt; BCompt Hons; MCom Taxation; CA(SA)

Date appointed: 21 February 2014. Years of service: 4

Expertise: L | F  | G | HR | TX | IB | FM  

Warren qualified as a Chartered Accountant in 1997.  
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree with Honours in 
Accountancy from the University of South Africa. Warren 
also completed a Master of Commerce degree in Taxation 
from the University of the Witwatersrand in 2007. Warren 
completed his Articles in 1993. He has 23 years of 
working experience of which most has been in the 
Financial Services Industry with significant experience in 
Investment Banking as well as Fund Management and 
Administration. His roles have, amongst other senior 
positions included Chief Operating Officer of Rand 
Merchant Bank’s Investment Banking Division, as well 
as Group Financial Director at Oryx Investment 
Management and Equinox.

2 PAUL LEAF-WRIGHT [56] 
CH IEF  EXECUT IVE  OFF ICER
BCom; CA(SA)

Date appointed: 11 November 2013. Years of service: 4

Expertise: L | S  | P | F | G | TR | TX | FM | IP | IB | PE

Paul has over 28 years of property and financial services 
experience. He established Leaf Capital in 2004, together 
with Jacqui Hathorn. Paul completed his articles and 
qualified as a Chartered Accountant at Deloitte and Touche 
in 1986. He subsequently held various roles in NBS Bank 
and BoE (subsequently Nedbank Ltd) which included 
financial and strategy director, head of treasury, director of 
property and asset finance, and head of wealth 
management. During his years in the banking sector his 
roles included running the bank’s private equity division, 
co-ordinating mergers and acquisitions of both bank and 
third party deals, establishment of BEE companies and 
funding of a wide range of projects. Paul has also served 
on the boards of a number of listed companies.

1 PETER BACON [71] 
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUT IVE  CHAIRMAN
 National Diploma in Hotel Keeping and Catering; 
Stanford Executive Programme

Date appointed: 8 July 2014. Years of service: 4

Other listed company directorships: 1

Expertise: L | S  | P | F | G 

Peter was appointed as independent non-executive 
director and Chairman of Atlantic Leaf on 8 July 2014. 
Peter has over 38 years’ experience in the hospitality, 
resorts and gaming industry. He is currently a non-
executive director of Sun International Holdings and 
previously served as an executive director of  
Sun International’s board from 1994 and as the group’s 
Chief Executive from 1994 until 2006. Peter also served as 
a director of Woolworths Holdings Limited until November 
2017. In addition, he previously served as Chairman of 
each of the National Sea Rescue Institute, Cape Town 
Routes Unlimited and the Tourism Grading Council 
Awards Committee.

6 NICHOLAS WINEARLS [65] 
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUT IVE  D IRECTOR

Date appointed: 8 July 2014. Years of service: 4

Expertise: L | F  | G | TX | FM | IB

Cape Town born Nick Winearls started his professional 
career in 1975 at The Board of Executors (later rebranded 
as BoE) in Cape Town, with responsibility for the structuring 
of the affairs of high net worth clients both domestically 
and internationally. In 1987, he emigrated with his family 
to the Isle of Man to join accountants Touche Ross and Co 
in their newly established Offshore Department dealing 
extensively with IPOs. In 1999, he re-joined BoE to 
establish and head up their international trust company in 
the Isle of Man. In 2009, he moved to Monaco following his 
appointment as a Client Director of independent trust 
company Landmark Management SAM, where he manages 
a portfolio of globally based structures for clients.

7 KESAVEN MOOTHOOSAMY [35]
NON-EXECUT IVE  D IRECTOR
BSc, FCCA

Date appointed: 11 November 2013. Years of service: 4

Other listed company directorships: 2

Expertise: L | F  | G | FM | IB 

Kesaven is an Executive Director of Perigeum Capital.  
He was, until June 2016, a Senior Manager in the Capital 
Market Advisory team of a leading management company 
in Mauritius. For the past 12 years, in the Mauritius 
financial services industry, he has acquired experience 
ranging from fund formation and administration, fund 
accounting, Mauritius regulatory matters, investment 
structuring, transaction advisory to capital raising and 
listing on Securities Exchanges. He is actively involved on 
various initiatives to enhance the attractiveness of the 
SEM. He is also a board member of SEM listed companies 
and a number of funds established in Mauritius. He 
graduated from the University of Mauritius with a  
B.Sc (Hons) in Accounting with Information Systems and 
holds a MBA in Leadership and Innovation. He is also a 
fellow member of the Association Of Chartered Certified 
Accountants UK (FCCA), a member of the Mauritius 
Institute of Professional Accountants (MIPA) and Member 
of the Mauritius Institute of Directors (MiOD).

8 RUDOLF PRETORIUS [56]  
LE
BCompt Hons

Date appointed: 11 April 2016. Years of service: 2

Other listed company directorships: 1

Expertise: L | S  | F | G | IB | PE

After qualifying as a Chartered Accountant in South Africa 
in the mid 1980’s, Rudolf spent twelve years with Rand 
Merchant Bank and the FirstRand banking group, before 
founding Treacle Private Equity (Pty) Ltd in 2000. Treacle 
raised and managed two successful general South African 
focused private equity funds between 2000 and 2015. 
Rudolf is currently resident in Mauritius where he is a 
director of Adansonia Holdings, and serves on the boards 
of various investee companies spanning the information 
technology and financial services industries in Mauritius, 
sub-Saharan Africa and the USA. He also acts as 
independent non-executive director (and investment 
committee member) for a number of USA and South 
African based private equity funds that principally  
invest in Africa.

5 CLEOPATRA FOLKES [36]
INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUT IVE  D IRECTOR 

Date appointed: 19 November 2014. Years of service: 3

Expertise: L | S  | P | G 

After graduating in 2005 with a distinction in Veterinary 
Medicine, Cleo spent 3 years in private small animal 
practice as a Veterinary Surgeon with an active role in the 
business management. Since joining Folkes Holdings Ltd 
in 2009 Cleo has quickly risen up the ranks from Business 
Development to Director of Operations to her current 
position as Deputy Chairman. She holds active positions 
on the boards of all the Folkes Holding Group companies; 
both engineering and property related and additionally 
holds a directorship and alternate directorship on the 
boards of two private South African property funds. 
Cleo also actively participates in the Young Investors 
Organisation which is a global network of next  
generation leaders.

4 LAURENCE RAPP [47] 
NON-EXECUT IVE  D IRECTOR
BCom (Hons), Wharton Executive Programme

Date appointed: 12 October 2015. Years of service: 3

Other listed company directorships: 1

Expertise: L | S  | P | F | G | TR | FM | IB | PE

Laurence is currently the CEO of Vukile Property Fund 
Limited, one of South Africa’s largest listed REITs, and 
former Chairman of the SA REIT Association. He has 
significant property experience and has led Vukile through 
various corporate activities, including the acquisition of 
Synergy Income Fund. In addition to his wealth of property 
experience Laurence has extensive experience in the 
financial services environment, spanning investment 
banking, private equity, retail banking, and insurance  
and asset management. He was previously a director  
of Standard Bank, as head of the Insurance and Asset 
management divisions, and prior to that was in charge  
of the Strategic Investments and Alliances division.

Vukile is a major shareholder of Atlantic Leaf.
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STATEMENT OF 
COMPLIANCE
The Board is committed to the 
promotion and outcomes of good 
governance through the exercise of 
ethical and effective leadership 
which is fundamental in King IV and 
the Code. In so doing, it aims to 
ensure that the Company is, and is 
seen to be, creating sustainable 
development through integrated 
thinking, stakeholder inclusivity, and 
in realising that the organisation is 
integral to society and should be a 
good corporate citizen. The 
outcomes of such governance 
include an ethical culture, effective 
control and good performance. The 
Board confirms that at the date of 
this report the Company has applied 
the recommendations of King IV 
and the Code in all material 
respects.

THE BOARD OF 
DIRECTORS
The Board is responsible for the 
overall strategic direction of the 
Company and for preparing a robust 
control framework. Such a 
framework establishes the policies, 
guidelines and benchmarks for a 
system of internal controls including 
the monitoring and reviewing of 
reporting presented to the Board 
and its sub-committees and 
delegation of authority through an 
approval framework.

The Board meets at least four times 
a year to review the performance of 
the Company, and once to discuss 
strategic direction and implement 
strategic decisions. The roles of 
CEO and Chairman are clearly 
separated to ensure a balance of 
power and authority. The directors 
hold a diverse range of skills and 
business experience in property, 
finance and corporate governance, 
which will assist with sustained 
growth and successful operations in 
the long term. These factors are 
considered and assessed as part of 
the Board’s annual evaluation of its 
members, sub-committees and its 
own function.

The Board also annually evaluates 
both the Chairperson and CEO’s 
performance and ability to add value 
to the Company. 

These evaluations for 2018 were 
finalised and presented at the 
Board’s strategy meeting in 
February 2018.

COMPOSITION OF THE 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Atlantic Leaf regularly reviews the 
composition of the Board to determine 
if the appropriate skills and experience 
are available and to improve the 
structures that are in place. The Board 
composition has remained the same 
as the previous year, and the number 
of members is considered 
commensurate with the size of the 
Company. Its membership currently 
comprises two executive directors and 
six non-executive directors, of whom 
four are considered independent, 
including the Chairman. Nicholas 
Winearls also serves as a common 
director on two of the Company’s 
subsidiaries, ALP Guernsey Limited 
and ALF Guernsey Limited. 

The constitution of the Board ensures 
that there is an appropriate balance of 
power and authority within the Board 
such that no one individual or block of 
individuals dominates the Board’s 
decision-making. In addition, the 
Board’s charter provides for directors 
to take independent professional 
advice where necessary and at the 
Company’s expense, to ensure they 
are in the best position to carry out 
their duties and responsibilities. All 
directors also have access to the 
advice and services of the Company 
Secretary.

APPOINTMENT OF 
DIRECTORS
The Board bears ultimate responsibility 
for director appointments, and is 
assisted in this function by the 
Remuneration, Nomination and Social 
and Ethics Committee. Such 
appointments are formal and 
transparent, and the selection process 
is conducted in accordance with the 
guidelines of the Company’s director 
appointment policy. This policy  
ensures that the Board has the right 
balance of experience, skills and 
competencies to be able to lead the 
Company and its business activities in 
line with the principles of King IV and 
to achieve its governance outcomes 
over time. 

The director appointment policy 
establishes the processes the 
sub-committee must adhere to in the 
nomination of candidates to both new 
or newly vacant positions. Such 
nominations will ultimately be 
recommended to the Board for 
approval, subject to final approval by 
shareholders at the Annual General 
Meeting. The policy also details the 
procedures for a formal induction 
process, including the offering of a 
mentor and training to ensure efficient 
performance.CO
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2 EXECUTIVE  
DIRECTORS

2 NON- 
INDEPENDENT  
DIRECTORS

INDEPENDENT DIRECTORS

GENDER AND DIVERSITY
Atlantic Leaf is committed to ensuring 
ethical standards apply in all areas of 
business, with a focus on equal 
opportunities. The Company 
recognises and embraces the benefits 
of having a diverse Board 
membership, and each year reviews 
its diversity policy to support this aim. 
The Company believes a truly diverse 
board will include and make good use 
of differences in the skills, regional 
and industry experience, background, 
race, gender and other distinctions 
between directors. These differences 
are considered and promoted by the 
Board in determining its optimum 
composition and will be balanced 
appropriately. 

To realise the benefits of a varied 
membership the Board reviews and 
assesses its composition on an 
ongoing basis and when appointing 
new directors. All Board appointments 
are made on merit and with due 
regard for the optimal functioning of 
the Board, which relies on diverse 
membership and a prejudice free 
environment.

The Board currently comprises one 
female and seven males. There is a 
balance in age between members.  
The current membership has diverse 
regional splits, skills and backgrounds. 
The Board is comfortable that the 
current members are the most 
appropriate for their roles, in line with 
the broader diversity policy, however 
Atlantic Leaf’s future director 
appointments will continue to be 
considered with due emphasis on the 
benefits of diversity.
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2 PEOPLE

4 YEARS  
5 PEOPLE

4 INDEPENDENT  
DIRECTORS

BOARD STRUCTURE

2 EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS 5 NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

1 CHAIRMAN
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ORGANISATIONAL ETHICS
Ethical conduct is a vital element of the Company’s corporate 
governance, and all members of the group are expected to 
comply with its policies in this regard. To establish clear 
expectations, the Board adopted a Code of Ethics during the 
year, and to assist it to monitor compliance with this, a 
whistle-blower policy has been adopted, and specific 
sections in the annual board and director evaluations cover 
ethical conduct. The Company’s continued compliance with 
the ethics policies will be a focus for the next evaluations, 
and is monitored by the Remuneration, Nomination and 
Social and Ethics Committee.

BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board is assisted in the performance of its duties by four 
sub-committees: an Audit Committee, Risk Committee, 
Investment Committee and a Remuneration, Nomination and 
Social and Ethics Committee. 

During the year, the Remuneration Committee charter was 
expanded to include the nomination function and to have 
oversight of the Company’s corporate social responsibility to 
further enhance the Company’s corporate governance 
structure. All four sub-committees have formal charters 
outlining their roles and responsibilities, and the charters are 
reviewed and approved by the Board annually. 

The Board is aware that such delegation of duties is not an 
abdication of the Board members’ responsibilities. Full 
transparency and disclosure of committee deliberations is 
encouraged, and the chair of each committee provides 
feedback at each Board meeting summarising the 
committee’s discussions. The minutes of all committee 
meetings are also provided to all directors. 

The composition of each committee, and the attendance of 
each member at committee meetings, is indicated in the 
table on page 45. External advisors, management and 
executive directors who are not members of specific 
committees may attend committee meetings by invitation, if 
deemed appropriate by the relevant committees and where 
such attendance would be of benefit to the committee. All 
Board members are entitled to attend committee meetings 
as an observer.

Audit Committee
The Audit Committee assists the Board by providing 
oversight of the financial reporting process, systems of 
internal control, effectiveness of external audit process and 
compliance with legislation and regulatory requirements. 

The committee evaluates the annual financial statements 
and integrated report and makes recommendations to the 
Board for their approval. The committee reviews accounting 
policies adopted in the preparation of financial statements 
and the basis for significant estimates and judgements. 

REFER       T O  PA GES 48 – 49 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON  
THE AUDIT COMMITTEE REPORT 

Risk Committee
The Risk Committee is responsible for managing the  
Group’s strategic and operational risks, and ensuring the 
Company operates a robust risk management framework.  
In accordance with the Company’s risk management policy, 
management maintains a comprehensive risk matrix register 
and the register and a key report are provided to the 
committee for consideration at each meeting. 

REFER     TO PAGES 52 – 57 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE RISK COMMITTEE REPORT,  
INCLUDING A SUMMARY OF THE KEY RISKS IDENTIFIED

Investment Committee
The Investment Committee’s responsibilities primarily include 
the approval and maintenance of the Company’s investment 
policy, and consideration of all acquisitions, disposals and 
capital expenditure decisions. Where investment opportunities 
are in line with its investment policy, the committee will 
consider and recommend a course of action to the Board for 
approval.

REFER      TO PAGES 50 – 51 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE INVESTMENT  
COMMITTEE REPORT

Remuneration, Nomination and Social 
and Ethics Committee
During the year the Remuneration Committee expanded its 
mandate and function to include the nomination and social and 
ethics functions. The committee’s duties and responsibilities 
now include:

• maintaining the remuneration policy and recommending the 
level of directors’ fees payable to non-executive directors; 

• developing and maintaining formal and transparent 
procedures for the recommendation of appointments and 
reappointments to the Board and the sub-committees, 
succession planning and board evaluations; and

• providing oversight of the Company’s organisational ethics, 
responsible corporate citizenship, sustainable development 
and stakeholder relationships.

REFER      TO PAGES 58 – 61 FOR FURTHER INFORMATION ON THE REMUNERATION, 
NOMINATION AND SOCIAL AND ETHICS COMMITTEE REPORT

INFORMATION AND TECHNOLOGY 
GOVERNANCE
The Board is ultimately responsible for information and 
technology (“IT”) governance. The IT function is 
outsourced to two third-party service providers and is 
governed by service level agreements. Compliance with 
the service level agreements is monitored by 
management, and the terms and performance are 
reviewed on a regular basis. There is a dedicated 
member of the management team who oversees the IT 
function and prepares the Company’s annual IT risk and 
infrastructure assessment. This report, and the 
Company’s IT-related risks and controls are provided to 
and considered by the Risk Committee each year.

Key areas of focus during the period centred around 
further reliability and security improvements of the 
IT function. Management enhanced the information 
back-up function and improved its defences against 
cybersecurity risks. The Board is satisfied with these 
outcomes and continues to monitor improvements and 
risk management strategies in this area.

DIRECTORS’ ATTENDANCE AT BOARD AND COMMITTEE MEETINGS DURING THE YEAR

DIRECTOR TITLE1

DATE OF 
APPOINTMENT BOARD

INVESTMENT 
COMMITTEE

AUDIT 
COMMITTEE

RISK 
COMMITTEE

REMUNERATION, 
NOMINATION, 

SOCIAL AND 
ETHICS2

P Bacon INED 8 Jul 14 5/5* 4/4* 2/2

N Winearls INED 8 Jul 14 5/5 4/4 4/4*

C Folkes INED 19 Nov 14 5/5 4/4 4/4

R Pretorius INED 1 Apr 16 5/5 4/4* 4/4 2/2*

K Moothoosamy NED 11 Nov 13 5/5 3/43

P Leaf-Wright ED 11 Nov 13 5/5 4/4 4/4

W Morton ED 21 Feb 14 5/5 4/4

L Rapp NED 12 Oct 15 4/54 3/44   2/2

Notes:            
* Denotes Chairmanship of committee indicated     
1  INED = Independent non-executive director; NED = Non-executive director; ED = Executive director   
2  The Remuneration, Nomination, Social and Ethics Committee was constituted on 11 July 2017 and the first meeting was  

held in January 2018.
3 Kesaven Moothoosamy did not attend the Risk Committee meeting in April 2018.
4  Laurence Rapp did not attend the Investment Committee meeting in July 2017 and the Board meeting in October 2017,  

and other Vukile executives attended on his behalf. 

DEALING IN SHARES BY 
THE DIRECTORS 
Dealing in the Company’s shares by directors, company officers 
and the Company Secretary is regulated and monitored as 
required by the SEM Listing Rules and JSE Listings 
Requirements. The directors confirm that they have followed the 
absolute prohibition principles and notification requirements of 
the Model Code for Securities Transactions by directors as 
detailed in Appendix 6 of the SEM Listing Rules. Trading in the 
Company’s shares by directors requires prior written approval by 
the Chairman of the Board. Atlantic Leaf maintains a closed 
period from the end of a financial period to the date of publication 
of the financial results for that period.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AS AT  
28 FEBRUARY 2018 

DIRECTOR
DIRECT 

INTEREST
INDIRECT 
INTEREST

TOTAL 
INTEREST

P Bacon 0.10% – 0.10%

N Winearls 0.02% – 0.02%

C Folkes – – –

R Pretorius – – –

K Moothoosamy – – –

P Leaf-Wright 0.01% 1.04% 1.05%

W Morton 0.03% 0.01% 0.04%

L Rapp 0.07% – 0.07%
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AS AT  
28 FEBRUARY 2017

DIRECTOR
DIRECT 

INTEREST
INDIRECT 
INTEREST

TOTAL 
INTEREST

P Bacon 0.13% – 0.13%

N Winearls 0.01% – 0.01%

C Folkes – – –

R Pretorius – – –

K Moothoosamy – – –

P Leaf-Wright 0.01% 1.37% 1.38%

W Morton 0.04% 0.02% 0.06%

L Rapp 0.09% 0.02% 0.11%

There have been no changes in directors’ interests in shares 
between year end and the date of approval of the annual financial 
statements.

CONFLICTS OF INTEREST 
A list of directors’ interests is maintained by the Company 
Secretary and the updated list is verified by the directors at each 
Board meeting. Directors recuse themselves from any 
discussions and decisions in which they have any financial 
interest.

THE COMPANY SECRETARY
ITL, in its capacity as Company Secretary, provides guidance to 
the Board and to individual members as to how their 
responsibilities should be properly discharged in the best interest 
of the Company. ITL has unrestricted access to the Board in 
order to carry out its duties. The qualifications, experience and 
competence of the Company Secretary, and the individual 
persons who perform the Company Secretary role are considered 
on an annual basis. The Board has considered the quality of 
service and nature of advice provided by ITL and ITL’s ability to 
advise and provide updates on matters relating to the Mauritian 
Companies Act, the Mauritian Report on Corporate Governance 
and other relevant regulations and legislation. The Board has 
considered these attributes and is satisfied that the Company 
Secretary has the necessary skills and experience to carry out its 
duties. The Board further determines whether the Company 
Secretary has maintained an arm’s-length relationship with the 
Board. The following steps have been considered: 

• ITL is one of the largest management companies in Mauritius 
and the provision of company secretarial functions is within 
the ordinary course of its business; 

• ITL’s services are clearly defined in a service level  
agreement with Atlantic Leaf; 

• ITL itself is not a director or material shareholder of  
Atlantic Leaf; 

• ITL does not take on any management or executive  
duties on behalf of the Board;

• ITL has not entered any major contractual relationships  
with the Company or any director.

The Board maintains that the Company Secretary’s 
independence from management has not been 
compromised and there is no conflict in interest.

SUSTAINABILITY 
Atlantic Leaf is committed to sustainable practices and 
seeks to implement such practices and principles in its 
operations as opportunities arise. The Company realises 
that this not only maintains but enhances the value of 
its portfolio. 

Under the terms of most leases in the Company’s 
property portfolio, tenants are responsible for the 
buildings and for improving operational efficiencies at 
property sites. Atlantic Leaf looks to make a positive 
difference to its stakeholders in a sustainable way and 
will remain conscious of the potential measures that can 
be taken to reduce the social and environmental impact 
of its properties. As such the Company aims to work 
together with its occupiers, agents and local authorities 
to comply with all environmental legislation including:

• monitoring and working with occupiers to ensure the 
correct practices are in place and compliant with 
current regulations;

• constantly reviewing for new or changing regulations 
which may impact the portfolio; and

• supporting occupiers’ environmental and social 
initiatives wherever possible through active asset 
management.

REFER     T O PAGE 61 FOR MORE INFORMATION ON THE COMPANY’S 
ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES.

DIVIDEND POLICY 
It is the intention of the Company to distribute the 
majority of its net income to shareholders on a bi-annual 
basis, subject to Board approval.

Given the nature of its business, Atlantic Leaf uses 
distribution per share as its key performance measure 
for trading statement purposes.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS AND 
RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 
The Company has a property service agreement with 
Martial Eagle, as detailed in note 27 of the annual 
financial statements, whereby Martial Eagle provides 
management services to the Atlantic Leaf group.

In addition, the Company has a facility agreement with 
Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”), a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle, in terms of 
which the Company provides direct and indirect debt 
funding to APIL to facilitate its subscription for up to 5% 
of the issued shares of the Company.

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS’ INSURANCE 
AND INDEMNIFICATION 
The directors and officers of Atlantic Leaf benefit from an 
indemnity insurance cover to the extent permitted by law for 
liabilities incurred while performing their duties.

REAPPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR 
The auditor, Mazars, have indicated their willingness to continue 
in office. A resolution covering their re-appointment, with 
Mr. Kriti Taurkoordas and Mr. Duncan Dollman as designated 
partners, has been proposed at the next Annual General Meeting 
of the shareholders in accordance with Section 200 of the 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001.

BROAD-BASED BLACK ECONOMIC 
EMPOWERMENT ANNUAL COMPLIANCE
The Company has obtained a legal opinion which confirms that, 
as a foreign incorporated company, it does not have a reporting 
obligation under section 13G(2) of the South African Broad-Based 
Black Economic Empowerment Act. The Company is therefore 
exempt from the provisions/requirements of paragraph 16.21(g) of 
the JSE Listings Requirements. 

GROUP GOVERNANCE FRAMEWORK
The Board establishes the corporate governance framework for 
both the Company and its wholly-owned subsidiaries. 
Governance principles and policies are designed to apply across 
the group.

OTHER MATTERS 
• The Board is committed to the highest standards of integrity 

and ethical conduct in dealing with all its stakeholders and 
thus relies on the Code in Mauritius and King IV in South 
Africa to guide its approach in this regard; 

• During the reporting period the Company has adopted a 
formalised Code of Ethics, and in line with creating a culture 
of openness and accountability, a whistle-blower policy was 
implemented;

• The Company does not have an employee share option 
scheme; 

• No charitable or political donations have been granted  
during the period; 

• There are no agreements in place with any shareholders  
that affect the governance of the Board or give rise to undue 
influence on its operations.

BOOKER, WOLVERHAMPTON
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KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN  
IN THE REPORTING PERIOD
In addition to fulfilling the above-mentioned responsibilities,  
the committee completed the following initiatives:

• Provided oversight over further improvements to the financial 
reporting system, and enhancements to the quality of quarterly 
financial and risk reporting provided to the committees and  
the Board;

• Implemented additional internal policies specific to the financial 
function, in particular an organisation-wide treasury policy 
covering areas such as liquidity, cash management and interest 
rate risk; and

• Considered and responded to the JSE’s proactive monitoring 
letter issued in relation to the Company’s 2017 annual financial 
statements, and reviewed the JSE’s proactive monitoring 
report on issuers’ 2017 financial statements generally. Matters 
requiring further clarification by the Company were 
documented and have been incorporated into the 2018 
financial statements, and the proactive monitoring process was 
favourably resolved.

FOCUS FOR THE NEXT FINANCIAL YEAR
The following activities have been identified as key focus areas 
for the committee’s attention in the 2019 financial year:

• Implement and monitor the impact of new IFRS standards 
and interpretations not yet adopted but becoming effective  
in the next two financial years (including IFRS 16, IFRS 9, 
IFRS 15); and

• Assess the implications for the Company to convert to a 
UK REIT as it relates to reporting and audit matters. 

INDEPENDENCE OF EXTERNAL AUDITOR
The committee has assessed the independence, expertise and 
objectivity of Mazars as the external auditor. The committee has 
received confirmation from the external auditor that the partners 
and staff responsible for the audit comply with all legal and 
professional requirements with regard to rotation and 
independence, including the stipulation that they do not own 
shares in the Company. 

The committee has also assessed the suitability for appointment 
of Mazars and the individual designated audit partner in line with 
the JSE Listings Requirements and, having reviewed the 
information provided to the committee, is satisfied as to the 
suitability of the audit firm and individual designated audit 
partner.

Mazars Mauritius was appointed and has remained the external 
auditor since 2014. As a result of the primary JSE listing in 
August 2016, Mazars South Africa was also appointed and has 
been an external auditor since FY2017. Each has issued an 
independent audit report for the financial statements as at 
28 February 2018.

The auditor does not, except as external auditor or in rendering 
permitted non-audit services, receive any remuneration or other 
benefit from the Company. 

Audit and audit-related services are defined by the Company 
as follows:

• Services necessary to perform an audit including without 
limitation internal control procedures; and

• Regulatory audits – defined as those audits where the 
auditor is required to give an opinion in relation to a filing 
with any regulatory authority.

Non-audit services are defined as any other service provided 
by the auditor not included above.

Details of fees paid or expected to be paid to Mazars are 
provided below:

SERVICES FEES (GBP)

Audit Fees (FY18)  36 000 

On the above basis, the committee is satisfied that Mazars is 
independent of the organisation. Further, the committee was 
satisfied with the quality and effectiveness of the audit process 
for 2018 as well as the performance of the external auditor and 
recommends that Mazars be reappointment for the ensuing year.

INTERNAL AUDIT
The Company has not established an internal audit function  
as the current structure and the nature and volume of the 
transactions involved does not justify an internal audit 
department.

FINANCIAL FUNCTION REVIEW 
The committee is satisfied that the Finance Director and 
the finance team are sufficiently skilled and qualified to fulfil  
their responsibilities and are adequately resourced to discharge 
their duties. It is also satisfied that the appropriate financial 
reporting procedures exist and are working effectively. 

INTERNAL CONTROLS 
Systems of internal control are designed to manage the 
Company’s exposure to risk as it relates to financial 
reporting, fraud, IT, and internal financial controls, and to 
provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against 
misstatement or loss. 

No material matter has come to the attention of the Board 
that has caused the directors to believe that the Company’s 
system of internal controls and risk management is not 
effective and that the internal financial controls do not form a 
sound basis for the preparation of reliable financial statements. 

The committee has applied its mind to the preparation and 
presentation of the integrated report and acknowledges its 
responsibility to ensure the integrity of the integrated report. 
The committee recommended the integrated report to the 
Board for approval. 

APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE 
REPORT 
The committee confirms that it has functioned in accordance 
with its terms of reference for the 2018 financial year and that 
its report to shareholders has been approved by the Board.

The committee’s responsibilities are  summarised as follows:

•  Ensure that management has created and maintained 
effective financial and operational controls in the group;

• Review and ensure consistency in accounting policies with 
adherence to professional and regulatory pronouncements 
and that unusual or significant transactions are 
appropriately disclosed in the financial statements;

• Oversee the integrity of the integrated report and annual 
financial statements and recommend their approval to the 
Board;

• Review the content of the quarterly financial reports;

• Approve the auditor’s terms of engagement, including the 
nature and extent of any non-audit services; and 

• Oversee the external audit process, including a review of 
any significant findings and key audit matters.

FOCUS DURING THE YEAR

EXTERNAL AUDIT

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER

FINANCIAL AND TAX MANAGEMENT

REGULATORY FEEDBACK AND MONITORING

REVIEW OF FINANCIAL POLICIES AND CONTROLS 

41%

18%

14%

11%

9%

7% 

REVIEW OF QUARTERLY ACCOUNTS
AND ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

AUDIT COMMITTEE 
REPORT

COMPOSITION
The Audit Committee consists of three members, all of whom 
are independent non-executive members of the Board. The 
Board has designated one committee member to serve as the 
chair. The Board has determined that the committee members 
have the skills and experience necessary to contribute 
meaningfully to the committee’s deliberations. In addition, the 
chairman has the requisite experience in accounting and 
financial management.

The following directors served on the committee during the 
year under review:

• Rudolf Pretorius (Chairman of the committee)

• Nicholas Winearls

• Cleopatra Folkes

There were no changes in the composition of the Audit 
Committee in the current financial year. There were four 
committee meetings held during the year and all members 
attended these meetings.

Other regular attendees to the Audit Committee meetings  
by invitation include:

• Peter Bacon (Chairman of the Board)

• Paul Leaf-Wright (Chief Executive Officer)

• Warren Morton (Financial Director)

• Other members of management

• External auditors

• Company Secretary

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee provides the Board with additional assurance 
regarding the efficacy and reliability of the financial 
information used by the directors and assists them in the 
discharge of their duties. 

The primary role of the Audit Committee is to provide 
the Board assistance in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the financial reporting process, the 
system of internal control and the audit process.

RUDOLF PRETORIUS
CHAIRMAN, AUDIT COMMITTEE 
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COMPOSITION
The committee consists of four members of 
the Board, the majority of which are non-
executive members. The Board has designated 
one committee member, an independent 
non-executive director, to serve as the chair. 
The Board has determined that the committee 
members have the skills and experience 
necessary to contribute meaningfully to the 
committee’s deliberations. 

The following directors served on the 
committee during the year under review:

• Peter Bacon (Chairman of the committee)

• Cleopatra Folkes

• Laurence Rapp

• Paul Leaf-Wright

There were no changes in the composition of 
the Investment Committee in the current 
financial year. There were four committee 
meetings held during the year. Laurence Rapp 
did not attend one meeting due to a Jewish 
holiday however another Vukile executive 
attended on his behalf. All other members 
attended all four meetings.

Other regular attendees to the Investment 
Committee meetings by invitation include:

• Warren Morton (Financial Director)

• Shaun Fourie (Chief Investment Officer)

• Other members of management 

• Company Secretary

FOCUS DURING THE YEAR

PORTFOLIO MANAGEMENT

INVESTMENT PERFORMANCE

MARKET ASSESSMENT

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER

TENANT RISK ASSESSMENT AND RESPONSE

36%

19%

17%

12%

10%

6% 

OPPORTUNITY ASSESSMENT
AND IMPLEMENTATION

 
KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN  
IN THE REPORTING PERIOD
Pursuant to its responsibilities above, the committee 
completed the following key initiatives during the year:

• Assessed the merits of various transactions 
presented to the committee, including a number  
of acquisition opportunities that were ultimately 
completed; a joint venture with LondonMetric, an 
industrial property in Crewe as well as a multi-let 
industrial property in Knowsley subsequent to 
year end; 

• Reviewed the qualifying securities for inclusion in 
the listed portfolio, in line with the Company’s 
investment mandate;

• Assessed the current year’s property valuations 
undertaken in the current year; and

• Assessed the property market and investment 
environment, particularly given the current 
negotiations between the European Union  
and United Kingdom relating to Brexit.

FOCUS FOR THE NEXT  
FINANCIAL YEAR
The following activities have been identified as key 
focus areas for the committee’s attention in the  
2019 financial year:

• Extract value from within the existing portfolio 
through ongoing asset management;

• Assess the property market; the supply of suitable 
investment opportunities, demand for potential 
divestment opportunities, as well as the investment 
environment’s effect on property valuations; 

• Assess the implications of Brexit negotiations on 
the property market;

• Monitor the credit risk of tenants; and

• Continually evaluate investment opportunities  
as they are presented.

APPROVAL OF THE  
COMMITTEE REPORT 
The committee confirms that it has functioned in 
accordance with its terms of reference for the 2018 
financial year and that its report to shareholders  
has been approved by the Board.

BOOKER, STOKE

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES 
OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee provides the Board with 
assistance in ensuring that the investment, 
divestment and asset management practices 
are in line with the Company’s strategy.  
The committee’s responsibilities are 
summarised as follows:

• Understanding the Company’s investment 
goals and how the objectives support the 
Company’s mission;

• Maintaining the Company’s investment 
policy;

• Keeping aware of the macro economic 
trends in the property market and 
understanding their impact on the portfolio;

• Monitoring the performance of the portfolio 
and ensuring that investments are made in 
accordance with the Investment Policy; 

• Evaluating and providing recommendations 
on any investment opportunities for the 
portfolio; and

• Monitoring the tenant credit risk within the 
portfolio.

INVESTMENT
C O M M I T T E E  R E P O RT

The role of the Investment Committee is to assist 
the Board by providing recommendations on 
acquisitions, disposals and asset management 
opportunities within the portfolio.
PETER BACON
CHAIRMAN, INVESTMENT COMMITTEE 
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ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES OF 
THE COMMITTEE
The committee assists the Board in the oversight of risk 
management and the internal control environment. The 
committee’s responsibilities are summarised as follows:

• Monitor and review the effectiveness of the 
Company’s risk management framework;

• Oversee and recommend for approval the risk 
management process and risk matrix, and determine 
the key risks which should be highlighted to the Board 
for discussion;

• Participate in management’s process of formulating, 
implementing and continually reviewing the risk 
management plan, and constructively challenge 
management’s proposals and decisions on risk 
management;

• Review the findings of any examinations by regulatory 
agencies as well as any audit observations; and 

• Provide input to the Board and Audit Committee 
regarding risk disclosures in the annual financial 
statements, integrated report and other public 
statements regarding risk.

FOCUS DURING THE YEAR

FINANCIAL
AND TAX
MANAGEMENT

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE,
LEGAL AND COMPLIANCE

TENANT RISK ASSESSMENT AND RESPONSE

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER

35%

26%

17%

11%

11%

RISK MATRIX AND KEY RISK REPORT

KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN IN 
THE REPORTING PERIOD
Pursuant to its responsibilities above, the committee 
completed the following key initiatives during the year:

• Refined the framework for identifying and reporting 
key risks to the Board to better focus its attention on 
the fundamental or significant risks faced by the 
Company; and

• Updated the mandate of the committee to better 
reflect its oversight role over the control of risks. As a 
result, the committee delegated responsibility of 
managing certain risk categories to other committees, 
and in doing so, freed up additional capacity for the 
Risk Committee to focus on the Company’s risk 
identification and mitigation processes.

FOCUS FOR THE NEXT  
FINANCIAL YEAR
The following activities have been identified as key  
focus areas for the committee’s attention in the 2019 
financial year:

• Assess the implications for the Company to convert to 
a UK REIT; and

• Continue to refine the system for identifying and 
monitoring risks given the Company’s dynamic 
operational environment.

APPROVAL OF THE  
COMMITTEE REPORT 
The committee confirms that it has functioned in 
accordance with its terms of reference for the 2018 
financial year and that its report to shareholders has been 
approved by the Board.

RISK
The role of the Risk Committee is to provide 
assistance to the Board in fulfilling its oversight 
responsibilities for the establishment, maintenance 
and approval of the organisation-wide risk 
management infrastructure and framework. 

COMPOSITION
The committee consists of five members of 
the Board, including both executive and 
non-executive directors with the majority being 
non-executive members. The Board has 
designated one committee member, an 
independent non-executive director, to serve as 
the chair. The Board has determined that the 
committee members have the skills and 
experience necessary to contribute 
meaningfully to the committee’s deliberations. 

The following directors served on the 
committee during the year under review:

• Nicholas Winearls (Chairman of the 
committee)

• Rudolf Pretorius

• Kesaven Moothoosamy

• Paul Leaf-Wright 

• Warren Morton 

There were no changes in the composition of 
the Risk Committee in the current financial 
year. There were four committee meetings 
held during the year. Kesaven Moothoosamy 
did not attend one meeting. All other members 
attended all four meetings.

Other regular attendees to Risk Committee 
meetings by invitation include:

• Peter Bacon (Chairman of the Board)

• Risk manager

• Other members of management

• Company Secretary

RISK MANAGEMENT
The Board maintains overall responsibility for 
risk management and ultimately approves the 
Company’s processes for identifying and 
managing risks. To improve the effectiveness 
of this function, the Board is assisted by the 
Risk Committee and management who 
collectively monitor and maintain risk 
processes and develop the Company’s system 
of internal controls. 

This multi-level risk management framework 
ensures that risk identification and monitoring 
processes cover both strategic risks and 
operational risks.

Management monitors risks through a 
comprehensive risk matrix. On identification, 
risks are assessed in terms of their likelihood 
of occurrence and potential impact on the 
Company and its stakeholders. Each risk is 
then managed and mitigated to the extent 
possible. The risk matrix is reviewed by the 
Risk Committee at each meeting, and from this 
a key risk register is determined and reported 
to the Board quarterly for consideration. The 
Board reviews and approves the full risk matrix 
on an annual basis.

The committee is pleased with the Company’s 
developing risk management framework and is 
satisfied that its risk identification and 
management processes have been effective 
during the year.

HAYDOCK

C O M M I T T E E 
R E P O RT

NICK WINEARLS
CHAIRMAN, RISK COMMITTEE 
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RISKS
1  Property acquisitions fail to 

achieve required rate of return
2  Communicated distribution targets 

not met
3  Increased competition for 

investment opportunities
4  ZAR volatility affecting investor 

sentiment
5 Inability to raise capital
6  Economic uncertainty from Brexit 
7  Increase in market interest rates 

or an inability to refinance debt at 
acceptable terms

8 Tenant concentration risk
9  Non-compliance with regulatory 

and legal requirements
10  Non-compliance with tax 

legislation
11 Loss of key management
12  Insufficient maintenance 

of properties

RISK REPORT

IMPACT 0N ATLANTIC LEAF

RISK MAP

LI
KE

LI
H

O
O

D
 O

F 
O

CC
U

RR
IN

G
 W

IT
H

IN
 1

8 
M

O
N

TH
S

R
ar

e
U

nl
ik

el
y

M
od

er
at

e
Li

ke
ly

A
lm

os
t 

 
ce

rt
ai

n

Immaterial Minor Moderate Major Disastrous

10

3

5

8

1

7

6

9

2
4

11

12

STRATEGIC RISK

PROPERTY 
ACQUISITIONS  

FAIL TO ACHIEVE 
REQUIRED RATE  

OF RETURN

1

COMMUNICATED 
DISTRIBUTION  

TARGETS NOT MET

2
INCREASED 

COMPETITION FOR 
INVESTMENT 

OPPORTUNITIES

3
ZAR VOLATILITY 

AFFECTING 
INVESTOR 

SENTIMENT

4

Inability to meet 
distribution targets

Damage to Company 
reputation and 
increased cost of 
capital if share price 
negatively affected

Completing value-
enhancing deals 
becomes more 
difficult, impacting 
ability to grow

Inability to  
raise capital

•  Acquisitions assessed 
against the Company’s 
investment policy

•  Comprehensive due 
diligence performed

•  Potential transactions 
reviewed by Investment 
Committee and presented 
to the Board for approval

•  Long-term asset 
management plans

•  Comprehensive 
budget and 
forecasting process

•  Realistic distribution 
communications

•  Build and develop 
business reputation and 
contacts in property 
markets

•  Continue exploring all 
asset classes

•  Utilise ability to secure 
off-market transactions

•  Careful consideration 
of timing of capital 
raises

MITIGATION AND CONTROLS

BUSINESS IMPACT

OUTCOME

Robust investment 
policy and asset 
management framework 
have proven highly 
effective when sourcing 
and completing 
transactions. Targeted 
rates of return have 
been met.

The Company has 
delivered on its 
distribution targets to 
date, demonstrating 
the strength of its 
forecasting process.

Reputation and market 
networks are steadily 
growing. Industrial 
sector yields have 
compressed significantly 
over the past twelve 
months; however 
recent transactions 
demonstrate the 
Company's ability 
to manage the 
competition risk.

The Rand's volatility 
continued; however 
the Company's capital 
raise during FY18 was 
successful and South 
African investors have 
maintained a good 
appetite for offshore 
investment.
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MARKET 
RISK

FUNDING 
RISK

CREDIT 
RISK

INABILITY TO  
RAISE CAPITAL

5

ECONOMIC 
UNCERTAINTY 
FROM BREXIT

6
 

INCREASE IN MARKET 
INTEREST RATES OR 

AN INABILITY TO 
REFINANCE DEBT AT 
ACCEPTABLE TERMS

7

TENANT 
CONCENTRATION 

RISK

8

Restrict Company 
growth and affect 
ability to increase 
earnings and 
distributions

May negatively affect 
value of property 
portfolio or 
opportunities to enact 
investment strategy

Increase in cost 
of financing and 
therefore reduction 
in distributable income. 
Significant rate 
increases may affect 
ability to find value-
enhancing deals

Loss of rental 
income, devaluation 
of property in the 
event of material 
tenant default

•  Build and develop 
Company brand and 
reputation in capital 
markets 

•  Look to create and exploit 
competitive advantages 
through investment type 
and strategic focus

•   Capital only raised to 
fund known transactions

•  Management and 
property managers 
monitor indicators of 
market direction

•  Long term leases 
provide consistent 
earnings despite 
valuation movements

•  Credit risk of tenants 
with potential 
exposure to 
Brexit-related risks 
is carefully monitored.

•  Hedge exposure to 
interest rate fluctuations 
through use of 
derivative instruments.

•  Continuous monitoring 
and management of 
credit metrics.

•  Maintain gearing ratios 
in accordance with debt 
policy and within 
covenants agreed with 
lenders.

•  Develop and maintain 
relationships with a 
number of lenders.

•  Strong tenant 
covenants in place 
and comprehensive 
tenant due diligence 
completed for 
acquisitions.

•  Monitoring of tenant 
financial stability and 
credit rating.

•  Tenant concentration 
exposure is analysed 
and presented to the 
Investment Committee 
quarterly.

MITIGATION AND CONTROLS

BUSINESS IMPACT

OUTCOME

Performance to date 
has helped to enhance 
the Company’s valuable 
brand and reputation, 
and current indications 
are that there is still an 
appetite from investors.

Brexit and political 
uncertainty in the market 
continues at varying 
levels; however demand 
in United Kingdom real 
estate market has 
remained strong during 
period of uncertainty. 
Management continue 
monitoring property and 
economic trends. 
A depressed economic 
environment may also 
create favourable 
acquisition opportunities.

Debt funding is United 
Kingdom-based where 
base interest rate is low. 
Rates have risen during 
the year and could 
continue to rise over 
the following twelve 
months; however hedging 
strategy means Company 
is fairly insensitive in the 
short term to interest rate 
increases.
Management monitor 
all debt facilities 
and treasury reports 
are provided to the 
Board quarterly for 
consideration.

Currently a risk given 
the Company’s high 
exposure to Booker 
(31% by rental income 
vs 38% in the prior year).
Risk managed in the 
short term by monitoring 
tenant’s financial 
stability, currently 
considered to be very 
strong. Risk will be 
diluted in the long 
term through further 
acquisitions.

OPERATIONAL 
RISK

PROPERTY 
SPECIFIC RISK

REGULATORY 
AND LEGAL RISK

NON-COMPLIANCE 
WITH REGULATORY 

AND LEGAL 
REQUIREMENTS

NON-COMPLIANCE 
WITH TAX 

LEGISLATION

10

LOSS OF KEY 
MANAGEMENT

11

INSUFFICIENT 
MAINTENANCE OF 

PROPERTIES

12

Financial penalties, 
loss of credibility or 
suspension of 
Company’s listing

Increased tax  
liabilities and  
potential penalties

Losing key members 
may affect the Company’s 
short-term ability to 
operate as effectively

Damage and 
deterioration of 
properties resulting 
in a loss in value

•  Active monitoring by 
Management, corporate 
sponsors and Company 
Secretary.

•  Expert advice taken on 
complex or emerging 
regulatory matters. 

•   In house tax 
function provides 
support and guidance 
on tax matters.

•   Professional advice 
taken on complex or 
contentious tax 
matters.

•  Remuneration and 
opportunities for staff 
are targeted at retaining 
talent.

•  Succession planning for 
crucial positions.

•  Grow size of key 
management team to 
share knowledge and 
skills.

•  Virtually all properties 
have fully repairing and 
insuring leases with 
re-instatement clauses 
where tenants are 
responsible for all 
property maintenance 
and comprehensive 
insurance.

•  Remainder of properties 
are covered by a service 
charge which covers the 
maintenance of the 
properties.

•  Regular property 
inspections by property 
managers, and periodic 
inspections by 
management.

MITIGATION AND CONTROLS

BUSINESS IMPACT

OUTCOME

The compliance 
environment continued 
to develop well over the 
past year as systems 
and control frameworks 
were refined. This risk 
is managed through the 
collaboration of the Risk  
Committee, management, 
and the Company’s 
various advisors.

The tax function has 
notably improved over the 
past year as policies and 
compliance frameworks 
have been implemented, 
and perceived areas 
of risk addressed with 
the assistance of 
professional advisors.

Currently a risk for 
Atlantic Leaf given its 
size, although this risk 
has reduced as the 
Company has grown. 
Additional human 
resource joined during 
the year, helping to share 
crucial expertise across 
a wider group.

No signs of insufficient 
maintenance. Mitigating 
factors in place have 
managed risk to an 
acceptable level.

9
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K 
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• Annually review the appropriateness of the Company’s 
diversity policies and continue to promote equality.

FOCUS DURING THE YEAR

DIRECTOR REMUNERATION

BOARD NOMINATIONS

REVIEW OF INTERNAL POLICIES

ENVIRONMENTAL STRATEGY

ADMINISTRATIVE AND OTHER

33%

17%

17%

11%

11%

11%

BOARD EVALUATIONS

 

KEY ACTIVITIES UNDERTAKEN  
IN THE REPORTING PERIOD
Pursuant to its responsibilities above, the committee 
completed the following key initiatives during the year:

• Engaged the services of an external provider to undertake 
an evaluation of the Board and sub-committees. 

• Pursuant to the evaluations above, the committee, where 
appropriate, has recommended for the reappointment of 
individual directors by shareholders at the annual general 
meeting. The committee and the Board were satisfied 
with the performance of all directors. The committee also 
considered the benefits of appointing a Lead Independent 
role and recommended for Rudolf Pretorius to assume 
this position.

• Review of the following internal policies and documents, 
recommending their approval to the Board:

 – Organisation-wide Code of Ethics
 – Directors’ Appointment Policy
 – Remuneration Policy 
 – Whistle-blower Policy
 – Non-Discrimination Policy

Relating to remuneration matters:
• Given its existing corporate and management structure the 

Company currently does not have any employees or 
executives that are remunerated directly by the Company 
and therefore, until circumstances change, there are no 
responsibilities required of the committee relating to 
executive remuneration.

• Develop and maintain a remuneration policy that is 
appropriate to attract and retain quality members, and 
which reflects the views of shareholders and other 
stakeholders.

• Determine the level of fees paid to non-executive directors 
and recommend these to the Board and shareholders for 
approval. 

• Ensure that provisions regarding disclosure of information 
are fulfilled and include a report with a summary of the 
Company’s remuneration policy, its implementation report 
and background statement in the Company’s annual 
integrated report. 

Relating to nomination matters:
• Review the structure, size and composition of the Board 

and its sub-committees annually.
• Annually evaluate the effectiveness of the Board as a 

whole, its sub-committees, individual directors, the 
chairperson and the CEO, including the engagement of  
an external party to undertake and report back on such 
evaluations where deemed appropriate.

• Consider each director for reappointment and where 
appropriate, nominate the director for re-election by 
shareholders at the annual general meeting.

• Review and maintain the Company’s director  
appointment policy.

• Review the leadership needs of the Company and  
consider succession planning for directors and other  
senior executives.

Relating to social and ethical matters:
• Consider the Company’s wider stakeholder base and 

determine its responsibilities to each group. Annually 
review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Company’s 
engagement and interaction with stakeholders to improve 
relations.

• Explore methods to monitor the Company’s impact on the 
environment and consider ways to conserve electricity, 
fuel and water in the Company’s operations and assets.

• Create, maintain and promote the Company’s code of 
ethics and ensure this is available to all members of the 
organisation.

COMPOSITION
The committee consists of three non-executive 
members of the Board, the majority of whom 
are independent. The Board has designated one 
committee member, an independent non-
executive director, to serve as the chair.  
The Board has determined that the committee 
members have the skills and experience 
necessary to contribute meaningfully to the 
committee’s deliberations. 

The following directors served on the 
committee during the year under review:

• Rudolf Pretorius (Chairman of the 
committee)

• Peter Bacon

• Laurence Rapp

The role of the Remuneration, Nomination and Social and Ethics Committee 
includes monitoring and strengthening the objectivity and credibility of the 
remuneration practices of the Company, and developing and maintaining 
formal, rigorous and transparent procedures for nominations and 
appointments to the Board and its sub-committees. The committee also 
provides oversight of the organisation’s ethics, responsible corporate 
citizenship, sustainable development and stakeholder relationships. 

REMUNERATION, 
NOMINATION AND  
SOCIAL AND ETHICS

RUDOLF
PRETORIUS
CHAIRMAN, 
REMUNERATION, 
NOMINATION  
AND SOCIAL  
AND ETHICS 
COMMITTEE 

There were no changes in the composition  
of the committee in the current financial year. 
There were two committee meetings held 
during the year and all members attended 
these meetings.

Other regular attendees to the committee 
meetings by invitation include:

• Paul Leaf-Wright (Chief Executive Officer)

• Warren Morton (Financial Director)

• Other members of management

• Company Secretary

ROLE AND RESPONSIBILITIES  
OF THE COMMITTEE
The committee was expanded in the current 
year in line with the adoption of King IV and 
the recommended practices within. Previously 
only focusing on remuneration and nomination 
functions, the committee now also assists the 
Board with social and ethics matters.  
The committee’s responsibilities are 
summarised as follows:

COMMITTEE  REPORT
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FOCUS FOR THE NEXT  
FINANCIAL YEAR
The following activities have been identified as key focus 
areas for the committee’s attention in the  2019 financial year:

• Assess the implications for the Company to convert to a 
UK REIT including, amongst other things, consideration of 
the correct composition of the Board going forward; and 

• Review of the Company’s environmental strategy and 
policies, including the implementation of a comprehensive 
Corporate Social Responsibility policy.

BOARD EVALUATIONS
During the year an external board evaluation consultant was 
engaged to undertake an evaluation of the Board and its sub-
committees in terms of structure, composition and 
performance. The evaluation also covered aspects such as:

• Director performance, incorporating the CEO and 
chairman functions specifically, including the conduct and 
ethical standards of all members; and

• The relationship between management and the Board.

The Board and committee were satisfied with the 
effectiveness of the evaluation process. Following the 
results of the evaluations, the committee was satisfied with 
the current structure, size and composition of the Board and 
its sub-committees. The evaluations highlighted areas to 
focus on in the coming year, including the succession 
planning for and structure of management, and ensuring 
clearly defined roles exist and are understood for the 
sub-committees.

 
The committee is mandated by the Board to maintain the 
remuneration policy and to recommend the remuneration 
and incentives of directors. Given the existing corporate and 
management structure, the Company currently does not 
have any employees or executives that are remunerated 
directly by the Company. Executive directors Paul 
Leaf-Wright and Warren Morton are representatives of 
Martial Eagle and accordingly will not be separately 
remunerated for their services as directors of the Company. 
Currently there are no responsibilities required of the 
committee relating to executive remuneration.

Non-executive directors’ remuneration consists of an annual 
fee in accordance with their roles and responsibilities within 
the Board and its sub-committees. Based on remuneration 
benchmarking exercises the committee recommends fees for 
non-executive directors to the Board, which are considered by 
shareholders at the Annual General Meeting. There is no 
other form of remuneration paid to non-executive directors. 
Kesaven Moothoosamy is an appointee of ITL, the Company’s 
administrator, and accordingly will not be separately 
remunerated for his services as non-executive director  
of the Company. 

There has been no substantial change to the Company’s 
remuneration policy, and the committee and Board consider 
the policy has achieved its stated objectives. Future areas of 
focus for the policy will relate to executive remuneration when 
this becomes applicable to the Company.

    THE REMUNERATION POLICY CAN BE VIEWED ONLINE AT 
 WWW.ATLANTICLEAF.MU/INVESTORS/CORPORATE-GOVERNANCE 

IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
DURING THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018  
THE COMPANY REMUNERATED NON-EXECUTIVE 
DIRECTORS AS PER THE TABLE BELOW:

DIRECTOR

DIRECTORS’ FEES  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED  

28 FEBRUARY 2018 (GBP)

Peter Bacon  20 000 

Cleopatra Folkes  17 000 

Nicholas Winearls  18 500 

Laurence Rapp  14 500 

Rudolf Pretorius  18 500 

The Company currently does not have any employees or 
executives that are remunerated directly by the Company 
(refer to the Remuneration Report for further details).

Given the Company’s growth and increasing complexity, and 
pursuant to the results of the committee’s benchmarking 
exercise for FY18, the committee is proposing to 
shareholders at the annual general meeting the approval of 
fees to be paid by the Company to the independent non-
executive directors for their services as directors of up to  
GBP 40 000 per year or pro rata share thereof (current limit: 
GBP 30 000 per year).
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FULLY REPAIRING AND INSURING (“FRI” LEASES)

• Currently the majority of the portfolio is held on FRI leases which 
put the onus on the occupiers to ensure that the properties are 
operating at suitable levels. 
 

• Atlantic Leaf recognises its obligations as a landlord and works 
with its occupiers to annually monitor and ensure the correct 
practices are in place and compliant with current regulations.

NEW ACQUISITIONS

• Legal and desktop reviews are conducted on all new acquisitions 
to ensure that properties are compliant or brought up to suitable 
building standards prior to acquisition.

ANNUAL REVIEW

• The Company’s property management 
function is in constant communication 
with occupiers regarding their compliance 
in accordance with UK regulations. 

• Monitor compliance under the FRI leases.

NEW AND CHANGING REGULATIONS

• Management are constantly reviewing 
new and changing regulations which may 
have an impact on the property portfolio. 

• The MEES regulation is one such change 
which management have proactively 
addressed and continue to work with 
advisors and occupiers to ensure 
compliance.

MINIMUM ENERGY EFFICIENCY STANDARDS 
(MEES) REGULATIONS

• MEES regulations aim to improve the 
energy efficiency of properties and to 
work towards achieving the UK’s 
legislative targets of CO² emissions from 
all buildings of “close to zero” by 2050. 

• MEES requires properties to be brought 
up to a minimum EPC rating of “E”. The 
regulations will apply to new lettings and 
lease renewals from 1 April 2018. 

• MEES regulations on existing leases will 
come into effect in 2023 for which the 
Company will be well placed for 
compliance. 

• Management continues to monitor the 
EPCs and any landlord obligations or 
changes in regulations.

ENERGY PERFORMANCE CERTIFICATE (EPC) RATINGS

• EPCs are needed whenever a property is built, sold or rented. 
An EPC gives a property an energy efficiency rating from A (most 
efficient) to G (least efficient) based on the property’s energy use 
and typical energy costs. 

• While not currently a legal requirement, 99% of the Company’s 
leases and buildings are compliant with the minimum EPC ratings. 
While this does not have any short term risk, the Company has a 
100% compliance target for the coming year and will work with 
occupiers to achieve this goal.

SUPPORTIVE OF SUSTAINABILITY INITIATIVES

• Through FRI lease provisions, Atlantic Leaf has limited risk, but at 
the same time, a limited ability to undertake or enforce 
sustainability initiatives. However, through both property and 
asset management functions the Company continues to support 
occupier initiatives where possible. 

• To date tenant initiatives have been undertaken on a number of 
properties within the portfolio including the following:

 – LED lighting improvements
 – Electric charging point installations.

EFFECTIVE MANAGEMENT 
OF ONGOING ENVIRONMENTAL PRACTICES
Refining its environmental strategy and corporate social 
responsibility policy is a focus of the committee for the 2019 year. 
A summary of the Company’s current environmental practices is 
provided below:

APPROVAL OF THE COMMITTEE REPORT
The committee confirms that it has functioned in accordance with its terms of reference for the 2018 financial  
year and that its report to shareholders has been approved by the Board.

REMUNERATION  
REPORT
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Consolidated Annual 
Financial Statements 

The directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (“Atlantic Leaf” or “the Company”) are responsible for the preparation and 
fair presentation of the financial statements, comprising the Group’s and Company’s statements of financial position as at 
28 February 2018, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the statement of changes in equity and 
the statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes, in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards,  
the JSE Listings Requirements, the South African Companies Act of 2008 and in compliance with the Mauritius Companies 
Act 2001.

The directors’ responsibilities include: designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation 
and fair presentation of these financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; 
selecting and applying appropriate accounting policies; and making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the 
circumstances. The directors are also responsible for maintaining an effective system of internal control and risk management.

The directors have made an assessment of the Group’s and Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and have no 
reason to believe the business will not be a going concern in the year ahead.

The auditor is responsible for reporting on whether the annual financial statements are fairly presented in accordance with the 
applicable financial reporting framework.

The directors confirm they have complied with the above requirements.

APPROVAL OF THE ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS OF THE GROUP AND COMPANY
The annual financial statements of the Group and Company have been approved by the Board of directors on 19 April 2018.

Signed on behalf of the Board by:

Peter Bacon Paul Leaf-Wright 
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES AND APPROVAL
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The directors have the pleasure in presenting their report for the year ended 28 February 2018. 

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with note 2 to the financial statements.

1. NATURE OF THE BUSINESS
   Atlantic Leaf is a Mauritian-incorporated Company that has been established with the principal objective of investing in 

quality real estate assets that are income yielding with the potential of capital appreciation. It is dual-listed with primary 
listings on both the Official Market of the Stock Exchange of Mauritius Ltd (’’SEM’’) and on the Main Board of the 
Johannesburg Stock Exchange Limited (’’JSE’’). There has been no change to the nature of the business.

2. DISTRIBUTIONS
   The board of directors of Atlantic Leaf are pleased to announce a distribution of 4.60 pence per share for the six 

months ended 28 February 2018, further to a distribution of 4.50 pence per share declared for the six months ended 
31 August 2017.

3. REVIEW OF RESULTS
   The operating results and state of affairs of the Group and Company are fully set out in the attached consolidated and 

separate financial statements.

4. CAPITAL STRUCTURE
   There were 188 976 628 shares in circulation as at 28 February 2018 (2017: 142 671 209). Refer to note 11 for details of 

shares issued. Refer to the integrated report for dealings in shares by directors.

5. DIRECTORS
  The directors of the Company during the year and to the date of this report are as follows:

 Name

Peter Bacon Independent Non-Executive Chairman

Paul Leaf-Wright Chief Executive Officer

Warren Morton Financial Director

Cleopatra Folkes Independent Non-Executive Director

Nicholas Winearls Independent Non-Executive Director

Kesaven Moothoosamy Non-Executive Director

Laurence Rapp Non-Executive Director

Rudolf Pretorius Independent Non-Executive Director

Name of the Public Interest Entity (“the PIE”): Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited

Reporting Period: 1 March 2017 to 28 February 2018

We, the Directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited, confirm to the best of our knowledge that the PIE has complied with all 
its obligations and requirements under the Code of Corporate Governance (“the Code”). Reasons for non-compliance to some 
sections of the Code are detailed in the Corporate Governance Report.

Paul Leaf-Wright Peter Bacon 
Director Director

19 April 2018

We certify to the best of our knowledge and belief that Atlantic Leaf has filed with the Registrar of Companies, all such returns 
as are required of the Company under section 166 (d) of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001 for the year ended 28 February 2018.

Intercontinental Trust Limited  
Company Secretary

19 April 2018

DIRECTORS’ REPORTCERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
(Section 75 (3) of the Financial Reporting Act)

COMPANY SECRETARY’S CERTIFICATE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements” 
section of our report. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

INDEPENDENCE 
We are independent of the Company and its subsidiaries 
in accordance with the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional 
Accountants (“IESBA Code”) and we have fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements and the IESBA Code. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our 
professional judgment, were of most significance in our 
audit of the financial statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed in the context of our audit 
of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our 
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion 
on these matters. In addition, we have determined the 
matters described overleaf to be the key audit matters 
to be communicated in our report.

Matter Audit response

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NOTE 4)
The Group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of the financial 
statements states that investment properties are initially 
measured at cost and subsequently measured at fair 
value with any changes in the fair value recognised in 
the statement of profit or loss. 

The property’s valuation takes into account property-specific 
information such as the current tenancy agreements and 
rental income. Assumptions made for these purposes by 
management and valuers include yields and estimated 
market rental, which are influenced by prevailing market 
yields and comparable market transactions, to determine 
the final valuation.

The valuation of the Group’s investment properties, as 
detailed in note 4 of the financial statements, involves 
significant judgements made by management and 
valuers, particularly in the selection of valuation models, 
the inputs to those models and current market conditions.

Our approach to address the valuation assertion for the 
investment properties involved a combined approach 
including both tests of controls and substantive testing.

We evaluated the controls introduced by management over 
the quarterly valuation of investment properties and tested 
the controls introduced by management over the annual 
valuation of investment properties.

We tested the valuation reports for all the properties 
selected where management relied on externally generated 
valuation reports and confirmed that the valuation approach 
for each valuation was in accordance with the external 
market information and suitable for use in determining the 
fair value for the purpose of the financial statements.

We performed substantive tests of detail and substantive 
analytical review procedures to assess whether the fair 
value of the income generating investment properties is 
reasonable. 

These include the following:
• agreeing the valuation of all investment properties which 

have been revalued, to the valuation reports prepared 
by external management experts appointed by the 
directors, as well as valuation reports prepared by 
the directors;

• considering the terms of engagement and basis of 
preparation of selected externally prepared property 
valuation reports;

• recalculating any specified valuation workings; 

Matter Audit response

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NOTE 4) 
continued
The significance of the estimates and judgements 
involved, including that only a slight percentage 
difference in individual property valuations, when 
aggregated, could result in a material misstatement, 
warrants specific audit focus.

• assessing the competence, capability, objectivity and 
integrity of the appointed management experts;

• confirmed that the valuation approach for each external 
valuation was in accordance with Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) standards and suitable for 
use in determining the fair value for the purpose of the 
financial statements;

• testing the key assumptions used in the determination 
of the fair value in the valuation reports (external and 
directors’ reports), including comparing the rental 
income in the calculations to the actual results and 
comparing discount rates used to available industry 
data for available investment properties;

• assessing whether directors have properly considered 
the relevance of valuation assumptions applicable at 
year-end; and 

• assessing the adequacy of disclosures with regards to 
the investment properties portfolio held in the financial 
statements.

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluating 
the outcomes, we conclude that our audit procedures 
appropriately addressed the key audit matter.

ACCOUNTING FOR COMPLEX TRANSACTIONS (NOTE 6) 
Complex transactions identified during the year is 
as follows:

The Company, through a wholly owned subsidiary, 
acquired 45.02% of the units in LMP Retail Warehouse 
JV Property Unit Trust which holds a portfolio of 
properties; as well as 50% of the shares in LMP Retail 
Warehouse JV Management Limited, the management 
business that manages the portfolio of properties. The 
acquisition has been accounted for as a joint venture in 
the current financial year. 

This transaction warrants additional audit focus due 
to complex contractual terms that require significant 
judgement to determine how they were accounted for.

Our audit procedures on the joint venture acquisition 
included the following:
• agreeing the transaction details to the underlying legal 

agreements;
• challenging management’s judgements by inspecting 

the sale and purchase agreements and other related 
documents and assessing each transaction against the 
recognition, measurement and classification criteria 
according to the Group’s accounting policies including 
the applicable IFRS;

• considering whether the acquisitions constitute a 
business combination under IFRS 3 or whether the 
acquisition should be accounted for as an asset 
acquisition in accordance with IAS 40; and

• considering the adequacy of the disclosures associated 
with the transaction in the financial statements.

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluating the 
outcomes we concluded that our audit procedures 
appropriately address the key audit matter.

OPINION
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated and 
separate financial statements ( the “financial statements”) 
give a true and fair view of the financial position of Atlantic 
Leaf Properties Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries 
(together referred as the “Group”) as at 28 February 2018, 
and of its financial performance and its cash flows for the 
period then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and comply with the 
requirements of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 

We have audited the accompanying financial statements 
of the Group and the Company which comprise the 
statements of financial position as at 28 February 2018 and 
the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, statements of changes in equity and statements 
of cash flows for the period then ended, and notes to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant 
accounting policies. 

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (“ISAs”). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s 
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RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS AND 
THOSE CHARGED WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 
FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards and in 
compliance with the requirements of the Mauritius 
Companies Act 2001 and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of the financial statements that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s and the Company’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as 
applicable, matters related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group and the Company or 
to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but 
to do so.

Those charged with corporate governance are responsible 
for overseeing the Group and the Company’s financial 
reporting process.  

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE 
AUDIT OF THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, 
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is 
not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it 
exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial 
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient 
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as 
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose 

of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group and the Company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and, based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the Group and the 
Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we 
are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if 
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. 
Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence 
obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group and the Company to cease to continue as a 
going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group and the Company to express 
an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance 
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including 
any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a 
statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate 
with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and 
where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the financial statements of 
the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. 
We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless 
law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the 
matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we 
determine that a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse consequences of doing 
so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication. 

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY 
REQUIREMENTS 
Mauritius Companies Act 2001 
The Mauritius Companies Act 2001 requires that in carrying 
out our audit we consider and report to you on the 
following matters. We confirm that: 

• We have no relationship with, or interests in, the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries, other than in our 
capacity as auditors the Company: 

• We have obtained all information and explanations we 
have required; and

• In our opinion, proper accounting records have been 
kept by the Company as far as it appears from our 
examination of those records.

FINANCIAL REPORTING ACT 2004 
The Directors are responsible for preparing the corporate 
governance report. Our responsibility is to report the 
extent of compliance with the requirements of the Code 
of Corporate Governance (the “Code”) and on whether the 
disclosure is consistent with the requirements of the Code. 
In our opinion, the disclosure is consistent with the 
requirements of the Code.

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED CONTINUED

OTHER MATTER
This report, including the opinion has been prepared for and 
only the Company’s shareholders, as a body, in accordance 
with Section 205 of the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. 
Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the Company’s shareholders those matters we are 
required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no 
other purpose. We do not, in giving this opinion, accept or 
assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other 
person to whom this report is shown or into those whose 
hands it may come save where expressly agreed by our 
prior consent in writing.

Mazars Udaysingh Taukoordass, FCA
 Licensed by FRC

19 April 2018 
Port Louis, Mauritius



71   Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 

INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  

2018

70    Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 
INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED

Separate Financial Statements section of our report. We are 
independent of the group in accordance with the Independent 
Regulatory Board for Auditors Code of Professional Conduct 
for Registered Auditors (IRBA Code) and other independence 
requirements applicable to performing audits of financial 
statements in South Africa. We have fulfilled our other 
ethical responsibilities in accordance with the IRBA Code 
and in accordance with other ethical requirements applicable 
to performing audits in South Africa. The IRBA Code is 
consistent with the International Ethics Standards Board for 
Accountants Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(Parts A and B). We believe that the audit evidence we have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 

KEY AUDIT MATTERS 
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the 
consolidated and separate financial statements of the 
current period. These matters were addressed in the context 
of our audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, 
and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Matter Audit response

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NOTE 4)
The group’s accounting policy in note 3.3 of the 
accounting policies in the Financial Statements states 
that investment property is measured at fair value.

The property’s valuation takes into account property-
specific information such as the current tenancy 
agreements and rental income. Assumptions are 
made for yields and estimated market rent, which are 
influenced by prevailing market yields and comparable 
market transactions, to arrive at the final valuation.

The valuation of the group’s investment properties, 
as detailed in note 4 of the notes to the Financial 
Statements, involves significant judgements made by 
management and valuers, particularly those involving the 
selection of valuation models, and the inputs to those 
models including current market conditions.

We assessed the design and implementation of the controls 
over the valuation of investment property; including 
management’s processes and controls in the determination 
of the fair values of investment properties.

We followed a substantive approach for the testing of the 
fair values applied to investment properties.

We tested the valuation reports for all the properties 
selected where management relied on externally generated 
valuation reports and confirmed that the valuation approach 
for each valuation was in accordance with the external 
market information and suitable for use in determining the 
carrying value for the purpose of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements.

We performed substantive tests of detail and substantive 
analytical review procedures on a sample of investment 
properties to assess whether the fair value of income 
generating investment property is reasonable. These include 
the following:
• agreeing the valuation of all investment properties which 

have been revalued to valuation reports prepared by 
external experts appointed by the directors, as well as 
valuation reports prepared by the directors;

• considering the terms of engagement and basis of 
preparation of externally prepared property valuation 
reports;

• recalculating any specified valuation workings;

Matter Audit response

VALUATION OF INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (NOTE 4) 
continued
The significance of the estimates and judgements 
involved, coupled with the high number of individual 
estimates performed, could result in a material 
misstatement, and therefore warrants specific 
audit focus.

• assessing the competence, objectivity and integrity of 
the appointed management expert;

• confirming that the valuation approach for each external 
valuation was in accordance with Royal Institution of 
Chartered Surveyors  (RICS) standards and suitable for 
use in determining the carrying value for the purpose 
of the financial statements;

• testing the key assumptions and data used in the 
determining of the fair value in the valuation reports 
(external and directors reports), including comparing the 
rental income in the calculations to the actual results 
and comparing discount rates used to available industry 
data for available investment properties;

• assessing whether directors have properly assessed the 
appropriateness of valuation assumptions applicable at 
year-end; and

• assessing the adequacy investment property portfolio 
disclosures in the consolidated and separate Financial 
Statements.

Having performed our audit procedures and evaluated 
the outcomes we concluded that our audit procedures 
appropriately address the key audit matter.

ACCOUNTING FOR COMPLEX TRANSACTIONS (NOTE 6) 
Complex transactions identified during the year include 
the following:
• The company, through a wholly owned subsidiary, 

acquired 45.02% of the units in LMP Retail Warehouse 
JV Property Unit Trust which holds a portfolio of 
properties; including 50% of the shares in LMP Retail 
Warehouse JV Management Limited, the management 
business that manages the portfolio of properties. 
The acquisition has been accounted for as a joint 
venture in the current financial year.

This transaction warrants additional audit focus due 
to complex contractual terms that require significant 
judgement to determine whether control, significant 
influence or joint control exist.

Our audit procedures on the joint venture acquisition 
included the following:
• agreeing the transaction details to the underlying legal 

agreements;
• challenging management’s judgements by inspecting 

the sale and purchase agreements and other related 
documents and assessing each transaction against the 
recognition, measurement and classification criteria 
according to the group’s accounting policies including 
the relevant IFRS standard;

• considering whether the acquisitions constitute a 
business combination under IFRS 3 or whether the 
acquisition should be accounted for as a joint venture 
in accordance with IAS 11; and

• considering the adequacy of the disclosures associated 
with the transaction in the consolidated and separate 
Financial Statements.

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (the group) 
set out on pages 74 to 113, which comprise the statements 
of financial position as at 28 February 2018, and the 
statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, the statements of changes in equity and the 
statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and 
notes to the financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated and separate financial 
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the 
consolidated and separate financial position of the group 
as at 28 February 2018, and its consolidated and separate 
financial performance and consolidated and separate 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards.

BASIS FOR OPINION 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated and 

REPORT ON THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED CONTINUED

OTHER INFORMATION 
The directors are responsible for the other information. 
The other information comprises the Directors’ Report, 
Audit Committee Report, the Company Secretary’s 
Certificate, the Integrated Annual Report and the 
supplementary schedules which we obtained prior to 
the date of this report. Other information does not include 
the consolidated and separate financial statements and 
our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated and separate financial 
statements does not cover the other information and we 
do not express an audit opinion or any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated and 
separate financial statements, our responsibility is to read 
the other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated and separate financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to 
be materially misstated. If, based on the work we have 
performed on the other information obtained prior to the 
date of this auditor’s report, we conclude that there is a 
material misstatement of this other information, we are 
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS 
The directors are responsible for the preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as the 
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation 
of consolidated and separate financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud 
or error. 

In preparing the consolidated and separate financial 
statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the 
group’s and the company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting 
unless the directors either intend to liquidate the group 
and/or the company or to cease operations, or have no 
realistic alternative but to do so.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED AND SEPARATE 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated and separate financial 
statements as a whole are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated 
and separate financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise 
professional judgement and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit 
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve 
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to 
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness 
of the group’s and the company’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use 
of the going concern basis of accounting and based 
on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that 
may cast significant doubt on the group’s and the 
company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, 
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures in the consolidated 
and separate financial statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions 
are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the 
date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the group and / or the company 
to cease to continue as a going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content 
of the consolidated and separate financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated 
and separate financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that 
achieves fair presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding 
the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the group to express an opinion 
on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with the directors regarding, among 
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit 
and significant audit findings, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the directors with a statement that 
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them 
all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where 
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we 
determine those matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated and separate financial 
statements of the current period and are therefore the 

key audit matters. We describe these matters in our 
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 
circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected 
to outweigh the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND 
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS 
In terms of the IRBA Rule published in Government Gazette 
Number 39475 dated 04 December 2015, we report that 
Mazars has been the auditor of Atlantic Leaf Properties 
Limited for two years.

Mazars 
Registered Auditor 
Partner: Duncan Dollman 
Registered Auditor

19 April 2018

Cape Town
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GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Investment properties 4 319 404 723 303 068 000 – –

Interest in subsidiaries 5 – – 201 943 275 156 039 680

Investment in joint venture 6 25 766 250 – – –

Listed investments 7 7 154 208 702 193 7 154 208 702 193

Other receivables 9 150 123 150 123 – –

352 475 304 303 920 316 209 097 483 156 741 873

Current assets

Trade and other receivables 9 3 760 371 1 335 291 3 381 572 1 031 396

Cash and cash equivalents 10 6 618 455 12 696 078 3 460 976 8 457 068

10 378 826 14 031 369 6 842 548 9 488 464

TOTAL ASSETS 362 854 130 317 951 685 215 940 031 166 230 337

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Capital and reserves

Stated capital 11 198 467 699 152 772 761 198 467 699 152 772 761

Cash flow hedge reserve 8 (495 679) (1 880 949) – –

Retained earnings 6 233 714 3 904 456 14 090 955 13 005 198

Total equity 204 205 734 154 796 268 212 558 654 165 777 959

Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing borrowings 12 131 829 657 149 574 995 – –

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 13 4 173 237 3 662 997 590 686 452 378

Current portion interest bearing borrowings 12 21 213 518 7 038 750 2 790 691 –

Tax payable 18 842 464 887 088 – –

Derivative financial instruments 8 589 520 1 991 587 – –

26 818 739 13 580 422 3 381 377 452 378

TOTAL EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 362 854 130 317 951 685 215 940 031 166 230 337

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Rental revenue 21 201 662 20 035 401 – –

Straight-line lease income 16 2 892 734 1 293 509 – –

Management fees – – 1 585 226 1 888 119

Revenue 24 094 396 21 328 910 1 585 226 1 888 119

Property operating expenses (856 597) (862 555) – –

Other operating expenditure (2 615 124) (2 401 771) (2 088 860) (1 934 201)

Operating income/(loss) 14 20 622 675 18 064 584 (503 634) (46 082)

Other income 5 243 1 935 148 1 579

Investment income 15 158 350 196 770 156 944 194 491

Profit on disposal of investment property – 1 062 312 – –

Profit on disposal of listed investment 7 134 985 – 134 985 –

Profit/(loss) on foreign exchange 67 316 256 986 67 999 257 065

Fair value adjustments 16 585 784 (4 518 202) 15 897 292 17 781 482

Finance costs 17 (4 860 164) (4 483 354) (11 547) –

Equity accounted profit (net of taxation) 6 1 805 566 – – –

Profit before taxation 18 519 755 10 581 031 15 742 187 18 188 535

Taxation 18 (1 551 687) (1 496 520) (17 620) (3 214)

PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 16 968 068 9 084 511 15 724 567 18 185 321

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Items that will be reclassified subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value movement on interest rate swaps 8 1 385 270 (97 316) – –

TOTAL OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 1 385 270 (97 316) – –

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR 18 353 338 8 987 195 15 724 567 18 185 321

Profit for the year attributable to:

Owners of the parent 16 968 068 9 084 511 15 724 567 18 185 321

16 968 068 9 084 511 15 724 567 18 185 321

Total comprehensive income attributable to:

Owners of the parent 18 353 338 8 987 195 15 724 567 18 185 321

18 353 338 8 987 195 15 724 567 18 185 321

Basic and diluted earnings per share (GBP pence) 19 10.40 7.01

STATEMENTS OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018

STATEMENTS OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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Figures in GBP Notes
Stated 
capital

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserve
Retained
earnings Total

GROUP
Balance at 1 March 2016 132 854 283 (1 783 633) 4 959 307 136 029 957

Profit for the year – – 9 084 511 9 084 511

Other comprehensive income 8 – (97 316) – (97 316)

Dividends 21.1 – – (10 139 362) (10 139 362)

Issue of shares (net of transaction costs) 11 19 918 478 – – 19 918 478

Balance at 28 February 2017 152 772 761 (1 880 949) 3 904 456 154 796 268

Profit for the year – – 16 968 068 16 968 068

Other comprehensive income 8 – 1 385 270 – 1 385 270

Dividends 21.1 – – (14 638 810) (14 638 810)

Issue of shares (net of transaction costs) 11 45 694 938 – – 45 694 938

Balance at 28 February 2018 198 467 699 (495 679) 6 233 714 204 205 734

Figures in GBP Notes
Stated 
capital

Retained
earnings Total

COMPANY
Balance at 1 March 2016 132 854 283 4 959 239 137 813 522

Profit for the year – 18 185 321 18 185 321

Dividends 21.1 – (10 139 362) (10 139 362)

Issue of shares (net of transaction costs) 11 19 918 478 – 19 918 478

Balance at 28 February 2017 152 772 761 13 005 198 165 777 959

Profit for the year – 15 724 567 15 724 567

Dividends 21.1 – (14 638 810) (14 638 810)

Issue of shares (net of transaction costs) 11 45 694 938 – 45 694 938

Balance at 28 February 2018 198 467 699 14 090 955 212 558 654

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP Notes 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash generated from/(utilised in) operations 21 15 770 848 17 162 555 (2 740 559) 953 274

Interest received 76 121 204 980 74 798 202 701

Interest paid (4 291 899) (4 182 627) (11 547) –

Tax paid (1 596 311) (906 750) (17 620) (3 214)

Net cash generated from/(utilised in) operating 
activities 9 958 759 12 278 158 (2 694 928) 1 152 761

Cash flows from investing activities

Payment for acquisition of subsidiaries 5 – – (1 315 659) (6 912 923)

Investment of joint venture 6 (24 794 876) – – –

Acquisition of investment properties 4 (12 313 853) (114 685 033) – –

Sale of investment property 4 – 11 300 000 – –

Purchase of listed investments 7 (7 787 184) – (7 787 184) –

Sale of listed investments 7 925 802 – 925 802 –

Loan to subsidiaries repaid – – 46 887 810 69 785 857

Dividends received 941 544 23 643 107 351 23 643

Loan advanced to subsidiaries – – (75 034 102) (77 315 907)

Loan to Atlantic Properties Investments Limited – 6 733 730 – 6 733 730

Net cash utilised in investing activities (43 028 567) (96 627 660) (36 215 982) (7 685 600)

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from issue of shares 45 694 938 19 430 385 45 694 938 19 430 385

Proceeds from borrowings 2 790 691 88 499 186 2 790 691 –

Repayment of borrowings (6 921 950) (7 713 000) – –

Dividends paid 21.1 (14 638 810) (9 651 269) (14 638 810) (9 651 269)

Net cash generated from financing activities 26 924 869 90 565 302 33 846 819 9 779 116

(Decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents (6 144 939) 6 215 800 (5 064 091) 3 246 277

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 12 696 078 6 223 292 8 457 068 4 953 726

Effects of exchange differences on cash and cash 
equivalents 67 316 256 986 67 999 257 065

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 10 6 618 455 12 696 078 3 460 976 8 457 068

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 28 FEBRUARY 2018
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1. GENERAL INFORMATION
  Atlantic Leaf and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) hold a portfolio of investment properties in the 

United Kingdom. The Company was incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius as a public company limited by shares in 
accordance with the Mauritius Companies Act 2001. The Company holds a Category 1 Global Business Licence under 
the Financial Services Act 2007 and is regulated by the Financial Services Commission. Its registered office is Level 3, 
Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebène, 72201, Mauritius.

  The Company has primary listings on both the Official Market of the SEM and on the Main Board of the JSE. The 
principal activity of the Company is to invest in high quality, investment grade real estate assets and companies which 
deliver suitable returns for investors through both income and capital growth.

  The Company is managed by Martial Eagle Limited, a company registered in Mauritius.

  The subsidiaries derive rental income from investment properties.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION
  The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) 

issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”), interpretations issued by the IFRS Interpretation 
Committee (“IFRS IC”), the SAICA Financial Reporting Guides and the Pronouncements issued by the Financial 
Reporting Standards Council, the Mauritius Companies Act 2001, Financial Reporting Act 2004, Mauritius Securities 
Act 2005, SEM Listing Rules and JSE Listings Requirements.

 INCOME AND CASH FLOW STATEMENT
  The Group has elected to present a statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and presents its 

expenses by nature. The Group reports cash flows from operating activities using the indirect method. Interest received 
and interest paid is presented within operating cash flows. The acquisitions of investment properties are disclosed as 
cash flows from investing activities because this most appropriately reflects the Group’s business activities.

 PREPARATION OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
  The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis, applying a historical cost convention, except for 

the measurement of investment properties, investments and derivative financial instruments that have been measured 
at fair value.

  The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical accounting 
estimates. It also requires management to exercise their judgement in the process of applying the Group’s 
accounting policies. Changes in assumptions may have a significant impact on the financial statements in the period 
the assumptions are changed. Management believes that the underlying assumptions are appropriate. The areas 
involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to 
the financial statements are disclosed in note 3.1.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
  The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated and separate annual financial 

statements are set out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

3.1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS
  The preparation of the Group and Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgements, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, at the end of 
the reporting period. Estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
Although the estimates are based on management’s best knowledge and judgements of facts at the reporting date, 
the actual outcome may differ from those estimates.

  These estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised and any future periods.

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.1 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS, ESTIMATES AND ASSUMPTIONS CONTINUED
 Judgements
  In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies, management has made the following judgements which 

have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

i) Business combination versus asset acquisition
  The directors consider various factors to determine whether a property acquisition constitutes the acquisition of a 

business as defined in IFRS 3 or an acquisition of property. A business is defined as an integrated set of activities 
and assets capable of being conducted and managed to provide returns in the form of dividends, lower cost or other 
economic benefits directly to investors or other owners. A business consists of inputs and processes, which when 
applied together create outputs.

  Inputs are determined to be the properties or tenants as these are “an economic resource that creates, or has the 
ability to create, outputs”.

  Processes include (but are not limited) to lease management, selection of tenants, marketing decisions, investment 
decisions, billing and collection of rent as these represent “any system, standard, protocol, convention or rule that 
when applied to the input creates or has the ability to create outputs”.

  Properties are typically bought independent of processes or business operations. As such these would be determined 
to be an acquisition of property, as opposed to a business as defined and would thus be accounted for in terms of 
IAS 40, Investment Property. Where the directors have acquired the associated business processes along with the 
inputs such as property, these are accounted for in terms of IFRS 3, Business Combinations.

ii) Joint venture
  The group recognises an investment in a joint venture when there is a contractually agreed sharing of control.

  The group holds a 45.02% interest in LMP Retail Warehouse JV Property Unit Trust. The unit trust’s activities are 
directed by means of contractual arrangements, which govern (inter alia) the appointment of trustees and a manager 
to the unit trust. These appointments take place via a voting mechanism that implicitly requires agreement from 
both unitholders; decisions about the unit trust’s relevant activities cannot be made without both parties agreeing. 
Furthermore, the group holds a 50% interest in the unit trust’s manager. There is therefore a contractually agreed 
sharing of control, and the investment has been classified as joint venture.

iii) Determination of functional currency
  The primary objective of the Group is to generate returns and capital growth in Pound Sterling (“GBP”) for the benefit 

of its shareholders. The assets and liabilities of the Group and the cash flows are predominantly GBP denominated and 
GBP is the currency of the primary economic environment in which the Group operates. The Group’s performance is 
evaluated in GBP. Management, therefore considers GBP as the currency that most faithfully represents the economic 
effect of the underlying transactions, events and conditions.

 Estimates and assumptions
  The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date, that 

have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are discussed below.

i) Fair value of financial instruments
  Refer to note 25 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing assets and liabilities.

ii) Fair value of investment properties
  Refer to note 4 for information on valuation techniques and inputs used in valuing investment properties.

iii) Taxes
  The subsidiaries are subject to income taxes in numerous jurisdictions. Significant judgement is required in determining 

the worldwide provision for income taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate tax 
determination is uncertain. The subsidiaries recognise liabilities for anticipated tax audit issues based on estimates of 
whether additional taxes will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the amounts that 
were initially recorded, such differences will impact the current and deferred income tax assets and liabilities in the 
period in which such determination is made.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.2 BUSINESS COMBINATIONS 
 Subsidiaries
   Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has control. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated from the date on 

which control is transferred to the Group. Control is assumed when the Group:

• has the power over the investee;
• is exposed, or has rights, to the variable returns;
• has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.

  The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration transferred for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary is accounted for at fair value. Identifiable assets acquired, liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date.

  The excess of the consideration transferred at the acquisition date over the fair value of the identifiable net asset 
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the total consideration transferred is less than the fair value of the net assets 
of the subsidiary acquired, the difference is regarded as a bargain purchase and is recognised directly in the income 
statement. Non-controlling interests are measured at acquisition date at either fair value or at the non-controlling 
interests share of identifiable net assets. The choice of measurement basis is on a transaction by transaction basis 
as determined by the directors.

  Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

  All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income and expenses and cash flows relating to transactions between 
members of the group are eliminated on consolidation.

  Consolidation of a subsidiary begins on the acquisition date, when the entity has control over the subsidiary, and 
ceases when the Company loses control over the entity. Income and expenses of the acquired subsidiary are included 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income from the date of control till the date 
when the control ceases. These are attributable to both the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling 
interests.

  Changes in the Group’s ownership interest in subsidiaries that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions. Where the group loses control, an amount shall be included in profit or loss as calculated for 
the difference in aggregate fair value of consideration and the previous carrying amount of any assets, liabilities and 
non-controlling interests as well as any goodwill. Any amounts recognised previously in other comprehensive income 
should be accounted as if there was a direct disposal, and thus reclassified to profit and loss when permitted.

 Joint ventures
  Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

  Under the equity method, an investment in a joint venture is initially recognised at cost, which includes transaction 
costs and adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group’ share of profit and loss and other comprehensive income of the 
joint venture in accordance with the Group’s accounting policies and is separately presented in the statement of profit 
or loss and other comprehensive income.

  Dividend income from the investment will reduce the carrying amount.

3.3 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
  Property that is held for long-term rental yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the 

companies in the Group, is classified as investment property.

  Investment property is measured initially at its cost, including related transaction costs. Refer to note 4. After initial 
recognition, investment property is carried at fair value.

  Changes in fair values are recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Investment properties are derecognised when 
they have been disposed. Gains or losses arising on disposal of the investment property are recognised in profit and 
loss, measured as the difference between disposal proceeds and the carrying amount.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.4 INVESTMENT IN SUBSIDIARIES
  In the Company’s separate annual financial statements, investments in subsidiaries are carried at fair value through 

profit or loss.

 Loans forming part of investments in subsidiaries
  Loans forming part of the investment in subsidiaries are loans provided by the Company to its subsidiaries on 

terms which are interest-free with no current or foreseeable intention to recall the loan. The loan investments 
are recognised as the difference between the loan amount and the fair value of the loan on initial recognition and 
represents an additional equity investment by the Company in its subsidiaries. In the case of the loan investments, 
the aforementioned difference represents 100% of the loan amount since the fair value of the loan itself is zero, 
resulting in the difference being recognised as part of the investment.

3.5 LEASES
  The Group is party to numerous leasing contracts as lessor of property. A lease is classified as an operating lease if it 

does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease is classified as a finance lease 
if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. All of the Group’s leases are operating 
leases.

  Contractual rental income relating to investment properties held directly by the Group is recognised on a straight-line 
basis over the period from acquisition date of such investment property to the end of the relevant lease term. In doing 
so, only the contractual rental income due to the Group (as a result of the direct acquisition of the investment property 
and the simultaneous cession of the lease agreements to the acquirer) in terms of the lease agreement is smoothed 
in the Group’s income statement. Operating lease assets/liabilities acquired by virtue of a business combination are 
recognised at initial recognition. The adjustment does not affect vested income. Where leases are terminated the lease 
cancellation amount is recognised immediately as revenue.

3.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
   Financial instruments are recognised in the statement of financial position when the Group becomes party to the 

contractual provisions of the instrument. The Group determines the classification of its financial instruments at initial 
recognition.

• Financial instruments classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value and transaction 
costs incurred are immediately expensed in profit or loss.

• Financial instruments not classified as fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at fair value plus any 
directly attributable transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective interest 
rate method, less accumulated impairments.

 Financial assets
  The Group’s financial assets are classified into the following categories:

• financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss and
• loans and receivables

  The Group’s financial assets are classified as follows:

• Listed investments are classified at fair value through profit or loss. The Group invests in listed shares with a view 
to profiting from their total return in the form of dividends and fair value;

• Loans receivable are classified as loans and receivables;
• Trade and other receivables are classified as loans and receivables;
• Cash and cash equivalents includes cash in hand, deposits held at call with banks, other short term highly 

liquid investments with original maturities of three months or less are classified as loans and receivables; and
• Deposits paid that represent a contractual right to cash are classified as loans and receivables. Deposits paid that 

do not represent a contractual right to cash are presented separately from financial instruments.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.6 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED
 Financial assets continued
  Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period (other than financial 

assets at fair value through profit or loss). Financial assets are considered to be impaired where there is objective 
evidence of impairment. Evidence of impairment will include where a debtor has consistent delay in amounts due. 
A debtor will be written off when amounts due are older than 90 days.

 Financial liabilities
  Financial liabilities are classified as either financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss (held-for-trading) or other 

liabilities at amortised cost. The classification depends on the nature and purpose of the financial liabilities.

  The Group’s financial liabilities are classified as follows:

• Interest bearing borrowings are classified as other financial liabilities;
• Derivatives comprising interest rate swaps are held-for-trading financial instruments measured at fair value through 

profit or loss. The Group applies hedge accounting in accordance with IAS 39; and
• Trade and other payables are classified as other financial liabilities.

 Hedge accounting
  The Group designates interest rate swap agreements as cash flow hedges.

  Note 8 sets out the details of the fair values of the derivative instruments used for hedging purposes.

  The effective portion of changes in the fair value of interest rate swap agreements that are designated and qualify as 
cash flows hedges is recognised in other comprehensive income. The gain or loss relating to the ineffective portion 
(if any) is recognised immediately in profit or loss.

  Amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity are reclassified to profit 
or loss in the periods when the related interest payment is recognised in profit and loss.

  Hedge accounting is discontinued when the Group revokes the hedging relationship, the hedging instrument expires 
or is sold, terminated or exercised or no longer qualifies for hedge accounting. Any gain or loss recognised in other 
comprehensive income at that time is accumulated in equity and is recognised when the transaction is ultimately 
recognised in the statement of comprehensive income.

3.7 STATED CAPITAL
  Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are 

recognised as a deduction from equity, net of any tax effects.

3.8 TAXATION
 Current income tax
  Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be recovered 

from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount are those that are 
enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date in the countries where the Company and its subsidiaries 
operate and generate taxable income.

  Current income tax relating to items recognised directly in equity through other comprehensive income is recognised 
in equity and not in the statement of profit or loss.

  The Group periodically evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 
regulations are subject to interpretation and estimate payables where appropriate.

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.8 TAXATION CONTINUED
 Deferred tax
  Deferred tax is provided in full using the liability method on temporary differences arising between the tax bases of 

assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements. Currently enacted tax rates are used to 
determine deferred tax.

3.9 REVENUE RECOGNITION
  Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to the Group and the 

revenue can be reliably measured, regardless of when the payment is being made. Revenue is measured at the fair 
value of the consideration received or receivable.

  The following specific criteria must also be met before revenue is recognised:

 Interest income
  Interest income is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective 

interest rate.

 Management fees
  Management fees are received from subsidiaries and accrued for on a quarterly basis.

 Rental income
  Rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease term. When the Group 

provides incentives to its tenants, the cost of incentives is recognised over the lease term, on a straight-line basis, 
as a reduction of rental income.

 Dividend income
  Dividend income is recognised in the statement of comprehensive income on the date the Group’s or Company’s 

right to receive payment is established, which in the case of quoted securities is usually the ex-dividend date.

3.10 EXPENSE RECOGNITION
  All expenses are accounted for in profit or loss on an accrual basis.

 Property expenses
  Property expenses comprise all direct operating expenses (including repairs and maintenance) arising from investment 

property during the period.

 Interest expense
  Interest expense is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income using the effective 

interest rate.

3.11 FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
  Foreign currency transactions are accounted for at the exchange rates prevailing at the date of the transactions. Gains 

and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies are recognised in profit or loss. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of 
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates as at the dates of the initial transaction.

3.12 DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION
  Dividend distribution to the Group’s shareholders is recognised as a liability in the Group’s financial statements on the 

date of declaration, as well as directly in equity.
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ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.13 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES
 Adoption of new and revised pronouncements
  In the current year, the Group has adopted all new and revised IFRSs as issued by the IASB and the IFRS 

Interpretations Committee that are relevant to its operations and effective for annual reporting periods beginning 
on 1 March 2017. The adoption of these new and revised IFRSs has not resulted in changes to the Group’s 
accounting policies.

  At the date of authorisation of these financial statements for the year ended 28 February 2018, the following IFRSs 
were adopted:

IFRS/IFRIC Title Details

IAS 7
(Amendment)

Statement of Cash Flow The amendments require an entity to provide disclosures that enables the 
users of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising from 
financing activities, including cash and non-cash changes. The amendment 
state that one way to fulfil this new disclosure requirement is to provide a 
reconciliation between opening balances in the statement of financial position 
for liabilities arising from financing.

The Group’s liabilities from financing consists of borrowings as disclosed in 
note 12. A reconciliation has been provided in note 21.2. Apart from this 
additional disclosure, the applications of these amendments have had no 
impact on the Group’s consolidated financial statement.

IAS 12
(Amendment)

Income Tax These amendments clarify how an entity should evaluate whether there will 
be sufficient future taxable profits against which it can utilise deductible 
temporary difference.

The application of these amendments has had no impact in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements.

IFRS 12
(Amendment)

Disclosure of Interest in 
Other Entities

Amendments resulting from the Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2014 – 2016 
Cycle. The amendments require disclosure requirements for interests in other 
entities to be applied to interests that are classified as held-for-sale 
distributions.

The application of this amendment has had no material effect on the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements as none of the interest are classified as 
held-for-sale.

 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted
   The Group has not applied the following new, revised or amended pronouncements that have been issued as they 

are not yet effective for the financial year beginning 1 March 2017 (the list does not include information about new 
requirements that affect interim financial reporting or first-time adopters of IFRS since they are not relevant to the 
Group). The Board anticipates that the new standards, amendments and interpretations will be adopted in the Group’s 
consolidated financial statements when they become effective.

Details of Standard Details Impact

IFRS 9 (Financial 
Instruments)
Effective from 
1 January 2018

New standard that replaces IAS 39. The 
standard incorporates classification and 
measurement requirements that are driven 
by cash flow characteristics and the Group 
business model. Financial instruments are 
classified into one of three classes: 
amortised cost, fair value through profit 
or loss and fair value through other 
comprehensive income. The standard also 
incorporates a forward looking “expected 
loss” impairment model. Hedge accounting 
has been substantially modified and is more 
aligned with risk management activities. 

Overall, the Group expects the adoption of the 
forward-looking expected-loss model to not have a 
significant impact. The Company will continue to 
classify its listed investments and subsidiaries at fair 
value through profit or loss. 

3. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES CONTINUED

3.13 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND DISCLOSURES CONTINUED
 New standards and interpretations not yet adopted continued

Details of Standard Details Impact

IFRS 15 (Revenue 
from Contracts
with Customers)
Effective from  
1 January 2018

New standard that establishes a single, 
comprehensive and robust framework for 
the recognition, measurement and 
disclosure of revenue.

The Group’s main source of revenue is rental income, 
which is outside the scope of IFRS 15. As a result the 
Group does not expect the adoption of this standard to 
have a significant impact.

IFRS 16 (Leases)  
Effective from  
1 January 2019

New standard that introduces a single 
accounting model for lessees, while the 
accounting for lessors is left largely 
unchanged from its predecessor (IAS 17 
Leases). Lessee will be required to 
recognise “Right to use assets”

The adoption of IFRS 16 will result in a negative effect 
on the Group’s Statement of Profit or Loss and Other 
Comprehensive Income. The effect will be lower 
earnings in the initial years and higher earnings 
towards the end of the leases when comparing to the 
current straight lined operating lease expense. It will 
also result in an increase in the Group’s finance lease 
liabilities and a right to use asset will be recognised 
on the Statement of Financial Position. The model 
reflects that, at the start of the lease, the lessee 
obtains the right to use an asset for a period of time 
and has an obligation to pay for that right.

The lease right to use assets are amortised over their 
useful lives in a similar way to other assets such as 
plant, property and equipment. Management has 
performed a preliminary analysis and based on 
assumptions as at 28 February 2018, has determined 
the effect to be in the following ranges given the 
current operating head leases within the portfolio:

• Right to Use Asset: GBP 11 million – GBP 17 million
• Lease Liabilities: GBP 11 million – GBP 17 million 
• Statement of profit or loss and other 

comprehensive income negative effect: GBP 100 
thousand – GBP 300 thousand

The standard allows for two options on adoption, 
namely the retrospective approach or modified 
retrospective approach. The modified retrospective 
approach determines that the adjustment to convert 
to the IFRS 16 standard on the first day the standard 
becomes effective should be accounted for as part of 
equity with no adjustment to the prior year figures. 
On this conversion date, the present value of the 
lease liabilities will be determined at the company’s 
incremental borrowing rate, and thus management 
has not been able to finalise the impact at 
28 February 2018 and provides the above as guidance.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

4. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Investment properties at fair value 319 404 723 303 068 000 – –

Movement for the year

At beginning of the year 303 068 000 195 349 116 – –

Purchase of investment properties (including related 
transaction costs) 12 313 853 120 959 726 – –

Disposal of investment properties – (10 150 000)

Changes in fair value 1 130 136 (4 384 351) – –

Straight-line lease adjustment arising during the year 2 892 734 1 293 509 – –

Balance at end of year 319 404 723 303 068 000 – –

Reconciliation

Investment properties 314 534 918 301 090 929 – –

Straight-line lease adjustments 4 869 805 1 977 071 – –

Balance at end of year 319 404 723 303 068 000 – –

•   On 31 October 2017, a subsidiary purchased the freehold lease of an existing property in Newcastle, tenanted by 
Booker Cash and Carry Limited at a total value of GBP 0.44 million.

•   On 20 December 2017, a subsidiary purchased a new property in Crewe Gates Industrial Gate, tenanted by 
Buffaload Logistics Limited at a total value of GBP 11.9 million.

 VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS
  Independent valuations are carried out by Royal Institution of Chartered Surveyors (“RICS”) regulated external valuers, 

who have recent experience in the location and category of the investment properties being valued and on the basis of 
“Market Value”, in accordance with the current Practice Statements contained within the RICS “Valuation – Professional 
Standards, the 2012 Edition” (the “Red Book”). This is an internationally accepted basis of valuation.

  In accordance with RICS, the Investment Method is used to value properties which are income producing future cash 
flows through the letting of properties. Conventionally, investment value is a product of rent and yield. Each of these 
elements is derived using comparison techniques within the relevant property markets and sectors.

  Discounted cash flow (“DCF”) techniques are also frequently used in the appraisal of investment property and again 
comparison is used to derive values for many of the key inputs in the calculation including not only rent and yield but 
also the growth rate, discount rate, costs and disposal price.

  All valuations are reviewed by management on a quarterly basis, taking into account market forces such as yield 
movement, occupier and investor sentiment, supply and demand as well as other valuation principles to establish 
whether there is likely to be a material change in asset values. The reviews are carried out by management and 
approved by the Board of Directors. An external desktop valuation, in accordance with RICS standards, is carried out at 
least every 12 months. A full Red Book valuation is done on all of the properties every 3 years. Changes to key inputs 
may result in a valuation at year end that differs from the last external valuation.

  All properties generated rental income during the year.

4. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES CONTINUED

 VALUATION ASSUMPTIONS CONTINUED
  All of the investment properties have been pledged to secure the existing borrowings of GBP 150.3 million 

(2017: GBP 156.6 million).

  Refer to the supplementary schedules for details of investment properties and rentals.

  The average forward yield (cap rate) on investment properties at 28 February 2018 is 7.13% (2017: 7.27%).

  The significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement are capitalisation rate and vacancy levels, 
categorised within Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy.

  The effect of a change in capitalisation rate of 50 basis points is detailed in the table below:

Country Category
Valuation 

GBP

Rental 
income 

GBP

Range of
unobservable

inputs 
(cap rates)

Effect of a 
change in 

capitalisation
rate GBP

UK Retail Warehouse 5 810 000 420 800 6.25% – 7.50% 398 954

UK Industrial 238 041 785 16 843 056 6.00% – 11.50% 16 320 185

UK Office 75 552 938 5 671 126 6.25% – 7.75% 4 835 521

319 404 723 22 934 982 21 554 660

  The effect of a change in vacancy level for 2.5% decrease on the current portfolio of investment property is detailed in 
the table below: 

Country Category
Valuation 

GBP

Rental 
income 

GBP Vacancy rate

Effect of a
change in 

vacancy level
GBP

UK Retail Warehouse 5 810 000 420 800 0% 59 000

UK Industrial 238 041 785 16 843 056 4.10% 2 657 050

UK Office 75 552 938 5 671 126 0% 967 750

319 404 723 22 934 982 3 683 800

  The overall current portfolio has a vacancy rate at 28 February 2018 of 3.0% (2017: 0%).

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Future rent receivable

– within one year 22 880 114 22 662 640

– later than one year but within five years 91 520 457 90 650 558

– later than five years 125 231 798 150 181 848

Total 239 632 369 263 495 046

   The Group earns rental income by leasing its investment properties to tenants under non-cancellable operating 
leases. The Group has determined that it retains all the significant risks and rewards of ownership of these 
properties and accounts for contracts as operating leases.
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5. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES CONTINUED

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Balance at the beginning of year 45 988 433 21 323 835 45 988 433 21 323 835

Additions – – 1 315 659 6 912 923

Capitalisation of shareholders loans – – 107 000 000 –

Fair value adjustments – – 16 441 644 17 751 675

Effect on consolidation (45 988 433) (21 323 835) – –

Balance at end of year – – 170 745 736 45 988 433

  During the year, the directors of the Company resolved to capitalise a portion of the loans to investment in subsidiaries.

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Loans to/(from) subsidiaries

ALF Guernsey Limited – – 7 205 920 30 290 712

ALF IOM Limited – – 8 021 365 24 031 158

ALP Guernsey Limited – – 2 161 287 4 922 467

ALP IOM Limited – – 87 441 2 972 421

Austen Limited – – 2 050 097 –

Farringdon Properties Limited – – 5 503 151 7 156 614

Wincar Property Ltd – – 80 555 56 764

Winex Property Ltd – – 193 680 1 143 368

Winpaign Property Ltd – – 129 574 75 125

Wintel Property Ltd – – 225 414 218 384

Winup Property Ltd – – 146 022 141 246

Lexo Limited – – 2 198 618 8 812 256

Trido Limited – – 3 451 681 19 894 678

Hyder Limited – – 774 335 8 782 762

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd – – (1 031 601) 1 553 292

– – 31 197 539 110 051 247

  The loans are interest free, unsecured and with no fixed terms of repayment. Refer to note 27 for further details.

5. INTEREST IN SUBSIDIARIES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Total interest in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries – – 170 745 736 45 988 433

Loans in subsidiaries – – 31 197 539 110 051 247

– – 201 943 275 156 039 680

Name

Country of 
incorporation and
place of business

Percentage holding COMPANY

2018 2017 2018 2017

ALF Guernsey Limited Guernsey 100% 100% 31 353 648 8 271 295

ALP Guernsey Limited Guernsey 100% 100% 6 774 757 2 859 671

ALF IOM Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 30 356 183 1 969 465

ALP IOM Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 2 850 329 1

Austen Limited Isle of Man 100% – 11 273 398 –

Farringdon Properties Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 26 861 048 21 187 874

Wincar Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 900 296 670 531

Winex Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 1 701 511 374 617

Winpaign Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 2 009 566 1 618 510

Wintel Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 331 491 133 623

Winup Property Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 242 196 62 578

Lexo Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 6 176 574 1 576 231

Trido Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 31 230 116 262 478

Hyder Limited Isle of Man 100% 100% 9 038 806 158 041

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd British Virgin Islands 100% 100% 9 645 817 6 843 518

170 745 736 45 988 433

  All the subsidiaries are either directly or indirectly engaged in real estate activities. Refer to note 25 for fair value 
estimation.

 Valuation assumptions for interest in subsidiaries
  The fair value of interest in subsidiaries that are not traded in an active market is determined using various valuation 

techniques. The Group makes assumptions that are based on market conditions existing at the end of each reporting 
period. The adjusted net asset method is used to determine fair value for investments in subsidiary companies. The 
adjusted net asset method determines the fair value of the investment by reference to the fair value of the individual 
assets and liabilities recognised in the subsidiaries’ statements of financial position, excluding the mark-to-market value 
on interest rate swaps, which have been classified as a cash flow hedge. Where applicable to a subsidiary, a premium 
based on the additional value that its properties can attract as a portfolio is included in the fair value of the subsidiaries 
because in many cases market evidence indicates that portfolio sales of properties tend to command a better price 
than individual asset sales. The significant inputs to the adjusted net asset method are the fair values of the individual 
assets and liabilities of the subsidiaries.

  The inputs used to value the investments in the subsidiaries include the investment properties as listed in note 4. 
Refer to note 4 for a sensitivity analysis relating to the investment property values.

  Refer to note 4 for details of the acquisitions during the current year.
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6. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE CONTINUED

  SUMMARY STATEMENT OF THE GROUP’S PROPORTIONATE SHARE OF PROFIT OR LOSS 
AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME:

LMP Retail 
Warehouse 

JV Property 
Unit Trust

Share of
profit in 

joint venture

Rental revenue 3 560 696 1 603 025

Property Operating Expenses (11 359) (5 114)

Management Fees (138 791) (62 484)

Other operating expenditure (48 686) (21 918)

Profit on disposal of investment property 674 595 303 703

Fair value adjustments 647 246 291 390

Finance costs (673 114) (303 036)

Profit before taxation 4 010 587 1 805 566

Taxation – –

Profit for the year 4 010 587 1 805 566

7.  LISTED INVESTMENTS 
 GROUP AND COMPANY
  Listed security investments are categorised as financial assets measured at fair value through profit or loss. 

The fair values of the listed security investments are determined based on quoted prices in active markets. 
The list of investments are provided below:

  The following table indicates the Group and Company’s investment holdings by market value as at year end:

Number of ordinary shares Fair value

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Name of investee Company

Derwent London Plc – 3 300 – 93 060

Hammerson Plc 234 109 17 900 1 046 467 105 342

Klepierre 20 988 1 814 630 677 54 337

Land Securities Group Plc 168 842 9 500 1 565 165 101 270

SEGRO Plc – 43 000 – 212 334

British Land Company Limited 329 678 22 000 2 070 378 135 850

Hansteen Holdings Plc 138 500 – 183 236 –

London Metric Plc 240 445 – 427 271 –

Unibail Rodamco 5 228 – 887 817 –

Wereldhave NV 9 060 – 243 442 –

Tritax big box REIT Plc 71 000 – 99 755 –

7 154 208 702 193

6. INVESTMENT IN JOINT VENTURE
GROUP

Entity name Country incorporated Percentage holding Cost of investment

2018 2017 2018 2017

LMP Retail Warehouse JV
Property Unit Trust Guernsey 45.02% – 25 766 250 –

  On 11 September 2017, a subsidiary acquired 45.02% of the units in LMP Retail Warehouse JV Property Unit Trust 
which currently holds a portfolio of 10 retail warehouse and industrial properties in the United Kingdom leased 
to DFS Trading Limited as well as 50% of the shares in LMP Retail Warehouse JV Management Limited, the 
management business that manages the Portfolio hence providing for a 50:50 deadlock voting arrangement in 
matters relating to the Unit Trust. The Joint venture is directly or indirectly engaged in real estate activities.

  The Group’s maximum exposure to loss from its investment is limited to the carrying amount of the investment which 
is GBP 25 766 250. The Group has no current intentions to provide financial or other support to the entity, including 
intentions to assist the structured entity in obtaining financial support and is not required to absorb losses of the unit 
trust before other parties.

GROUP

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

At beginning of the year – –

Additions 24 794 876 –

Share of profit 1 805 566 –

Distributions received (834 192) –

Balance at end of year 25 766 250 –

 SUMMARY STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
  

LMP Retail 
Warehouse 

JV Property 
Unit Trust

Share of
joint venture

Investment property 98 375 000 44 288 425

Current assets 6 163 695 2 774 895

– Trade and other receivables 109 628 49 355

– Cash and cash equivalents 6 054 067 2 725 540

Total assets 104 538 695 47 063 320

Non-current financial liabilities 47 183 994 21 242 234

Current liabilities 1 111 371 500 339

– Trade and other payables 1 111 371 500 339

Net assets 56 243 330 25 320 747

Capitalised transaction costs 445 503

Total net assets 25 766 250
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8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS CONTINUED

Counterparty Company Fixed basis
Swap 
end date Nominal

Fair value

2017

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited 1.60% 16/10/2020 20 000 000 790 151

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited 1.27% 16/10/2018 10 000 000 151 664

HSBC Trido Limited 0.88% 16/03/2019 15 877 500 203 111

HSBC Trido Limited 0.95% 16/03/2020 14 261 250 153 366

HSBC Lexo Limited 0.88% 16/03/2019 10 987 500 106 132

HSBC SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd 0.71% 29/07/2020 9 918 750 55 332

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.53% 17/01/2019 2 656 056 44 595

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.79% 17/07/2018 2 232 072 59 833

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.54% 22/10/2020 1 478 250 53 023

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.54% 22/10/2020 3 663 750 131 809

Santander Wincar Properties Ltd 2.29% 12/05/2019 1 067 000 42 776

Santander Winex Properties Ltd 2.29% 12/05/2019 2 454 000 98 572

Santander ALP IOM Limited 1.03% 27/11/2020 5 937 500 101 223

1 991 587

Interest accrual (110 638)

1 880 949

  Refer to note 24.1(b) for interest rate risk sensitivity analysis.

   Derivative financial liabilities comprise interest rate swaps and are measured at the present value of future cash 
flows estimated and discounted based on the applicable yield curves derived from quoted interest rates.

9. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Other receivables 3 505 299 1 225 483 3 355 176 1 005 178

– Non-current 150 123 150 123 – –

– Current (Refer to note 27 for further details) 3 355 176 1 075 360 3 355 176 1 005 178

Interest receivable – 10 300 – 10 300

Trade receivables 156 417 156 377 – –

Prepayments 97 598 93 254 21 587 15 918

Value Added Tax 55 743 – – –

Other 95 437 – 4 809 –

3 910 494 1 485 414 3 381 572 1 031 396

  As at 28 February 2018, none of the receivables are past due or have been impaired.

7.  LISTED INVESTMENTS CONTINUED

 GROUP AND COMPANY
Fair value

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Balance at the beginning of year 702 193 672 386

Additions 7 787 184 –

Disposals (925 802) –

Realised fair value on disposal 134 985 –

Fair value adjustments (544 352) 29 807

Balance at end of year 7 154 208 702 193

8. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
  In accordance with the terms of the borrowing arrangements and group policy, the subsidiaries have entered into 

interest rate swap agreements. The interest rate swap agreements are entered into by the borrowing entities to 
convert the borrowings from floating to fixed interest rates and are used to manage the interest rate profile of financial 
liabilities and eliminate future exposure to interest rate fluctuations. It is the Group’s policy that no economic trading in 
derivatives is undertaken.

  The following tables set out the interest rate swap agreements at 28 February 2018 and 28 February 2017.

Counterparty Company Fixed basis
Swap 
end date Nominal

Fair value

2018

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited 1.60% 16/10/2020 20 000 000 291 352

HSBC Farringdon Properties Limited 1.27% 16/10/2018 10 000 000 45 013

HSBC Trido Limited 0.88% 16/03/2019 15 877 500 (9 403)

HSBC Trido Limited 0.95% 16/03/2020 14 261 250 16 788

HSBC Lexo Limited 0.88% 16/03/2019 10 987 500 11 618

HSBC SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd 0.71% 29/07/2020 9 918 750 81 940

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.79% 17/01/2019 2 162 072 22 443

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.53% 17/07/2018 2 574 056 12 123

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.54% 22/10/2020 1 433 250 18 007

Santander ALP Guernsey Limited 1.54% 22/10/2020 3 558 750 44 781

Santander ALP IOM Limited 1.03% 27/11/2020 5 537 500 (6 657)

Santander Wincar Properties Ltd 2.29% 12/05/2019 999 000 18 603

Santander Winex Properties Ltd 2.29% 12/05/2019 2 302 000 42 912

589 520

Interest accrual (93 841)

495 679



95   Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 

INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  

2018

94    Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 
INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

12. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Non-current 131 829 657 149 574 995 – –

Current 21 213 518 7 038 750 2 790 691 –

153 043 175 156 613 745 2 790 691 –

Variable rate loans

Non-current and current

Funder Name of borrower Interest rate
Facility 
end date

GROUP

2018 2017

Santander Bank ALP Guernsey Limited LIBOR + 2.25% 17/01/2019 2 152 134 2 211 298

ALP Guernsey Limited LIBOR + 2.25% 17/07/2018 2 568 137 2 635 101

ALP Guernsey Limited LIBOR + 2.25% 22/10/2020 4 706 152 4 831 924

ALP Guernsey Limited LIBOR + 2.25% 22/10/2020 1 894 752 1 948 998

ALP IOM Limited LIBOR + 2.25% 27/11/2020 5 488 043 5 719 115

Wincar Property Ltd LIBOR +2.45% 29/04/2019 999 000 1 067 000

Winex Property Ltd LIBOR +2.45% 29/04/2019 2 302 000 2 454 000

Winpaign Property Ltd LIBOR +2.45% 29/04/2019 2 187 000 2 359 000

Wintel Property Ltd LIBOR +2.45% 29/04/2019 516 500 550 500

Winup Property Ltd LIBOR +2.45% 29/04/2019 348 000 372 000

HSBC Bank Farringdon Properties Limited LIBOR + 1.95% 16/10/2020 33 945 081 33 966 084

Farringdon Properties Limited LIBOR + 1.90% 16/10/2018 9 869 772 9 832 760

SPCP Group lll LOPD 14, Ltd LIBOR + 1.90% 29/07/2020 13 029 679 12 936 443

Lexo Limited LIBOR +1.65% 16/03/2019 14 620 708 14 591 404

Trido Limited LIBOR +1.60% 16/03/2019 8 294 430 8 268 858

Trido Limited LIBOR + 1.80% 16/03/2020 18 904 353 23 834 033

Trido Limited LIBOR + 1.65% 16/03/2019 12 810 505 12 771 010

AX Markets 
underwritten through  
Interactive  
Brokers LLC Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited 0.93%* N/A 2 790 691 –

137 426 937 140 349 528

  * This is a variable rate

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

10. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS
Bank balances 6 618 455 12 667 614 3 460 976 8 428 604

Broker account – 28 464 – 28 464

6 618 455 12 696 078 3 460 976 8 457 068

11. STATED CAPITAL
GROUP AND COMPANY 

2018
GROUP AND COMPANY  

2017

Issued and fully paid

Number of 
ordinary 

shares
Price per 

share
Net amount
after costs

Number of
ordinary

shares
Price per 

share
Net amount 
after costs

At the beginning of the year 142 671 209 152 772 761 123 407 090 132 854 283

Shares issued by way of 
scrip dividend – – – 451 938 1.08 488 093

Shares issued for cash 
consideration

– Issue 1 46 305 419 1.02 45 694 938 18 788 395 1.07 19 404 696

– Issue 2 – – – 23 786 1.08 25 689

At the end of the year 188 976 628 198 467 699 142 671 209 152 772 761

  Transaction costs recognised as a deduction from equity in the current year amount to GBP 1 305 062 (2017: GBP 698 887).

  The ordinary shares are at no par value and each confers on the holder, one voting right, right to dividend and right to 
an equal share in the distribution of surplus of assets of the Company.

  The unissued shares are under the control of the directors of the Company.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

14. NET INCOME/(LOSS)
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Net income/(loss) is arrived at after taking into account 
the following items:

Directors’ emoluments

– Directors’ fees 88 500 56 278 88 500 56 278

Operating lease charges

Premises 12 459 12 565 12 459 12 565

15.  INVESTMENT INCOME
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Dividend income 107 351 23 643 107 351 23 643

Interest on bank balances 25 446 13 029 24 040 10 750

Interest earned on loan facilities. Refer to note 27. 25 553 160 098 25 553 160 098

158 350 196 770 156 944 194 491

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

16. FAIR VALUE ADJUSTMENTS
Fair value gain on interest in subsidiaries – – 16 441 644 17 751 675 

Fair value adjustments to investment properties 1 130 136 (4 384 351) – –

Fair value gain on investment properties 10 839 932 4 075 625 – –

Fair value loss on investment properties (6 817 062) (7 166 467) – –

Straight line lease adjustments (2 892 734) (1 293 509) – –

Fair value adjustment on interest rate swaps – (163 658) – –

Fair value adjustment on listed investments (544 352) 29 807 (544 352) 29 807

585 784 (4 518 202) 15 897 292 17 781 482

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

17. FINANCE COSTS
Interest on loan facilities 4 030 694 3 785 941 – –

Other interest 11 547 – 11 547 –

Interest on interest rate swaps 817 923 697 413 – –

4 860 164 4 483 354 11 547 –

12. INTEREST-BEARING BORROWINGS CONTINUED

Funder Name of borrower Interest rate
Facility 
end date

GROUP

2018 2017

Fixed rate loans

Non-current and 
current

Aviva Commercial 
Finance Limited Hyder Limited 2.15% 25/11/2021 15 616 238 16 264 217

Total variable and fixed 153 043 175 156 613 745

Funder Name of borrower Interest rate
Facility 
end date

COMPANY

2018 2017

Variable rate loans

Current

AX Markets 
underwritten through 
Interactive 
Brokers LLC Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited 0.93%* N/A 2 790 691 –

  The Group had no undrawn facilities at year end.

  Interest costs may increase or decrease as a result of changes in the interest rates. This has been hedged using 
interest rate swap agreements as per note 8. The weighted average floating rates were at LIBOR plus a margin 
of 2.0% (2017: 1.9%). Refer to note 24.1(b) for details on Group interest rate risk management.

  Transaction costs capitalised to the cost of debt that are amortised over the term of the loan were not incurred 
in the current financial year (2017: GBP 1 008 585).

 BORROWING POWERS
   The borrowing capacity of the Company and its subsidiaries is unlimited in terms of their Memorandum of 

Incorporation.

13. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Accruals 526 762 113 988 85 650 60 806

Rent received in advance 1 532 640 1 838 741 – –

Trade payables 779 815 766 084 490 132 391 572

Value Added Tax 795 365 389 617 – –

Accrued interest 490 314 465 940 – –

Other 48 341 88 627 14 904 –

4 173 237 3 662 997 590 686 452 378
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

18. TAXATION CONTINUED

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

(b) Recognition of tax charge for the year

Balance at beginning of the year 887 088 297 318 – –

Balance arising on business combination – – – –

Tax charge for the year 1 534 067 1 493 306 – –

Tax paid (1 578 691) (903 536) – –

Balance at year end 842 464 887 088 – –

19. EARNINGS AND DILUTED EARNINGS PER SHARE
  The calculation of basic earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2018 is based on the income attributable 

to ordinary equity holders of GBP 16 968 068 (2017: GBP 9 084 511) and the weighted average of 163 223 203 
(2017: 129 548 965) ordinary shares in issue during the year. The Company has no dilutionary instruments in issue.

20. HEADLINE AND ADJUSTED HEADLINE EARNINGS PER SHARE
GROUP

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Profit for the year attributable to owners of the parent 16 968 068 9 084 511

Fair value adjustments to investment properties (1 130 136) 4 384 351

Profit on disposal of investment property – (1 062 312)

Fair value adjustments to properties in joint venture (291 390) –

Profit on disposal of investment properties in joint venture (303 703) –

Headline earnings 15 242 839 12 406 550

Add back:

Fair value adjustments to listed investments 544 352 –

Profit on disposal of investment properties in joint venture 303 703 –

Straight line lease income adjustment* (1 243 529) (1 293 509)

Adjusted for once-off costs:

Fair value loss on cash flow hedges transferred – 163 658

Transaction costs – 365 725

Adjusted headline earnings 14 847 365 11 642 424

Headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence) 9.34 9.58

Adjusted headline and diluted headline earnings per share (GBP pence) 9.10 9.00

* The add back for straight line lease adjustments relate specifically to the contractual rental escalations but excludes straight-line lease 
adjustments on lease incentives such as the rent-free periods.

  Headline earnings per share is disclosed for further information. The calculation of headline earnings per share for the 
year ended 28 February 2018 is based on headline earnings of GBP 15.2 million (2017: GBP 12.4 million) and the 
weighted average of 163 223 203 (2017: 129 548 965) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

  Adjusted headline earnings per share is disclosed for further information. The calculation of adjusted headline 
earnings per share for the year ended 28 February 2018 is based on adjusted headline earnings of GBP 14.8 million 
(2017: GBP 11.6 million) and the weighted average of 163 223 203 (2017: 129 548 965) ordinary shares in issue during 
the year.

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

18. TAXATION
(a) Tax charge

Non-Resident Landlord Tax 1 534 067 1 493 306 – – 

Withholding tax 17 620 3 214 17 620 3 214

Corporate tax – – – –

1 551 687 1 496 520 17 620 3 214

 Corporate taxation
  The Company, being the holder of a Category 1 Global Business Licence, is classified as a tax incentive company and 

under current laws and regulations is liable to pay income tax on its profits, as adjusted for tax purposes, at the rate of 
15%. The Company is however entitled to a tax credit equivalent to the higher of actual foreign tax paid or 80% of the 
Mauritian tax payable in respect of its foreign source income, thus reducing its maximum effective tax rate to 3%. 
Gains or profits from the sale of units of securities by a Company holding a Category 1 Global Business Licence under 
the Financial Services Act 2007 are exempt for tax purposes in Mauritius.

  The Company has tax losses that are available for set off against its future taxable profits as follows:

COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Up to year ended

28 February 2021 140 129 140 129

28 February 2022 249 914 –

390 043 140 129

  This analysis is based on current interpretations and practice and is subject to any future changes in Mauritian tax laws.

 Corporate tax reconciliation
  A numerical reconciliation between the profit before tax for the year and the actual corporate income tax charge is 

shown below:

COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Profit before tax 15 742 187 18 188 535

Tax calculated at the rate of 15% 2 361 328 2 728 280

Income not subject to tax (2 419 482) (2 705 782)

Non-deductible expenses 20 668 43 250

(Utilised)/unutilised tax losses for the year 37 486 (65 748)

Tax charge – –

None of the subsidiaries within the Group are subject to corporate tax. The subsidiaries are subject to Non-Resident 
Landlord Tax at a rate of 20%.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

22. FINANCIAL COMMITMENTS
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Operating lease commitments

Future minimum rent payable as follows:

– within one year 633 215 649 715 – –

– later than one year but within five years 2 532 860 2 598 860 – –

– later than five years 42 303 727 43 508 023 – –

Total 45 469 802 46 756 598 – –

  The financial commitments represent head lease commitments that run for periods in excess of 20 years. Head lease 
commitments exist on 12 of the properties tenanted by Booker Limited. The above commitments will be funded from 
the proceeds of the rental revenue received on the underlying leases.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

Figures in GBP
Loans and

receivables

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss – 
designated Total

GROUP

2018

Financial assets

Listed investments – 7 154 208 7 154 208

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 757 153 – 3 757 153

Cash and cash equivalents 6 618 455 – 6 618 455

10 375 608 7 154 208 17 529 816

Figures in GBP

Financial
liabilities

amortised
cost

Fair value 
through profit 
or loss – held 

for trading Total

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables (excluding rental received in advance and taxes) 1 845 232 – 1 845 232

Interest-bearing borrowings 153 043 175 – 153 043 175

Derivative financial instruments – 589 520 589 520

154 888 407 589 520 155 477 927

21. CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Profit before tax 18 519 755 10 581 031 15 742 187 18 188 535

Adjustments for:

Interest expense 4 860 164 4 483 354 11 547 –

Foreign exchange loss (67 316) (256 986) (67 999) (257 065)

Interest income (50 999) (173 127) (49 593) (170 848)

Dividend income (107 351) (23 643) (107 351) (23 643)

Fair value gain on interest in subsidiaries – – (16 441 644) (17 751 675)

Fair value gain on investment properties (1 130 136) 4 384 351 –

Fair value adjustment to listed investments 544 352 (29 807) 544 352 (29 807)

Fair value adjustment to interest rate swaps – 163 658 – –

Profit on sale of investment property – (1 062 312) – –

Profit on sale of listed investments (134 985) – (134 985) –

Equity accounted profit (1 805 566) – – –

Movements in straight-lining lease balance (2 892 734) (1 293 509) – –

Operating cash flow before working capital changes 17 735 184 16 773 010 (503 486) (44 503)

Working capital changes

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (2 435 298) 841 850 (2 360 477) 875 803

Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables 470 962 (452 305) 123 404 121 974

Cash generated from/(utilised in) 
operating activities 15 770 848 17 162 555 (2 740 559) 953 274

21.1 DIVIDENDS PAID TO SHAREHOLDERS
Dividends declared during the year 14 638 810 10 139 362 14 638 810 10 139 362

Shares issued in lieu of cash dividends – (488 093) – (488 093)

14 638 810 9 651 269 14 638 810 9 651 269

21.2 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
  Below is a reconciliation of the Group’s liabilities arising from financing activities, which includes both cash and 

non-cash charges. Liabilities from financing are those classified or will be classified in the consolidated statement of 
cash flows as cash from financing as per interest bearing borrowing in note 12.

 Interest bearing borrowings

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

At beginning of the year 156 613 745 75 334 265 – –

Net cash flows from financing (4 131 259) 80 786 186 2 790 691 –

Non cash items: amortising costs capitalised 560 689 493 294 – –

Balance at end of year 153 043 175 156 613 745 2 790 691 –
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23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY CONTINUED

Figures in GBP
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss – 
designated Total

COMPANY
2017
Financial assets
Interest in subsidiaries – 156 039 680 156 039 680
Listed investments – 702 193 702 193
Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 1 015 478 – 1 015 478
Cash and cash equivalents 8 457 068 – 8 457 068 

9 472 546 156 741 873 166 214 419

Figures in GBP

Financial
liabilities

amortised
cost

Fair value 
through profit 
or loss – held 

for trading Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables 452 378 – 452 378

   Gains/(losses) from the above categories of financial assets are disclosed as follows:

• Investment income from listed investments is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income;

• Fair value gains/(losses) on derivative financial instruments are shown on the face of the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income;

• Interest income on trade and other receivables and cash and cash equivalents is included in investment income 
and shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income; and

• Profit on disposal of listed investment is shown on the face of the statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.

23. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY CONTINUED

Figures in GBP
Loans and 

receivables

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss – 
designated Total

GROUP
2017
Financial assets

Listed investments – 702 193 702 193

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 1 392 160 – 1 392 160

Cash and cash equivalents 12 696 078 – 12 696 078

14 088 238 702 193 14 790 431

Figures in GBP

Financial
liabilities

amortised
cost

Fair value 
through profit 
or loss – held 

for trading Total

Financial liabilities
Trade and other payables (excluding rental received in advance and taxes) 1 434 639 – 1 434 639
Interest-bearing borrowings 156 613 745 – 156 613 745
Derivative financial instruments – 1 991 587 1 991 587

158 048 384 1 991 587 160 039 971

Figures in GBP
Loans and

receivables

Fair value 
through profit 

or loss – 
designated Total

COMPANY

2018

Financial assets

Interest in subsidiaries – 201 943 275 201 943 275

Listed investments – 7 154 208 7 154 208

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 359 985 – 3 359 985

Cash and cash equivalents 3 460 976 – 3 460 976

6 820 961 209 097 483 215 918 444

Figures in GBP

Financial
liabilities

amortised
cost

Fair value 
through profit 
or loss – held 

for trading Total

Financial liabilities

Trade and other payables 590 686 – 590 686

Interest-bearing borrowings 2 790 691 – 2 790 691

3 381 377 – 3 381 377
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 

24.1 MARKET RISK CONTINUED
 Currency profile
  The currency profile of the Group and the Company’s financial assets and liabilities is summarised as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial assets

GBP 15 703 995 14 695 167 214 092 623 166 119 154

EUR 1 761 936 54 654 1 761 936 54 654

ZAR 63 885 40 610 63 885 40 610

17 529 816 14 790 431 215 918 444 166 214 418

Prepayments amounting to GBP 97 598 (2017: GBP 93 254) are excluded from the financial assets as at 28 February 2018.

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Financial liabilities

GBP 153 551 674 160 032 236 1 455 124 444 643

USD 5 510 5 912 5 510 5 912

EUR 1 885 487 – 1 885 487 –

ZAR 35 256 1 823 35 256 1 823

155 477 927 160 039 971 3 381 377 452 378

  The Group is not exposed to material changes in foreign exchange rates and equity indices.

(b) Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
  The Group’s interest rate risk principally arises from long-term borrowings. Refer to note 12. Borrowings issued at 

variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest rate risk. The Group has no significant exposure to fair value 
interest rate risk.

  The Group’s policy is to fix the interest rate on a portion of its interest bearing borrowings. To manage this, the Group 
enters into interest rate swaps in which the Group agrees to exchange, at specified intervals, the difference between 
fixed and variable rate interest amounts calculated by reference to an agreed upon notional principal amount. At 
28 February 2018, after taking into account the effect of interest rate swaps, nearly 76% (2017: 74%) of the Group’s 
borrowings are at a fixed rate of interest. Trade and other receivables and trade and other payables are interest free and 
with a term of less than one year, so it is assumed that there is no interest rate risk associated with these financial 
assets and liabilities.

  The Group’s interest rate risk is monitored by the Group’s management on a monthly basis. The interest rate risk policy 
is approved annually by the Board of Directors. Management analyses the Group’s interest rate exposure on a dynamic 
basis. Various scenarios are simulated, taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and 
alternative financing sources. Based on these scenarios, the Group calculates the impact on profit and loss of a defined 
interest rate shift. The scenarios are run only for liabilities that represent the major interest-bearing positions.

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
  The Group’s objective in managing risk is the creation and protection of shareholder value. Risk is inherent in the 

Group’s activities, but it is managed through a process of ongoing identification, measurement and monitoring, subject 
to risk limits and other controls. The process of risk management is critical to the Group’s continuing profitability.

  The Board of Directors has set up a separate Risk Committee and Audit Committee to assist the Board in identifying 
and evaluating financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating units to assist in: 

• The safeguarding of the Group’s assets;
• The appropriateness and effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls;
• The quality and integrity of financial reporting and disclosures, and the risks related thereto;
• The Group’s compliance with all applicable legal, regulatory and accounting requirements;
• An assessment of the Group’s service providers; and
• An assessment of the adequacy or otherwise of the insurance cover taken out by the Company and its 

subsidiaries.

  The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas 
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk and investing excess liquidity. These policies are reviewed regularly to 
reflect changes in market conditions and in the Group’s activities.

  Key financial risk management reports are produced quarterly on a Group level and provided to the key management 
personnel in the Group.

 Financial Risk Factors
  The risk management function within the Group is carried out in respect of financial risks. The Group’s activities expose 

it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (which includes currency risk, interest rate risk and price risk), equity price 
risk, credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance.

24.1 MARKET RISK
  Market risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes 

in market prices. The Group’s market risks arise from open positions in:

  (a) foreign currencies, and
  (b) interest-bearing assets and liabilities,

  to the extent that these are exposed to general and specific market movements. Management sets guidelines on the 
exposure to currency and interest rate risk that may be accepted, which are monitored on a monthly basis (see details 
below). However, the use of this approach does not prevent losses outside of these guidelines in the event of more 
significant market movements.

  Sensitivities to market risks included below are based on a change in one factor while holding all other factors 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the factors may be correlated – for example, 
changes in interest rate and changes in foreign currency rates.

(a) Currency risk
  The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign currency risk. The Group’s financial assets and liabilities, 

and those of its underlying subsidiaries are predominantly denominated in GBP which is the Group’s functional 
currency.

  However, within the subsidiaries, there may be a foreign currency risk in the underlying investments as these may 
in some cases derive income in their respective local currencies. Favourable fair value changes to the Group may 
therefore also be dependent on favourable changes to foreign exchange rates in the underlying investments.

  The Group has financial assets and liabilities denominated in Euro (“EUR”) and South African Rand (“ZAR”).
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24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 

24.4 LIQUIDITY RISK
  Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group and the Company may not be able to generate sufficient cash resources to 

settle their obligations in full as they fall due or can only do so on terms that are materially disadvantageous. The Group 
manages liquidity risk through an ongoing review of future commitments, credit facilities and interest rates so as to 
balance the Group’s exposure to interest rate and refinancing risk.

  The Group’s liquidity position is monitored on a daily basis by management and is reviewed quarterly by the Board 
of Directors. A summary table with maturity of financial assets and liabilities presented below is used by key 
management personnel to manage liquidity risks and is derived from managerial reports at Group level. The amounts 
disclosed in the tables below are the contractual undiscounted cash flows. Undiscounted cash flows in respect of 
balances due within 12 months generally equal their carrying amounts in the statement of financial position, as the 
impact of discounting is not significant.

  Refer to credit risk note above with regards to the guarantee payment obligations.

  Management constantly reviews the liquidity risk of the Group which includes the long term repayment profile of the 
bank borrowings. The Group plans to fund these payments in the future by refinancing the debt. Management are in 
constant communication with existing lenders regarding their appetite to continue to provide funding after the 
forecasted repayments dates.

  The maturity analysis of financial instruments as at 28 February 2018 is as follows:

 Summary quantitative data

Figures in GBP
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total

GROUP

2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 618 455 – – 6 618 455

Listed securities 7 154 208 – – 7 154 208

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 757 153 – 150 123 3 907 276

17 529 816 – 150 123 17 679 939

Liabilities

Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future interest payments) 24 831 668 135 667 668 – 160 499 336

Derivative financial instruments (expected future 
interest payments) 1 212 313 – – 1 212 313

Trade and other payables:

– Trade payables 828 156 – – 828 156

– Accruals 1 017 076 – – 1 017 076

Guarantees (Off balance- sheet) 6 140 000 – – 6 140 000

34 029 213 135 667 668 – 169 696 881

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED 

24.1 MARKET RISK CONTINUED
 Interest rate risk sensitivity analysis
  The impact of the change in interest rate (± 50 basis points) on profit before tax is as follows:

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents 69 098 62 687 41 309 62 687

Receivable from APIL 19 181 40 396 19 181 40 396

Borrowings 137 419 232 064 – –

24.2 PRICE RISK
  The Group and the Company are exposed to securities price risk which arises from listed investments held by the 

Group and the Company for which prices in the future are uncertain.

  Where listed investments are denominated in currencies other than the GBP, the price initially expressed in foreign 
currency and then converted into GBP, will also fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

  Management’s best estimate of the effect on the Group’s and the Company’s statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income for the year due to a possible change in security prices, with all variables held constant is 
indicated below.

  If security prices had been 5% higher/lower, the Group’s and the Company’s post tax profit for the year would have 
increased/decreased by approximately GBP 358 000 (2017: GBP 35 100) as a result of changes in fair value of the listed 
investments.

24.3 CREDIT RISK
  Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 

discharge an obligation. Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade receivables, including 
rental receivables from lessees. Credit risk is managed on a Group basis. Such risks are subject to a quarterly or more 
frequent review. The Group has policies in place to ensure that rental contracts are entered into only with lessees with 
an appropriate credit history.

  The credit quality of loans to subsidiaries are assessed with reference to their solvency. Based on the aforementioned, 
the Company is of the opinion that the credit quality of loans to subsidiaries is fair.

  The Company has guaranteed the payment obligations of a loan of GBP 6.1 million by Investec Limited to Atlantic 
Property Investments Limited. The loan is repayable in September 2019. The value of the guarantee is currently valued 
at zero as no payments are expected to be made under the guarantee.

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Maximum exposure to credit risk

Loan to subsidiaries – – 31 197 539 110 051 247

Cash and cash equivalents 6 618 455 12 696 078 3 460 976 8 457 068

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 812 896 1 392 160 3 359 985 1 015 478

Guarantee (Off balance-sheet) 6 140 000 6 550 000 6 140 000 6 550 000

16 571 351 20 638 238 44 158 500 126 073 793
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

24.4 LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINUED

Figures in GBP
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total

2017

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 8 457 068 – – 8 457 068

Listed securities 702 193 – – 702 193

Unlisted securities and loans to subsidiaries – – 156 039 680 156 039 680

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 1 015 478 – – 1 015 478

10 174 739 – 156 039 680 166 214 419

Liabilities

Trade and other payables:

– Trade payables 391 572 – – 391 572

– Accruals 60 806 – – 60 806

452 378 – – 452 378

24.5  CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT
  The gearing ratio is as follows:

GROUP

Figures in GBP 2018 2017

Total borrowings (Note 12) 153 043 175 156 613 745

Less: cash and cash equivalents (Note 10) (6 618 455) (12 696 078)

Net debt 146 424 720 143 917 667

Total investment assets 352 325 181 303 770 193

Loan to value ratio 42% 47%

  In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders 
or return capital to shareholders. To reduce debt, the Group can issue new shares or sell assets.

  The Group strategy is to maintain a loan to value (“LTV”) ratio that ensures the property performance is translated 
into an enhanced return to shareholders, while at the same time ensuring that it will be able to continue as a going 
concern through changing market conditions. The directors are of the opinion that an LTV ratio (excluding cash and 
cash equivalents) of 50%, in respect of secured external borrowings is an appropriate target for the Group, given the 
current market conditions.

  The Group is required to adhere to debt service cover ratios which have been achieved during the year.

24. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT CONTINUED

24.4 LIQUIDITY RISK CONTINUED

Figures in GBP
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total

GROUP

2017

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 12 696 078 – – 12 696 078

Listed securities 702 193 – – 702 193

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 1 242 037 – 150 123 1 392 160

14 640 308 – 150 123 14 790 431

Liabilities

Bank borrowings (inclusive of expected future interest payments) 10 539 502 156 783 201 – 167 322 703

Derivative financial instruments (expected future interest 
payments) 2 419 250 – – 2 419 250

Trade and other payables:

– Trade payables 854 711 – – 854 711

– Accruals 579 928 – – 579 928

Guarantees 6 550 000 – – 6 550 000

20 943 391 156 783 201 – 177 726 592

Figures in GBP
Less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 5 years
Over 

5 years Total

COMPANY

2018

Assets

Cash and cash equivalents 3 460 976 – – 3 460 976

Listed securities 7 154 208 – – 7 154 208

Unlisted securities and loans to subsidiaries – – 201 943 275 201 943 275

Trade and other receivables (excluding prepayments) 3 359 985 – – 3 359 985

13 975 169 – 201 943 275 215 918 444

Liabilities

Interest bearing borrowings 2 790 691 – – 2 790 691

Trade and other payables:

– Trade payables 490 132 – – 490 132

– Accruals 100 554 – – 100 554

3 381 377 – – 3 381 377
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26. SEGMENT REPORT
  The Group is focused on investment properties, which are located in the United Kingdom. Each segment derives its 

revenue from the rental of investment properties.

Figures in GBP Industrial Office
Retail 

Warehouse
Unallocated 

items Total

2018

Statement of profit or loss

Revenue 17 928 916 5 744 680 420 800 – 24 094 396

Equity accounted profit (net of taxation) 509 867 – 1 295 699 – 1 805 566

Profit on disposal of investments – – – 134 9851 134 985

Fair value adjustments 3 259 727 (2 129 591) – (544 352)2 585 784

Interest expense (3 579 160) (1 169 958) (99 499) (11 547)3 (4 860 164)

Income tax (1 223 848) (183 047) (127 172) (17 620)4 (1 551 687)

Adjusted headline earnings 10 285 610 3 895 610 1 364 571 (698 426) 14 847 365

Statement of financial position

Additions to investment property 12 313 853 – – – 12 313 853

Total assets 243 705 456 75 552 938 26 274 245 17 321 4915 362 854 130

Total borrowings 107 243 484 40 856 866 2 152 134 2 790 6916 153 043 175

Figures in GBP Industrial Office
Retail 

Warehouse
Unallocated 

items Total

2017

Statement of profit or loss

Revenue 16 787 127 4 097 374 444 409 – 21 328 910

Profit/(loss) on disposal of investments 1 062 312 – – – 1 062 312

Fair value adjustments (2 279 041) (2 174 968) (94 000) 29 807 (4 518 202)

Interest expense (3 569 778) (792 722) (120 854) – (4 483 354)

Income tax (1 101 926) (362 568) (28 812) (3 214) (1 496 520)

Adjusted headline earnings 9 046 873 2 547 441 236 883 (188 773) 11 642 424

Statement of financial position

Additions to investment property 81 810 332 39 149 394 – – 120 959 726

Total assets 221 514 361 76 111 378 5 810 000 14 515 946 317 951 685

Total borrowings 112 066 212 42 336 235 2 211 298 – 156 613 745

   During the financial year, revenues from a single customer within the industrial segment amounted to GBP 8 699 216 
(2017: GBP 8 632 940).

Reconciliation of unallocated items
Statement of profit or loss
1. Profit on disposal of listed investments.
2. Fair value loss on the listed portfolio.
3. Interest on the interest-bearing debt that 

originated through the broker for the 
purchase of the listed investments.

4. Withholding tax in Atlantic Leaf.

Statement of financial position
5.  The unallocated item under total assets is 

made up as follows:
   (GPB ’000’s)
 Listed investments 7 154
 Loan receivable from APIL 3 355
 Cash and cash equivalents 6 619
 Other receivable 193
   17 321

6. Interest-bearing debt that 
originated through the broker for 
the purchase of the listed 
investments.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

25. FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION
  The table below analyses financial instruments and investment properties carried at fair value, by valuation method. 

The different levels have been defined, based on the inputs used as follows:

  Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities

  Level 2:  Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices)

  Level 3: Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs)

Figures in GBP Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Total 

fair value

GROUP

2018

Assets and liabilities

Investment properties – – 319 404 723 319 404 723

Listed securities 7 154 208 – – 7 154 208

Derivative financial liabilities – (589 520) – (589 520)

2017

Assets and liabilities

Investment properties – – 303 068 000 303 068 000

Listed securities 702 193 – – 702 193

Derivative financial liabilities – (1 991 587) – (1 991 587)

COMPANY

2018

Assets and liabilities

Listed securities 7 154 208 – – 7 154 208

Unlisted Securities – – 201 943 275 201 943 275

2017

Assets and liabilities

Listed securities 702 193 – – 702 193

Unlisted securities – – 156 039 680 156 039 680

 Significant transfers between Levels 1, 2 and 3
  There have been no significant transfers during the year under review. 

 Unobservable inputs
  Unobservable inputs for Level 3 investment properties are disclosed in note 4 and investment in subsidiaries in note 5.
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27. RELATED PARTIES CONTINUED
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Amount due to related party – Martial Eagle Limited 
Balance at beginning of year 383 835 226 283 383 835 226 283

Transaction fees 206 900 469 000 206 900 469 000

Property service fee 1 617 040 1 372 886 1 617 040 1 372 886

Specific expenses 23 415 48 731 23 415 48 731

Payments (1 787 342) (1 733 065) (1 787 342) (1 733 065)

Balance at end of year 443 848 383 835 443 848 383 835

  Per the PSA a property service fee of 0.5% on the gross property assets, amongst others, was payable to Martial 
Eagle Limited. Additionally, Martial Eagle Limited is entitled to transaction fees of 0.5% on the gross asset value, 
capped at GBP 150 000 per transaction, such fees being payable only until the Company’s assets reach GBP 500 million. 
These fees are compensation paid to entities for key management personnel services.

GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Corporate advisor – Leaf Capital Proprietary Limited 
(Leaf Capital)

Advisory fees attributable to Leaf Capital for the year – 870 251 – 870 251

These transactions are conducted at terms equivalent to 
those that prevail in arm’s length transactions.

Professional fees paid to companies relating to 
directors of subsidiaries 171 806 180 297 – –

An amount of GBP 40 628 (2017: GBP 24 255) has been paid as directors fees and GBP 131 178 (2017: GBP 156 042) paid for 
professional fees. None of these payments have been made to directors of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited.
Fees paid relate to management, consulting, technical or other fees paid for such services rendered, directly or indirectly, including 
payments to management companies for acting as directors of subsidiaries.

Directors’ fees

Peter Bacon 20 000 13 500 20 000 13 500

Cleopatra Folkes 17 000 11 000 17 000 11 000

Nicholas Winearls 18 500 11 000 18 500 11 000

Laurence Rapp 14 500 11 000 14 500 11 000

Rudolf Pretorius 18 500 9 778 18 500 9 778

88 500 56 278 88 500 56 278

  Non-executive directors’ remuneration consists of short term employee benefits only.

  More information of directors’ interests has been disclosed on page 45 within the corporate governance report.

28. EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD
(a)  On 23 March 2018, the Group concluded the acquisition of a new property in Deacon Park, Knowsley, tenanted 

mainly by B&M Retail Limited and Serco Limited at a purchase price of GBP 14.9 million. The Company raised 
GBP 14.6 million of bank funding from HSBC Bank UK Plc. The purchase of the property was financed through bank 
funding raised and existing cash resources.

(b)  On 19 April 2018, the Board of Directors declared a dividend of 4.6 pence per share for the six months ended 
28 February 2018.

27. RELATED PARTIES
GROUP COMPANY

Figures in GBP 2018 2017 2018 2017

Relationships:

Subsidiaries: Refer to note 5

Entities with common 
directors:

Atlantic Property 
Investments Limited
Leaf Capital Proprietary 
Limited
Martial Eagle Limited

Directors: Refer to Directors’ Report

Loans receivable from subsidiaries

Balance at beginning of year – – 110 051 247 96 521 197

Loan granted during the year 75 034 102 83 315 907

Loan repayment during the year – – (46 887 810) (69 785 857)

Capitalisation of shareholder loan – – (107 000 000) –

Balance at end of year – – 31 197 539 110 051 247

Refer to note 5 for terms and conditions.

Loan receivable from Atlantic Property 
Investments Limited

Balance at beginning of year – 6 775 883 – 6 775 883

Loan granted during the year – 25 689 – 25 689

Loan repayment during the year – (6 759 419) – (6 759 419)

Interest accrued during the year – 149 798 – 149 798

Interest repayment during the year – (187 395) – (187 395)

Transfer to amount receivable – (4 556) – (4 556)

Balance at end of year – – – –

Amount receivable from Atlantic Property 
Investments Limited

Balance at beginning of year 1 015 478 – 1 015 478 –

Loan granted during the year 2 349 998 1 005 178 2 349 998 1 005 178

Interest accrued during the year 25 553 10 300 25 553 10 300

Interest repayment during the year (50 757) (4 556) (50 757) (4 556)

Transfer from loan receivable – 4 556 – 4 556

Balance at end of year 3 340 272 1 015 478 3 340 272 1 015 478

  Atlantic Property Investments Limited (“APIL”) is an unconsolidated entity wholly-owned by Martial Eagle Limited 
(“Martial Eagle”), the management company. As per the Property Service Agreement (“PSA”), Martial Eagle has a right to 
subscribe for up to 5% of the shares in Atlantic Leaf, which it has done via APIL. The loan to APIL is made to fund the 
acquisition of these shares and is made through a facility agreement and bears interest at the weighted average funding 
rate of the Company for the last year. The Company has issued shares to APIL in respect of each individual loan. As 
collateral security to secure the repayment of each individual loan, APIL has agreed to pledge those shares. Atlantic Leaf’s 
maximum exposure to loss from this arrangement, excluding the effect of collateral obtained, amounts to the carrying 
amount of the loan. This loan carries a guarantee to a third party. Refer to note 24 for details on the guarantee.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED
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SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO
Figures in GBP

Property Location Tenant GLA (sq ft) GLA (sq m) Rental income
Rental income

(£/sq ft)
Rental income

(£/sq m) Value Valuer

Industrial

Leicester East Midlands Giant Booker Limited  55 619 5 167 247 436 4.45 47.89 3 575 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Cowes South West Giant Booker Limited  47 489 4 412 227 455 4.79 51.56 3 520 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Stoke on Trent West Midlands Giant Booker Limited  91 965 8 544 413 580 4.50 48.41 5 965 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Hull York. & the Humber Giant Booker Limited  87 591 8 137 226 627 2.59 27.85 2 980 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Haydock North West Giant Booker Limited  66 097 6 141 325 718 4.93 53.04 4 800 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Barnsley York. & the Humber Giant Booker Limited  86 947 8 078 277 955 3.20 34.41 3 600 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Paignton South West Giant Booker Limited  76 421 7 100 325 231 4.26 45.81 4 735 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Wolverhampton West Midlands Giant Booker Limited  94 035 8 736 380 735 4.05 43.58 5 625 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Bristol Speedwell South West Giant Booker Limited  68 399 6 354 282 472 4.13 44.45 3 860 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Canterbury South East Giant Booker Limited  40 554 3 768 216 233 5.33 57.39 3 300 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Basingstoke South West Booker Limited  28 532 2 651 187 916 6.59 70.88 2 200 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Chelmsford South East Giant Booker Limited  23 916 2 222 110 471 4.62 49.72 1 200 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Chichester South East Booker Limited  48 175 4 476 253 201 5.26 56.57 3 225 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Newcastle North East Giant Booker Limited  45 364 4 214 109 746 2.42 26.04 1 480 000 Savills (UK) Limited & Directors

Portsmouth South West Giant Booker Limited  85 810 7 972 602 919 7.03 75.63 8 150 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Epping South East Giant Booker Limited  95 278 8 852 450 000 4.72 50.84 6 250 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Peterborough East Anglia Giant Booker Limited  85 759 7 967 301 844 3.52 37.89 2 000 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Norwich East Anglia Giant Booker Limited  73 469 6 825 268 818 3.66 39.39 1 975 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Lowestoft East Anglia Giant Booker Limited  54 735 5 085 306 836 5.61 60.34 3 300 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Aldershot South West Giant Booker Limited  61 049 5 672 419 000 6.86 73.87 3 315 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Bristol Avonmouth South West Giant Booker Limited  80 377 7 467 267 538 3.33 35.83 2 585 000 Savills (UK) Limited

York York. & the Humber Booker Limited  77 318 7 183 384 602 4.97 53.54 4 000 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Glasgow Scotland Giant Booker Limited  38 224 3 551 200 883 5.26 56.57 2 170 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Hamilton Scotland Giant Booker Limited  48 856 4 539 267 281 5.47 58.89 2 900 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Oban Scotland Giant Booker Limited  30 292 2 814 124 402 4.11 44.20 1 350 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Kirkaldy Scotland Giant Booker Limited  38 510 3 578 184 756 4.80 51.64 2 000 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Paisley Scotland Giant Booker Limited  21 037 1 954 107 980 5.13 55.25 1 170 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Stirling Scotland Giant Booker Limited  29 747 2 764 220 681 7.42 79.85 2 530 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Aberdeen Scotland Giant Booker Limited  33 261 3 090 155 000 4.66 50.16 1 300 000 Savills (UK) Limited

Perth Scotland Giant Booker Limited  31 248 2 903 162 251 5.19 55.89 1 400 000 Savills (UK) Limited

St Helens North West Robert Mc Bride Ltd  109 556 10 178 526 795 4.81 51.76 7 800 000 Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

Cardiff Wales Specialist Building Products Ltd  48 720 4 526 200 000 4.11 44.19 2 900 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Paignton South West Specialist Building Products Ltd  155 486 14 445 525 000 3.38 36.34 7 105 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Telford East Midlands Specialist Building Products Ltd  34 820 3 235 105 000 3.02 32.46 1 525 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Telford East Midlands Specialist Building Products Ltd  142 485 13 237 450 000 3.16 34.00 6 250 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Upton upon Severn East Midlands Specialist Building Products Ltd  23 629 2 195 76 000 3.22 34.62 1 065 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP
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SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

PROPERTY PORTFOLIO CONTINUED

Figures in GBP

Property Location Tenant GLA (sq ft) GLA (sq m) Rental income
Rental income

(£/sq ft)
Rental income

(£/sq m) Value Valuer

Wetherby York. & the Humber Inspirepac Ltd  155 095 14 409 612 750 3.95 42.53 10 550 000 Directors

Chesterfield East Midlands Inspirepac Ltd  61 432 5 707 248 188 4.04 43.49 4 250 000 Directors

Cannock West Midlands Gestamp Tallent Limited  165 095 15 338 796 956 4.83 51.96 10 940 000 Lambert Smith Hampton Group

Redditch East Midlands Halfords Ltd  361 407 33 576 1 889 441 5.23 56.27 29 660 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

St Helens North West Not tenanted  145 966 13 561 – – – 7 500 000 Directors

Nuneaton West Midlands Booker Limited  90 669 8 423 696 412 7.68 82.68 10 630 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Crewe North West Buffaload Logistics Limited  204 128 18 964 825 079 4.04 43.51 11 876 785 Directors

Runcorn North West DHL Supply Chain Ltd  635 656 59 054 1 827 000 2.87 30.94 29530 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Office

Greenock Scotland EE Ltd  61 740 5 736 725 000 11.74 126.39 10 150 000 Cushman & Wakefield LLP

Coventry West Midlands E.on UK Plc  46 515 4 321 1 071 065 23.03 247.87 13 832 688  Directors

Newcastle North East Santander Cards UK Ltd  102 650 9 536 2 112 257 20.58 221.50 26 370 250 Directors

Peterborough North East Thomas Cook Group UK Ltd, Bauer Consumer Media  177 621 16 502 1 762 804 9.92 106.82 25 200 000 Lambert Smith Hampton Group

Retail Warehouse

Brecon Wales Homebase Ltd  26 300 2 443 420 800 16.00 172.25 5 810 000 Jones Lang LaSalle Limited

All properties are single tenanted apart from Peterborough and there is a vacancy at St Helens.

The supplementary information presented does not form part of the annual financial statements and is unaudited.

All the external valuations occurred in January 2018, apart from Cannock, Crewe, Peterborough and Brecon which  
occurred in November 2017, February 2018, December 2017 and November 2017 respectively.
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SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

PROPERTY SEGMENT ANALYSIS CONTINUED

VACANCIES

Tenants
Area 
(sq ft)

Area 
(sq ft) %

Rental 
(£ p.a.)%

Industrial 145 966 3.6% 4.1%

Total 4 495 044 3.2% 3.0%

LEASE EXPIRY PROFILE BY REVENUE 
(RENT – GBP MILLIONS)
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¢ BOOKER LIMITED
¢ HOMEBASE LTD
¢ ROBERT MCBRIDE LTD
¢ SPECIALIST BUILDING PRODUCTS LTD
¢ INSPIREPAC LTD
¢ GESTAMP TALLENT LIMITED
¢ EE LTD

¢ E.ON UK PLC
¢ HALFORDS LTD
¢ SANTANDER CARDS UK LTD
¢ DHL SUPPLY CHAIN LTD
¢ BUFFALOAD LOGISTICS LIMITED
¢ THOMAS COOK GROUP UK LTD
¢ BAUER CONSUMER MEDIA LTD  

Escalations on the UK portfolio will occur every five years except for Booker Limited and E.ON UK Limited which have an 
increase of 3% on an annual basis. The weighted average rental escalation based on existing leases, by rentable area and 
by sector is less than 1% over all sectors (Retail Warehouse, Office and Industrial).

PROPERTY SEGMENT ANALYSIS
GEOGRAPHICAL

Sector Valuation
Portfolio 

(%)
GLA 

(sq ft) Rental income
Rental income 

(%)
Rental income 

(£/sq ft)

Industrial 238 041 785 74% 4 080 218 16 788 188 73% 4.11

Office 75 552 938 24% 388 526 5 671 126 25% 14.60

Retail Warehouse 5 810 000 2% 26 300 420 800 2% 16.00

Total 319 404 723 100% 4 495 044 22 880 114 100% 34.71

Province
GLA 

(sq ft) Rental income
Rental income 

(%)
Rental income 

(£/sq ft)

North East 325 635 7% 3 984 807 17%

North West 1 161 403 26% 3 504 592 15%

Scotland 332 915 7% 2 148 236 9%

East Midlands 679 392 15% 3 016 065 13%

South West 603 563 13% 2 837 531 12%

West Midlands 488 279 11% 3 358 748 15%

York. & the Humber 406 951 9% 1 501 932 7%

South East 207 923 5% 1 029 905 5%

East Anglia 213 963 5% 877 498 4%

Wales 75 020 2% 620 800 3%

Grand total 4 495 044 100% 22 880 114 100%

SECTOR

Classification
Rental 
(£ p.a.)

Rental income
 (%)

Number of
tenants

Tenants
(%)

A 19 417 297 85% 10 72%

B 2 216 938 10% 2 14%

C 1 245 879 5% 2 14%

22 880 114 14

Classification
Area 
(sq ft)

Area 
(sq ft) %

Number of
tenants

Tenants
(%)

A 3 496 983 78% 10 72%

B 621 667 14% 2 14%

C 230 428 5% 2 14%

Vacant 145 966 3% 0%

4 495 044 14

Grade A:   Large, multinational or national companies with significant local and/or international operating facilities, strong 
financial strength and risk credit ratings

Grade B:  Sizable, national companies with multiple operating facilities, average to good financial strength and risk credit 
ratings

Grade C:  Other to be specified on case by case basis

The above is based on number of facilities, size and guided by D&B credit ratings.

LEASE EXPIRY BY RENTABLE AREA PER SECTOR 
(GLA – SQUARE FEET IN MILLIONS)
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The average annualised property portfolio yield is 7.13%.

SHAREHOLDER TYPE

Shareholder spread
Number 

of holders
% 

of holders
Number of

shares
% 

of shares

Public 472 96.9% 58 771 923 31.10%

Non-public 15 3.1% 130 204 705 68.90%

 Directors and associates 13 2.7% 15 177 694 8.03%

 Material shareholders (>10%) 2 0.4% 115 027 011 60.87%

Total 487 100.0% 188 976 628 100.00%

BENEFICIAL SHAREHOLDERS HOLDING 5% OR MORE OF THE COMPANY’S ISSUED SHARES 
AS AT 28 FEBRUARY 2018
Shareholder name % shareholding

Vukile Property Fund Limited 34.90%

Sentinel Retirement Fund 25.97%

Atlantic Property Investments Limited 5.00%

SUPPLEMENTARY SCHEDULES TO THE  
CONSOLIDATED ANNUAL FINANCIAL STATEMENTS CONTINUED

The following table presents a glossary of terms used throughout this report:

Term Definition

AGM Annual General Meeting

APIL Atlantic Property Investments Limited, a wholly-owned subsidiary of Martial Eagle

Atlantic Leaf Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited (also referred to as “the Company”).

CDS Central Depository and Settlement Company Limited

The Code Code of Corporate Governance for Mauritius, 2004

CSDP Central Securities Depository Participant

EPS Earnings Per Share, calculated as profit for the period attributable to shareholders of Atlantic Leaf 
divided by the weighted average number of shares in issue during the period

GLA Gross Lettable Area, the amount of floor space available for rental in a commercial property

HEPS Headline Earnings Per Share, a measure of an entity’s financial performance, the calculation and 
publication of which is a requirement of JSE-listed companies

IFRS International Financial Reporting Standards

ITL Intercontinental Trust Limited, the Company administrator for Atlantic Leaf in Mauritius

JSE JSE Limited – the Johannesburg Stock Exchange 

King IV King IV Report on Corporate Governance for South Africa 2016

LTV Loan To Value, the ratio of attributable debt to the market value of an investment property

SEM Stock Exchange of Mauritius Limited

WALE Weighted average lease expiry

WALT Weighted Average Lease Term 

GLOSSARY OF TERMS
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Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration Number: 119492 C1/GBL)
ISIN: MU0422N00009
SEM share code: ALPL.N0000
JSE share code: ALP
(“Atlantic Leaf” or the “Company” or “the Group”)

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS
NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN THAT the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of Atlantic Leaf will be held on Monday, 
25 June 2018 at 11h00 Mauritian Time (09h00 South African time) at c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, 
Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, for the purpose of presenting the Company’s audited financial 
statements for the year ended 28 February 2018, together with the reports of the Directors and the independent auditor, 
and transacting the following business:

AS ORDINARY BUSINESS, TO CONSIDER AND, IF DEEMED FIT, RESOLVE THE FOLLOWING:

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS

RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
THAT the audited financial statements of the Company 
and the notes thereto for the year ended 28 February 2018 
(a copy of which is attached hereto) be received and 
adopted.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION 
NUMBERS 2.1 – 2.7:
THAT the following directors, who retire and offer 
themselves for re-election in accordance with section 
12.4.2 of the Company’s Constitution, be re-elected each 
by way of a separate vote:

2.1.  Mr. Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright;
2.2. Mr. Warren Peter Morton;
2.3. Mr. Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls;
2.4. Ms. Cleopatra Liana Folkes;
2.5. Mr. Laurence Gary Rapp; 
2.6. Mr. Pieter Rudolf Pretorius; and
2.7.  Mr. Kesaven Moothoosamy.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:
THAT Mr. Peter Douglas St. John Bacon, who retires and 
offers himself for re-election in accordance with section 
138(6) of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001, be re-elected.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 4:
THAT Mazars, the independent auditor of the Company 
with Mr. Kriti Taukoordass and Mr. Duncan Dollman 
currently being the designated audit partners be re-
appointed until the conclusion of the Company’s next 
Annual General Meeting.

The Audit Committee has assessed and confirmed 
the suitability of Mazars, Mr. Kriti Taukoordass and 
Mr. Duncan Dollman for re-appointment in accordance 
with paragraph 3.84 (h)(iii) of the JSE Listings Requirements.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 5:
THAT the Board of Directors be authorised to determine 
the remuneration of the independent auditor.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 6:
THAT fees to be paid by the Company to the independent 
non-executive directors for their services as directors of 
up to GBP 40 000 per independent non-executive director 
for one year of service or a pro rata share thereof, as 
applicable in the circumstances, be approved.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 7:
THAT the Board be hereby authorised to allot and issue 
up to 100 000 000 additional ordinary shares, at the 
Board’s discretion, subject to the provisions of the 
Mauritian Companies Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules 
and the JSE Listings Requirements, at a target price to be 
decided by the Board at the time the allotment and issue 
is agreed to and in line with Constitution of the Company 
and that such authority granted to the directors shall 
be valid until the next Annual General Meeting of 
shareholders or 15 months from the date hereof, 
whichever is the earlier.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 8:
THAT, subject to the provisions of the Mauritian Companies 
Act 2001, the SEM Listing Rules and the JSE Listings 
Requirements, and pursuant to inter alia the Company’s 
Constitution, the Board of Directors of the Company be 
and are hereby authorised to allot and issue additional 
shares of the Company for cash, until this authority lapses 
which shall be at the next Annual General Meeting or 
15 months from the date hereof, whichever is the 
earliest, and which authority is subject to the restrictions 
set out below:

• the allotment and issue of shares must be made to 
persons qualifying as public shareholders, as defined 
in the JSE Listings Requirements, and not to related 
parties;

• the shares which are the subject of the issue for cash 
must be of a class already in issue or, where this is 
not the case, must be limited to such shares options 
or rights that are convertible into a class of securities 
already in issue; 

• the total aggregate number of shares which may be 
issued for cash in terms of this authority may not 
exceed 28,346,494 shares (being 15% of the issued 
share capital at the date of this notice of annual 
general meeting). Accordingly, any shares issued 
under this authority prior to this authority lapsing 
shall be deducted from the 28,346,494 shares the 
Company is authorised to issue in terms of this 
authority for the purpose of determining the remaining 
number of shares that may be issued in terms of this 
authority; 

• in the event of a sub-division or consolidation of 
shares prior to this authority lapsing, the existing 
authority shall be adjusted accordingly to represent 
the same allocation ratio; and

• the price at which the shares may be issued shall be 
no less than:

 –  A 5% discount to the volume weighted average 
traded price of the Company’s shares traded on 
the JSE Limited, measured over the 30 business 
days prior to the date that the price of the issue 
is agreed between the Company and the party(ies) 
subscribing for the shares; 

 –  After the Company has issued shares for cash 
which represent, on a cumulative basis, within the 
period that this authority is valid, 5% or more of 
the number of shares in issue prior to that issue, 
the Company shall publish an announcement 
containing full details of the issue, including the 
number of shares issued, the average discount 
to the weighted average trade price of the shares 
over the 30 days prior to the date that the issue 
is agreed in writing and an explanation, including 
supporting documentation (if any), of the intended 
use of the funds.

ORDINARY RESOLUTION NUMBER 9:
THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to convert the Company to a UK Real 
Estate Investment Trust (“REIT”).

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 1:
THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised to re-domicile the Company from 
Mauritius to Jersey.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 2:
THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and 
are hereby authorised, by way of a general authority, to 
proceed with a repurchase by the Company of up to 5% 
of its current issued shares, subject to section 19 of the 

Company’s constitution, the SEM Listing Rules, the 
Securities (Purchase of Own Shares) Rules 2008, any 
relevant Mauritian Laws, the JSE Listings Requirements 
or the requirements of any other exchange on which the 
Company is listed and which authority is subject to the 
restrictions set out below:

• Any acquisition of shares shall be implemented 
through the order book of the relevant exchange;

• This general authority shall be valid until the 
Company’s next Annual General Meeting or 15 months 
from the date of passing of this resolution, whichever 
is the earliest;

• The maximum premium at which shares may be 
acquired will be 10% of the weighted average of the 
market value on the JSE over the five business days 
immediately preceding the repurchase of such shares;

• At any point, the Company (or subsidiary) may only 
appoint one agent to effect repurchases on its behalf;

• Repurchases may not take place during a prohibited 
period (as defined in the JSE Listings Requirements) 
unless a repurchase programme is in place (where 
the dates and quantities of shares to be repurchased 
during the prohibited period are fixed) and full details 
have been submitted to the JSE in writing prior to the 
commencement of the prohibited period;

• An announcement will be published as soon as the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries have acquired 
shares constituting, on a cumulative basis, 3% of the 
number of shares in issue prior to the granting of this 
authority, and for each 3% in aggregate of the initial 
number acquired thereafter;

• The board of directors must resolve that the 
repurchase is authorised, the Company and its 
subsidiaries have passed the solvency and liquidity 
test and since that test was performed, there have 
been no material changes in the financial position of 
the Group.

In accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements and 
the SEM Listing Rules, the directors record that, although 
there is no immediate intention to effect a repurchase of 
the shares of the Company, the directors will utilise this 
general authority to repurchase shares as and when 
suitable opportunities present themselves, which may 
require expeditions and immediate action.

The directors undertake that, after considering the 
maximum number of shares that may be repurchased 
and the price at which the repurchases may take place 
pursuant to the general authority, for a period of 
12 months after the date of notice of this Annual 
General Meeting:

• The Company and the Group will, in the ordinary 
course of business, be able to pay its debts;
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• The consolidated assets of the Company and the 
Group fairly valued in accordance with IFRS, will 
exceed the consolidated liabilities of the Company and 
the Group fairly valued in accordance with IFRS; and

• The Company’s and the Group’s share capital, 
reserves and working capital will be adequate for 
ordinary business purposes.

The following additional information, some of which 
may appear elsewhere in the Integrated Annual Report 
(of which this notice forms part), is provided in terms of 
paragraph 11.26 of the JSE Listings Requirements for the 
purpose of this general authority:

• Major beneficial shareholders 
page 120

• Stated capital of the Company 
page 74

An explanatory statement relating to the share repurchase 
and containing the information as required under the  
SEM Listing Rules, the Mauritian Securities (purchase of 
own Shares) Rule 2008, any relevant Mauritian law and 
the JSE Listings Requirements, will be communicated to 
the shareholders of the Company prior to the directors 
commencing a share repurchase should this resolution be 
approved by the Board of Directors of Atlantic Leaf.

SPECIAL RESOLUTION NUMBER 3:
THAT the Board of Directors of the Company be and are 
hereby authorised to, revoke the existing Constitution of 
the Company in its entirety and that a new Constitution 
be adopted to reflect the UK REIT requirements and to 
comply with Jersey Company law.

A copy of the proposed new Constitution is available for 
inspection at the offices of the Company Secretary and 
on the Company’s website, www.atlanticleaf.mu. 

NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 1:
ENDORSEMENT OF REMUNERATION POLICY
THAT in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements 
and the King IV Report on Corporate Governance 
(“King IV Report”), and through a non-binding advisory 
vote, the remuneration policy be and is hereby approved.

A summary of the remuneration policy is disclosed in the 
remuneration report on page 60 of the Company’s 
Integrated Annual Report, and the full remuneration  
policy can be viewed on the Company’s website at  
www.atlanticleaf.mu/investors/corporate-governance/

NON-BINDING RESOLUTION 2:
ENDORSEMENT OF REMUNERATION 
IMPLEMENTATION REPORT
THAT in accordance with the JSE Listings Requirements 
and the King IV Report, and through a non-binding 
advisory vote, the remuneration implementation report be 
and is hereby approved. The remuneration implementation 
report is disclosed in detail in the remuneration report on 
page 60 of the Company’s Integrated Annual Report.

Explanatory note: In terms of the King IV Report, an 
advisory vote should be obtained from shareholders on 
the Company’s Remuneration Policy and Remuneration 
Implementation Report, contained in the Company’s 
Integrated Annual Report for the year ended 28 February 
2018. The vote allows shareholders to express their view 
on the remuneration policy and on the remuneration 
implementation report.

In the event of 25% or more of shareholders voting 
against non-binding resolutions number 1 and/or 2, 
the board of directors is committed to engaging actively 
with dissenting shareholders in this regard, in order to 
ascertain the reasons therefor and to address all 
legitimate and reasonable objections and concerns.

The Directors consider that the passing of Ordinary 
Resolutions 1 to 9, Special Resolutions 1 to 3 and 
non-binding resolutions 1 and 2 are in the best interests 
of the Company and its shareholders as a whole, and 
accordingly recommend that you vote in favour of all 
the resolutions to be proposed at the Annual 
General Meeting. 

Unless otherwise stated, in order for the ordinary 
resolutions to be adopted, the support of more than 50% 
of the total number of votes exercisable by shareholders, 
present in person or by proxy, is required and in order for 
the special resolutions to be adopted, the majority of not 
less than 75% of the votes cast by all shareholders 
entitled to do so, present in person or represented by 
proxy at the Annual General Meeting is required to pass 
such resolution.

In terms of the JSE Listings Requirements, Ordinary 
Resolution 8 will require the support of more than 75% 
of the total votes exercisable by shareholders of the 
Company, present in person or by proxy to pass the 
resolutions.

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED

Key dates and times for the Annual General Meeting 
of Shareholders:

Key events Date

Distribution of Integrated Report and 
Notice of Annual General Meeting

Thursday,  
31 May 2018

Record date to be recorded in the 
register in order to be entitled to vote 
at the Annual General Meeting

Friday, 
15 June 2018

Last day to lodge forms of proxy for 
the Annual General Meeting by 11h00 
Mauritian time (09h00 South African 
time)

Friday, 
22 June 2018

Annual General Meeting at 11h00 
Mauritian time (09h00 South African 
time)

Monday, 
25 June 2018

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS 
HOLDING SHARES IN CERTIFICATED 
FORM OR DEMATERIALISED FORM IN 
“OWN-NAME”
A form of proxy is attached for the convenience of any 
shareholder of the Company holding certificated shares 
who cannot or does not wish to attend the Annual 
General Meeting but who wishes to be represented there 
at. Forms of proxy may also be obtained on request from 
the Company’s registered office. 

Shareholders of the Company holding shares in 
certificated form or dematerialised form in “own-name” 
may elect to:

• attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting; or 
alternatively

• may appoint an individual as a proxy (who need not 
also be a shareholder of the Company) to attend, 
participate in, speak and vote in your stead at the 
Annual General Meeting by completing the attached 
form of proxy and returning it to the addresses below, 
to be received by no later than 11h00 Mauritian time 
(09h00 South African time) on Friday, 22 June 2018: 

For shareholders 
holding shares on 
the Mauritian 
sub-register:

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, 
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene,72201
Mauritius.
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com

For shareholders 
holding shares on 
the South African 
sub-register:

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers, 15 Biermann 
Avenue, Rosebank
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa

Or by post to:
Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
PO Box 61051
Marshalltown
2107

Or email to:
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

Please note that the completed form of proxy must be 
delivered to the addresses above prior to the dates and 
times indicated, before your proxy may exercise any of 
your rights as a shareholder of the Company at the 
Annual General Meeting.

Please note that any shareholder of the Company that 
is a company may authorise any person to act as its 
representative at the Annual General Meeting.

Any shareholder who completes and lodges a form of 
proxy will nevertheless be entitled to attend and vote 
in person at the Annual General Meeting should the 
shareholder subsequently decide to do so.



127   Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 

INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  

2018

126    Atlantic Leaf  
Properties Limited 
INTEGRATED  
ANNUAL REPORT  
2018

INSTRUCTIONS FOR SHAREHOLDERS 
HOLDING SHARES IN CERTIFICATED FORM 
OR DEMATERIALISED FORM NOT HELD IN 
“OWN-NAME”
Please note that if you are the owner of dematerialised 
shares held through a CSDP or a broker (or their nominee) 
and are not registered as an “own-name” dematerialised 
shareholder, then you are not a registered shareholder of 
the Company, but your CSDP or broker (or their nominee) 
would be.

Accordingly, in these circumstances, and subject to the 
mandate between yourself and your CSDP or broker as 
the case may be:

• if you wish to attend the Annual General Meeting, you 
must contact your CSDP or broker, and obtain the 
relevant letter of representation from it; alternatively

• If you are unable to attend the Annual General 
Meeting but wish to be represented at the Annual 
General Meeting, you must contact your CSDP or 
broker, and furnish it with your voting instructions in 
respect of the Annual General Meeting and/or request 
it to appoint a proxy. You must not complete the 
attached form of proxy. The instructions must be 
provided in accordance with the mandate between 
yourself and your CSDP or broker, within the time 
period required by your CSDP or broker.

CSDPs or brokers or their nominees, as the case may be, 
recorded in the Company’s sub-register as holders of 
dematerialised shares should, when authorised in terms 
of their mandate or instructed to do so by the owner on 
behalf of whom they hold dematerialised shares, vote by 
either appointing a duly authorised representative to 
attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting or by 
completing the attached form of proxy in accordance with 
the instructions thereon and return it to the addresses 
below, to be received by no later than 11h00 Mauritian 
time (09h00 South African time) on Friday, 22 June 2018:

For shareholders 
holding shares on 
the Mauritian 
sub-register: 

The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, 
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius
Fax: +230 403 0801
Email: alpl@intercontinentaltrust.com 

For shareholders 
holding shares on 
the South African 
sub-register:

Computershare Investor Services 
Proprietary Limited
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue, Rosebank 
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
Postal address: PO Box 61051, 
Marshalltown, 2107
Email: proxy@computershare.co.za

VOTING AT THE ANNUAL 
GENERAL MEETING
In order to more effectively record the votes and give 
effect to the intentions of shareholders, voting on all 
resolutions will be conducted by way of a poll.

By order of the Board

Intercontinental Trust Ltd
Company Secretary 
Mauritius

31 May 2018

NOTICE OF ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS CONTINUED

REGISTERED OFFICE 
OF THE COMPANY
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
Postal and physical address:
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius

BANKERS
Barclays Bank Mauritius Limited
1st Floor, Barclays House
68-68A Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius
Business registration number: C10068913

First National Bank
RMB Corporate Banking – Cape Town
25th Floor Portside
5 Buitengracht Street
Cape Town, 8001
South Africa
(PO Box 911, Cape Town, 8000)

SOUTH AFRICAN JSE SPONSOR
Java Capital 
6A Sandown Valley Crescent
Sandown, Sandton
Johannesburg, 2196
South Africa
(PO Box 522606, Saxonwold, 2132)

AUDITORS
Mazars Mauritius
(Registration number C14121204)
4th Floor Unicorn Centre
Frère Félix de Valois Street
Port Louis
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

MAURITIAN COMPANY 
ADMINISTRATOR AND 
COMPANY SECRETARY
Intercontinental Trust Limited
Level 3, Alexander House
35 Cybercity, Ebene,72201
Mauritius
(Postal address same as physical address)

TRANSFER SECRETARIES
Computershare Investor Services
Rosebank Towers
15 Biermann Avenue
Rosebank
(PO Box 61051, Marshalltown, 2107)

Intercontinental Secretarial Services Ltd 
Level 3, Alexander House 
35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, 
Mauritius

SEM AUTHORISED REPRESENTATIVE 
AND SPONSOR
Perigeum Capital Ltd
Postal and physical address:
Level 3, Alexander House 
35 Cybercity, Ebene, 72201
Mauritius

COMPANY REGISTRATION
119492 C1/GBL 

CORPORATE INFORMATION 
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FORM OF PROXY

Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
(Incorporated in the Republic of Mauritius)
(Registration Number: 119492 C1/GBL)
ISIN: MU0422N00009
SEM share code: ALPL.N0000
JSE share code: ALP
(“Atlantic Leaf” or the “Company”)

IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING THE USE OF THIS FORM OF PROXY
Shareholders are advised to read the instructions for completing this form of proxy contained in the notice of the Annual General Meeting to which 
this form of proxy is attached, in addition to the notes to this form of proxy.

This form of proxy is intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form and held 
through a Central Securities Depository Participant (“CSDP”) or broker, who have selected “own name” registration (“own–name dematerialised 
shareholders”), at the Annual General Meeting of shareholders of the Company to be held at the Company’s registered office, Level 3, Alexander 
House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, on Monday, 25 June 2018 at 11h00 Mauritian time (09h00 South African time). Additional forms of 
proxy are available from the Company’s registered office.

This form of proxy is not intended for use by shareholders of the Company who hold their shares in certificated form or dematerialised form and who 
have not selected “own name” registration of dematerialised shares. Such shareholders must contact their CSDP or broker timeously if they wish to 
attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting and request that they be issued with the necessary letter of representation to do so, or provide the 
CSDP or broker timeously with their voting instructions should they not wish to attend the Annual General Meeting in order for the CSDP or broker 
to vote in accordance with their instructions at the Annual General Meeting.

This form must be completed in BLOCK LETTERS.
The Company Secretary
Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited
c/o Intercontinental Trust Limited, Level 3, Alexander House 
35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201
Mauritius

Dear Sir/Madam,

I/We  being shareholder(s) of Atlantic Leaf Properties Limited hereby appoint:

1. or failing him/her;

2. or failing him/her;

3. the chairman of the Annual General Meeting

as my/our proxy to vote for me/us at the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on Monday, 25 June 2018 at 11h00 Mauritius time 
(09h00 South African time) at Level 3, Alexander House, 35 Cybercity, Ebene 72201, Mauritius, and at any adjournment of the meeting, which will 
be held for purposes of considering and, if deemed fit, passing, with or without modification, the ordinary resolutions and the special resolutions to 
be proposed thereat as detailed in the notice of Annual General Meeting; and to vote for and/or against such resolutions and/or to abstain from voting 
for and/or against the resolutions in respect of the shares registered in my/our name in accordance with the following instructions:

Resolution For Against Abstain
Ordinary resolution number 1 (To receive and adopt the audited financial statements of the Company 
for the year ended 28 February 2018)

Ordinary resolution number 2.1 (Re-election of Paul Stanbrook Leaf-Wright as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.2 (Re-election of Warren Peter Morton as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.3 (Re-election of Dudley Nicholas Good Winearls as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.4 (Re-election of Cleopatra Liana Folkes as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.5 (Re-election of Mr. Laurence Gary Rapp as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.6 (Re-election of Pieter Rudolf Pretorius as director)

Ordinary resolution number 2.7 (Re-election of Kesaven Moothoosamy as director)

Ordinary resolution number 3 (Re-election of Peter Douglas St. John Bacon as director)

Ordinary resolution number 4 (Re-appointment of independent auditor)

Ordinary resolution number 5 (Authorising directors to determine remuneration of independent auditor)

Ordinary resolution number 6 (Approval of independent non-executive directors’ fees)

Ordinary resolution number 7 (Authorising directors to allot and issue up to 100,000,000 additional ordinary shares)

Ordinary resolution number 8 (Authorising directors to issue shares for cash)

Ordinary resolution number 9 (Authorising directors to convert the Company to a UK REIT)

Special resolution number 1 (Authorising directors to re-domicile the Company from Mauritius to Jersey)
Special resolution number 2 (Authorising Directors to proceed with a repurchase by the Company of up to 5% of 
its current issued shares)
Special resolution number 3 (Authorising directors to revoke the constitution of the Company in its entirety 
and to adopt a new constitution to reflect REIT requirements and to comply with Jersey Company law)

Non-binding resolution 1 (Endorsement of Remuneration Policy)

Non-binding resolution 2 (Endorsement of Remuneration Implementation Report)

Consent in terms of Section 327 of the Mauritian Companies Act 2001
I/we a shareholder of the Company, hereby consents to receive notices, statements, reports, accounts, or any other documents pertaining to the 
Company at the following email address until such authority is revoked:

Email address:  

I/we undertake to advise the Company within 5 days at the below addresses of any change in my/our email address.

This consent may be revoked at any time on the provision of 5 days’ notice in writing to the Company.

Signed this   day of   2018 

Shareholder name: 

Assisted by:

ATLANTIC LEAF PROPERTIES LIMITED
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NOTES:
1. A shareholder entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting is entitled to appoint one or more proxies to 

attend and vote in his/her stead. A proxy need not be a shareholder of the Company. 

2. Notwithstanding the appointment of a proxy by a shareholder who is a natural person, such shareholder may attend the 
Annual General Meeting in person and vote thereat, to the exclusion of the appointed proxy.

3. Any alteration or correction made to this form of proxy must be initialled by the signatory(ies).

4. Such proxy (ies) appointed pursuant to this form of proxy may participate in, speak and vote at the Annual General 
Meeting in the place of that shareholder at the Annual General Meeting. The person whose name stands first on the 
form of proxy and who is present at the meeting will be entitled to act as proxy to the exclusion of those whose names 
follow. If no proxy is named on a lodged form of proxy, the chairperson shall be deemed to be appointed as the proxy.

5. A shareholder or his/her proxy is not obliged to use all the votes exercisable by the shareholder, but the total of the 
votes cast or abstained may not exceed the total of the votes exercisable in respect of the shares held by the 
shareholder. 

6. Documentary evidence appointing a proxy or establishing the authority of a person signing this form of proxy in a 
representative capacity must be attached to this form of proxy, unless previously recorded by the Company or the 
company secretary or waived by the chairperson of the Annual General Meeting.

FORM OF PROXY CONTINUED
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